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AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF NORWOOD INDUSTRIES INC.

Applicant
NOTICE OF APPLICATION
TO THE RESPONDENTS:

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicant. The claim made
by the Applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for on for a hearing (choose one of the following)

] In writing

[ In person

[] By telephone conference
X By video conference

at the following location:

https://ca01web.zoom.us/|/679270637027pwd=c1Z2eFN3NXB1NOXOKOIYSWtCL2ZBZz
09

Meeting ID: 679 2706 3702
Passcode: 007287

On September 12, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., before a judge presiding over the Commercial List
(or on a day to be set by the registrar).

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the
application or to be served with any documents in the application you or an Ontario lawyer acting
for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of
Civil Procedure, serve it on the Applicant’s lawyer or, where the Applicant does not have a lawyer,
serve it on the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your
lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE TO
THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION,
you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the
evidence on the Applicant’s lawyer or, where the Applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on
the Applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office where the application is to be
heard as soon as possible, but at least four days before the hearing.
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IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN YOUR
ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS
APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO
YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Date Issued by

Local Registrar

Address of Superior Court of Justice
court office: 330 University Avenue
Toronto ON M5G 1R7

TO: SERVICE LIST
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APPLICATION
THIS APPLICANTS MAKE AN APPLICATION FOR:

1. An Order substantially in the form attached at Tab 3 of the Application Record (the “Initial
Order”), pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as
amended (the “CCAA”), among other things:

(a) abridging the notice periods and validates service of the application record;

(b) declaring that Norwood Industries Inc. (“Norwood”) is a company to which the
CCAA applies;

(c) appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) as monitor (the “Monitor”) of Norwood;

(d) staying all proceedings, rights, and remedies, against or in respect of Norwood and
its business or property, except as otherwise set forth in the Initial Order, for an
initial ten day period (as may be amended or extended from time to time, the “Stay
Period”),

(e) authorizing Norwood to carry on business in a manner consistent with the

preservation of its business and property;

(f) authorizing Norwood to pay the reasonable expenses incurred by Norwood in

carrying out its business in the ordinary course;

(9) authorizing Norwood to pay all reasonable fees and disbursements of the Monitor,
the Monitor’s legal counsel, and Norwood'’s legal counsel;

(h) granting a charge against Norwood'’s current and future assets, undertakings, and
properties, of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including
all proceeds thereof (the “Property”), for the purposes of securing the payment
and performance of:

(i) the fees and the disbursements of the Monitor, the Monitor’s legal counsel,
and Norwood's legal counsel (the “Administration Charge”), in the
maximum amount of $250,000; and
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(ii) Norwood’s obligations to indemnify Norwood’s director and officers for
liabilities they may occur after the commencement of these proceedings

(the “Director’s Charge”), in the maximum amount of $364,000;

(i) declaring that the Administration Charge and the Director’s Charge, (collectively,
the “Initial Order Charges”) rank in priority to all existing liens, security interests,
encumbrances, or claims, with respect to, concerning, or as and against, all of the

Property;
() setting the date of the Comeback Hearing (as defined below); and,
(k) such further and other relief as counsel may request and this Court may deem just.

2. Norwood intends to return to Court, at a comeback hearing to be scheduled by the Court
prior to the expiry of the Stay Period (the “Comeback Hearing”), to seek an order granting
various amendments to the Initial Order (as so amended, the “Amended and Restated

Initial Order”), including, among other things:
(a) extending the Stay Period until October 31, 2025;

(b) a charge to secure the fees and disbursements of G2 and the CRO (the “CRO
Charge” , the CRO Charge and the Initial Order Charges are collectively referred
to as, the “Charges”);

(c) increasing the quantum of the Administration Charge, and potentially the Director's
Charge, based upon further review by Norwood and the Monitor together with
declaring that the Charges rank in priority to all existing liens, security interests,
encumbrances, or claims, with respect to concerning, or as and against, all of the
Property, and providing for the respective priority of the Charges, as between
them, as follows:

(i) First - Administration Charge;
(ii) Second -Director's Charge; and

(i)  Third - CRO Charge;
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(d) such further and other relief as may be sought by Norwood in connection with the

Comeback Hearing.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE APPLICATION ARE:

Background

3. The Applicant in this case is Norwood.

4. Norwood is a globally recognized designer and manufacturer of portable sawmills and
related products with operations (the “Business”) in Canada and the United States.
Norwood has developed cutting-edge, branded, compact equipment that has broadened
access to timber process for users, ranging from seasoned professionals to enthusiastic
hobbyists.

5. The Business was commenced over 30 years ago in Barrie, Ontario as a small, privately
held undertaking. Since its inception, the Business has grown significantly and become
an industry leader with over 2,500 customers across 123 countries worldwide resulting in

the sale of over 35,000 sawmills.

6. In March, 2022, the Business was acquired by GreyLion Capital, a New York-based
private equity firm.

7. Monroe Capital Management Advisors LLC, as agent for and on behalf of a syndicate of
lenders, provided financing in the initial aggregate principal amount of US$32,345,449.40
together with revolving commitments in the principal amount of CAD $12,500,000.00.

Corporate Structure

8. Norwood is incorporated pursuant to the Business Corporations Act, RSO 1990, ¢ B.16.

9. Norwood Enterprise Inc. (“Norwood US”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Norwood that is

organized pursuant to the laws of the state of Delaware in the United States of America.

Insolvency

10. Due to Norwood’s deteriorating financial condition, Norwood’s liabilities significantly
exceed its assets. Norwood also has insufficient cash to meet its obligations as they

become due.
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11. Norwood’s key assets, including its equipment and accounts receivable, are not liquid and
cannot be easily monetized without significant diminishment of value and disruption to
Norwood and its stakeholders. Further, the value of certain key assets such as future
inventory and accounts receivable are likely to be significantly impaired or have no value

if Norwood is unable to continue as a going concern.

12. If the relief is not granted, Norwood will be unable to meet its obligations as they become

due and will need to immediately cease operations for the detriment of their stakeholders.

Purpose of the CCAA Proceeding

13. After considering the various options available to Norwood, Norwood determined that a

restructuring under the CCAA is in the best interests of Norwood and its stakeholders.

14, Norwood believes that relief under the CCAA is in the best interests of Norwood, its

creditors, and its stakeholders for the following reasons, among others:
(a) Norwood is insolvent and is unable to meet its obligations as they become due;

(b) Norwood requires the protection of the CCAA and the assistance of restructuring
professionals to consummate a going concern asset sale transaction pursuant to
a sale process that Norwood has been conducting for the last several months, with
the assistance of G2 Capital Advisors LLC, an arm’s length advisor retained by

Norwood to assist with this process and operational matters;;

(c) without the protections of the CCAA, Norwood's creditors are likely to take
enforcement steps against Norwood, which will disrupt the operation of the

Business;

(d) the involvement of a Court-appointed monitor under the CCAA will lend stability
and assurance to Norwood's stakeholders, including its suppliers, customers,

lenders, and employees.

Cash Flow Forecast

15.  The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that if the relief sought under the Initial Order is
granted, Norwood will have sufficient liquidity to meet its ordinary course obligations

throughout the Stay of Proceedings.
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CCAA Relief Appropriate

16.  The CCAA filing requirements are met in respect of the Applicant and it is appropriate to
extend CCAA relief to it.

17. It is proposed that KSV will act as the Monitor and KSV has consented to acting in such

capacity.

18. KSV is qualified to act in such capacity under section 11.7 of the CCAA. KSV is not subject
to any of the restrictions set out in section 11.7(2) of the CCAA on who may be appointed
as Monitor.

19. The proposed Administration Charge and Directors’ Charge are reasonable and

appropriate and supported by the proposed Monitor. Secured creditors have received the

application materials.

Other Grounds:

20. In addition, the Applicant relies on:
(a) the provisions of the CCAA, including section 11;

(b) rules 2.03, 3.02, 14.05(2) and 16 of the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O.
1990, Reg. 194, as amended and sections 97 of the Ontario Courts of Justice Act,
R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43 as amended; and,

(c) such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Court may permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of this application:

21. the Affidavit of Rhett Ross sworn September 9, 2025 and the Exhibits thereto;
22.  the Pre-Filing Report of KSV in its capacity as proposed Monitor dated September 9, 2025;

23. the consent of KSV to act as Monitor; and,
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24, such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Court may permit.

September 9, 2025 McCarthy Tétrault LLP
Suite 5300, TD Bank Tower
Toronto Dominion Centre
66 Wellington Street West
Toronto, ON M5K 1E6

Attention: Sean Collins, KC / Saneea Tanvir
LSO#77838T

Tel:  403-260-3531/416-601-8181

Email: scollins@mccarthy.ca /

stanvir@mccarthy.ca

Lawyers for Norwood Industries Inc.
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Applicant
AFFIDAVIT #1 OF RHETT ROSS
(sworn September 9, 2025)
l. INTRODUCTION
1. I, RHETT ROSS, of the City of Fairhope, County of Baldwin, in the State of Alabama,
MAKE OATH AND SAY:
2. | am a Senior Advisor with G2 Capital Advisors LLC (“G2”) and have been duly appointed

as the Chief Restructuring Officer (the “CRO”) of Norwood Industries Inc. (“Norwood”). | have
reviewed the books and records prepared and maintained by Norwood, in the ordinary course of
business, including business and operational information and the most recently available annual
audited and unaudited financial statements. | have personal knowledge of the facts and matters
sworn to in this Affidavit, except where information was received from someone else or some
other source of information identified herein. Where the information contained herein was

received from another source, | believe such information to be true.

Summary of Relief Sought

3. | am authorized to swear this Affidavit in support of an originating application (the “Initial
Application”) to be filed by Norwood concurrently with this Affidavit, seeking an initial order (the
“Initial Order”) under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as
amended (the “CCAA"), granting, among other things, the following relief:

€) abridging the notice periods and validates service of the motion record;

(b) declaring that the CCAA applies to Norwood;



(d)

(@)

-2-

appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) as the monitor (in such capacity, the

“Monitor”) of Norwood in these proceedings;

staying all proceedings, rights, and remedies, against or in respect of Norwood and
its business or property, except as otherwise set forth in the Initial Order, for an
initial ten-day period (as may be amended or extended from time to time, the “Stay
Period”);

authorizing Norwood to carry on business in a manner consistent with the

preservation of its business and property;

authorizing Norwood to pay the reasonable expenses incurred by Norwood in

carrying out its business in the ordinary course;

authorizing Norwood to pay all reasonable fees and disbursements of the
proposed Monitor, the proposed Monitor's legal counsel, and Norwood’s legal

counsel;

granting the following charges against Norwood’s current and future assets,
undertakings, and properties, of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever
situate including all proceeds thereof (the “Property”), for the purposes of securing

the payment and performance of:

(i) the fees and the disbursements of the proposed Monitor, the proposed
Monitor’s legal counsel, and Norwood’s legal counsel (the “Administration

Charge”), in the maximum amount of $250,000; and

(i) Norwood’s obligations to indemnify Norwood’s director and officers for
liabilities they may occur after the commencement of these proceedings

(the “Director’s Charge”), in the maximum amount of $364,000;

declaring that the Administration Charge and the Director’'s Charge, (collectively,
the “Initial Order Charges”) rank in priority to all existing liens, security interests,
encumbrances, or claims, with respect to, concerning, or as and against, all of the

Property;

setting the date of the Comeback Hearing (as defined below); and



-3-

(c) such further and other relief as may be sought by Norwood and granted by this

Honourable Court.

4. In the event that the Initial Order is granted, this Affidavit is also sworn in support of the
relief that Norwood intends to seek at the Comeback Hearing in respect of the Initial Order, to be
heard within ten (10) days of the granting of any Initial Order (the “Comeback Hearing”), seeking
an order granting various amendments to the Initial Order (as so amended, the “Amended and

Restated Initial Order”), including, among other things:
(a) extending the Stay Period, in respect of Norwood, to a date to be determined;

(b) a charge to secure the fees and disbursements of G2 and the CRO (the “CRO
Charge”, the CRO Charge and the Initial Order Charges are collectively referred

to as, the “Charges”);

(c) increasing the quantum of the Administration Charge, and potentially the Director’s
Charge, based upon further review by Norwood and the proposed Monitor together
with declaring that the Charges rank in priority to all existing liens, security
interests, encumbrances, or claims, with respect to concerning, or as and against,
all of the Property, and providing for the respective priority of the Charges, as

between them, as follows:

(i) First - Administration Charge;
(i) Second -Director’s Charge; and
(iii) Third — CRO Charge;

(d) such further and other relief as may be sought by Norwood in connection with the

Comeback Hearing.
Il. BACKGROUND
A. Early Days through to 2022 Acquisition by GreyLion Capital

5. Norwood is a globally recognized designer and manufacturer of portable sawmills and

related products with operations (the “Business”) in Canada and the United States. Norwood has
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developed cutting-edge, branded, compact equipment that has broadened access to timber

processes for users, ranging from seasoned professionals to enthusiastic hobbyists.

6. The Business commenced over 30 years ago in Barrie, Ontario as a small, privately held
undertaking. From inception, the Business grew significantly and became an industry leader with

sales across 123 countries worldwide resulting in over 35,000 fielded sawmills.

7. In November 2021, the Business was acquired by GreyLion Capital, a New York-based

private equity firm.

8. Monroe Capital Management Advisors LLC (“Monroe”), as agent for and on behalf of a
syndicate of lenders, provided financing in the initial aggregate principal amount of
US$32,345,449.40 together with revolving commitments in the principal amount of CAD
$12,500,000.00.

B. Corporate Structure

9. Norwood is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AStar Intermediate Corporation (“AStar”). AStar
is incorporated pursuant to the Ontario Business Corporations Act, RSO 1990, c B.16. A copy of

the Ontario profile report for AStar is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.

10. Norwood is incorporated pursuant to the Ontario Business Corporations Act, RSO 1990,

c B.16. A copy of the Ontario profile report for Norwood is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.

11. Norwood Enterprise Inc. (“Norwood US”) is also a wholly-owned subsidiary of AStar that
is organized pursuant to the laws of the state of Delaware in the United States of America. A copy

of the certificate of incorporation is attached hereto as Exhibit “C”.
C. Norwood’s Operations

12. Norwood is the primary operating company for the Business. Norwood manufactures or
imports the majority of the products sold by it and either ships them direct to customers, to

Norwood US’s distribution facility in Tonawanda, New York or to local distributors worldwide.

13. Norwood’s Canadian operations are conducted from leased premises located in Barrie,

Ontario (the “Barrie Premises”).
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14. Norwood’s operations are supported by approximately 49 employees; 45 of which are
salaried employees and 4 of which are hourly employees. All of these employees are employed

by Norwood and are located in Ontario.

15. None of Norwood’s employees are unionized. Norwood does not have a pension plan.

Norwood’s employees are entitled to standard benefits.

16. In addition to myself, Norwood’s senior management team, all of whom report to me, is

comprised of the following individuals:
(a) Gavin Moncur, CFO;
(b) Steven Elliot, Director of Business Analytics;
(c) Matt Santos, Director of Operations; and
(d) Roland Link, Director of Product Lines;

17. Norwood’s sole director is Mr. Lawrence Hirsch, who was appointed as the sole
independent director of the board of directors in connection with Amendment No. 4 to the Credit

and Guaranty Agreement made as of March 10, 2025.
D. Banking Arrangements
18. Norwood has the following bank accounts:

(a) a Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”) Canadian dollar bank account which is primarily
used for the deposit of Canadian customer cheques, the receipt of customer wire
and EFT payments, the payment of the wages of Canadian employees, the

payment of vendors and the payment of utility and supplier bills;

(b) a RBC USD bank account that is primarily used for the receipt of USD customer
payments, payment of US based vendors and payments and receipt of

intercompany payments;

19. Norwood has corporate credit cards issued by RBC with an approximate outstanding
balance as of September 5, 2025 of $199,752.00.
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. NORWOOD’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

20. A copy of the most recent consolidated audited financial statements of Norwood’'s

immediate parent, AStar Intermediate Corporation (“AStar”) are attached as follows:

(a) consolidated audited financial statements of AStar for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2022, is attached as Exhibit “D”; and

(b) consolidated audited financial statements of AStar for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2023 is attached as Exhibit “E”,

(together, the “AStar Audited FS”).
21. The AStar Audited FS includes Norwood and Norwood US.

22. Norwood also has internally prepared unaudited, consolidated financial statements for
the 7 month period ending July 31, 2025 (the “2025 FS”). The 2025 FS are attached as
Exhibit “F”.

Iv. NORWOOD’S INDEBTEDNESS
A. Secured Liabilities

23. Norwood’s primary secured creditor is Monroe. As at September 4 ,2025, there was
US$20,397,289.29 outstanding on the term facility and C$3,096,664.53 outstanding under the

revolving loan facility. Interest and costs continue to accrue on this amount.

24, The Monroe credit is evidenced by a Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “Original
Monroe Credit Agreement”) dated as of November 1, 2021, as the same has been amended

from time to time under the following amendments:

(a) Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Guaranty Agreement made as of
July 8, 2022;

(b) Amendment No. 2, Limited Waiver, Consent and Joinder No. 1 to Credit

Agreement and Guaranty Agreement made as of May 24, 2023;

(c) Amendment No. 3 and Limited Waiver to Credit and Guaranty Agreement made
as of June 28, 2024 (“Amendment No. 3”);
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Amendment No. 4 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement made as of March 10, 2025
(“Amendment No. 47);

Amendment No. 5 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement made as of April 3, 2025
(“Amendment No. 57);

Amendment No. 6 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement made as of June 25, 2025

(“Amendment No. 6”); and,

Amendment No. 7 to the Credit and Guaranty Agreement made as of September 2,
2025 (“Amendment No. 77),

(collectively, with the Original Monroe Credit Agreement, the “Monroe Credit

Agreement”). Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “G”, to this my Affidavit, is a true

copy of the Monroe Credit Agreement.

25. The obligations under the Monroe Credit Agreement are secured by, inter alia, the

following:

(a)

(e)

Canadian Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, granted
by AStar Canadian Acquisition Corporation, AStar Canadian Intermediate
Corporation, 2832525 Ontario Inc., and Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour

of Monroe;

Canadian Guarantee, made as of November 3, 2021, granted by AStar Canadian
Intermediate Corporation, 2832525 Ontario Inc., and Norwood Industries Inc., to

and in favour of Monroe;

Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, granted by

Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe;

Patent Security Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, granted by Norwood

Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe;

Industrial Design Security Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, granted by

Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe;
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(f) Confirmation and Reaffirmation Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, granted by
AStar Canadian Acquisition Corporation, AStar Canadian Intermediate
Corporation, 2832525 Ontario Inc., and Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour

of Monroe; and,

(9) Trademark Security Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2024, granted by

Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe;

(h) Patent Security Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2024, granted by Norwood

Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe; and,

(i) Industrial Design Security Agreement, dated as of October 16 2024, granted by

Norwood Industries Inc., to and in favour of Monroe,

(collectively, the “Security Agreements”). Attached hereto and marked as Exhibits “H”,
“7, “J7, “K”, “L”, “M”, “N”, “O”, and “P”, respectively, to this my Affidavit, are true

copies of the Security Agreements.

26. The Ontario Personal Property Registry confirms that each of Monroe, RBC and Xerox
have registered security interests in respect of certain of Norwood’s personal property. Attached

as Exhibit “Q” is a search of the Ontario Personal Property Registry for Norwood.
B. Other Secured Liabilities

27. RBC has agreements with Norwood with respect to the operation of Norwood’s bank
accounts in addition to agreements that deal with RBC’s rights relative to the Credit Card

Indebtedness. Further details in this regard will be included prior to the Comeback Hearing.

28. Xerox leases photocopiers to Norwood. The monthly lease payments of approximately
$2,000.00 are current.

C. HST, Payroll Obligations, and Lease Payments
29. Norwood is current in its HST and QST remittances.

30. Norwood is current on its payroll obligations other than wages and source deductions
which accrue in the normal course between bi-weekly pay periods and vacation pay, which is

accrued.
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31. Norwood paid its regularly scheduled lease payment to the landlord of the Barrie Facility

for September 2025 rent and is current with respect to its lease obligations.
D. Unsecured Liabilities

32. As of July 31, 2025, Norwood’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities totalled

approximately $11.7 million. These obligations include:
(a) approximately $6.3 million owing to suppliers and service providers; and

(b) approximately $5.4 million of accrued liabilities, including, vacation pay, accrued

wages, and amounts for services not yet invoiced by vendors.
V. NORWOOD’S FINANCIAL DIFFICULTIES AND NEED FOR CCAA PROTECTION
A. Financial Challenges Facing Norwood

33. Norwood’s present financial difficulties have been precipitated by a combination of

operational and financial challenges.
Post-COVID sales decline

34. After the initial months of the COVID19 pandemic in 2020, people working and spending
more time at home drove unprecedented demand for home improvement products, which fueled

a boom in the portable sawmill market.

35. As the world reopened, consumers gradually reallocated their spending away from home
goods and renovations and back toward services, travel, and other experiences. This shift directly

reduced the sales and top line revenue.
Rising interest rates

36. High inflation, particularly in the timeframe between 2022 and 2023, prompted central
banks to raise interest rates. This directly impacted the construction and renovation market by
increasing borrowing costs, causing homeowners and small builders to delay or cancel projects.
For Norwood's hobbyist market, where projects are often financed or supported by home equity

loans, the increase in interest rates had a negative impact on Norwood.
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Decline in Lumber Prices

37. As demand slowed and supply chains stabilized after the pandemic, lumber prices
declined sharply from their peaks in 2021. For hobbyists, this reduced the financial incentive to
mill their own lumber, making it potentially more convenient or cost-effective to buy from

commercial suppliers.
Decreased profitability

38. In 2021, the surge in consumer demand drove lumber prices to historic highs. As this
demand subsided and supply normalized, prices collapsed from their 2022 peak. The price

volatility and sharp correction negatively impacted Norwood's revenue and profitability.
Shift back to professional builders

39. As economic confidence returned, more complicated renovations were once again
entrusted to professionals rather than being tackled by homeowners themselves. This reduced

the demand for sawmills capable of handling larger and more complex projects.

40. In summary, Norwood's revenue was highly vulnerable to the economic and psychological
normalization that occurred after the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic. The boom in DIY projects
and high lumber prices that defined the era's peak created unsustainable demand that eventually
normalized, leaving Norwood with a shrinking market and a corresponding decrease in revenue

and profitability.
B. Ongoing Liquidity Issues and Interventions by Monroe

41. Since July 2022, Norwood has entered into seven amendments to the Credit Agreement
with Monroe. Starting with Amendment No. 3, the amendments reflect escalating financial

distress and increasing lender interventions, as follows:

(a) Pursuant to Amendment No. 3, Monroe waived multiple covenant breaches,
including Norwood failing to meet leverage ratio requirements for Q3 2023 through
Q1 2024. As a condition of this waiver, Monroe required Norwood to secure a
C$25 million equity injection by August 30, 2024, underscoring Monroe’s concern

about Norwood’s deteriorating liquidity position;
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(b) Pursuant to Amendment No. 4, which followed on Monroe delivering a Notice of
Default and Reservation of Rights on February 13, 2025, Norwood acknowledged
ongoing defaults and introduced governance oversight measures, including the

appointment of an independent director;

(c) Pursuant to Amendment No. 5, Monroe authorized up to C$300,000 in emergency
revolving loans, contingent on approval from G2, which was granted. This short-
term liquidity support was indicative of Norwood'’s inability to meet operational

needs without external funding;

(d) Pursuant to Amendment No. 6, Norwood acknowledged its failure to maintain a
required C$3 million liquidity threshold and its inability to deliver audited financial

statements. Monroe reserved full enforcement rights, including foreclosure; and

(e) Pursuant to Amendment No. 7, Monroe authorized an additional C$300,000
revolving loan, explicitly tied to a forecast prepared by G2. This amendment
reflects Monroe’s requirement that Norwood source a transaction, either through

refinancing, recapitalization, or sale, to resolve its liquidity crisis.

42. Collectively, these amendments demonstrate a clear and sustained pattern of financial
instability, lender-imposed conditions, illiquidity and the need for a court-supervised restructuring

process under the CCAA.
VL. NORWOOD’S BUSINESS PRE-FILING SALES PROCESS

43. In consultation with Monroe, Norwood retained G2 in early 2025 to assist Norwood with
undertaking a review of strategic alternatives available to Norwood in an attempt to right size its

balance sheet and potentially restructure its affairs.

44, G2, headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts, is a full-service, industry-focused
investment banking and restructuring advisory firm established in 2010. The firm specializes in
delivering bespoke financial and operational solutions across a broad spectrum of industries,
including consumer and retail, industrials and manufacturing, technology and business services,

and transportation and logistics

45, G2’s team comprises seasoned professionals, including former C-level executives,

entrepreneurs, and financial advisors, who bring deep transactional experience and sector-
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specific insight to each engagement. Their expertise spans buy-side and sell-side advisory,

capital markets, financial restructuring, and operational revitalization.

46. G2 is committed to long-term value creation and its ability to guide clients through both
growth opportunities and periods of financial distress. G2’s track record includes over 200
mandates in industrials and manufacturing and more than 150 in technology and business

services, underscoring their robust experience.

47. In further consultation with G2 and Monroe, Norwood concluded that it was in the best
interests of Norwood and its stakeholders to pursue a sale of the Business pursuant to a sales

process run by G2 (the “Norwood SISP”).

48. Pursuant to an engagement letter dated May 14, 2025 with McCarthy Tetrault LLP
(“McCarthys”), McCarthys, as legal counsel to Norwood, retained KSV Advisory Inc. (‘KSV
Advisory”), an affiliate of KSV Restructuring Inc., for the purpose of acting as financial advisor
and assisting McCarthys in its representation of Norwood, particularly regarding Norwood’s
strategic options. In this regard, KSV Advisory has been kept apprised by McCarthys and G2 of
the Norwood SISP. KSV Advisory engagement letter includes the following provision: If KSV is
appointed as officer of the court in any formal insolvency proceeding involving the Company, this
Agreement shall terminate immediately prior to the commencement of such proceedings. In that
circumstance, KSV’s duties and obligations will be as set out in the court order appointing it,

and/or by statute, and KSV would from that date forward be acting as an officer of the court.

49. The Norwood SISP entails canvassing a broad mix of financial and strategic buyers with
a goal of maximizing valuation and certainty of closing. The process included recapitalization
options, but those options did not materialize as actionable pathways. Refinancing was deemed
to not be a viable option given the significant amount of debt, lack of leverageable assets, and

continued losses under Norwood’s burdensome cost structure.

50. In summary, G2, with the assistance of Norwood’s management, identified a
comprehensive list of strategic buyers and financial buyers that might be interested in purchasing
the Norwood Business ("Norwood Prospective Purchasers"). The list of Norwood Prospective
Purchasers was created from a combination of G2 known strategic and financial firms that deal
in going concern acquisitions and distressed entity acquisitions, recommendations from Monroe
from its own business dealings, and recommendations from Norwood management regarding

competitors and vendors that might be interested.
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51. G2 also developed a teaser that contained a summary of the opportunity to purchase the

Norwood Business. The teaser was distributed to Norwood Prospective Purchasers.

52. G2 contacted by phone or email 153 Norwood Prospective Purchasers regarding the
opportunity. Of the parties contacted, 32 Norwood Prospective Purchasers executed non-
disclosure agreements and were provided copies of a confidential information memorandum
("Norwood CIM"). The Norwood CIM contained a detailed description of the Norwood Business
and provided an overview of the transaction, Norwood’s Business, sales, the industry in which it
operates, and relevant historical financial information. 22 Norwood Prospective Purchasers were

granted access to the data room.

53. A total of 7 Norwood Potential Purchasers submitted non-binding expressions of interest
("EOIs"). Norwood, in consultation with G2 and Monroe, determined that of the 7 EOls received,
2 Norwood Prospective Purchasers appear capable of transacting on commercial terms
acceptable to Norwood within an acceptable period of time. As at the date of this Affidavit,
Norwood has invited these two parties to provide a final asset purchase agreement from which
Norwood, in consultation with the proposed Monitor, G2, and Monroe will determine whether one
or the other final bids represents a proposed path forward. | will provide an update to the Court

and stakeholders by way of a further Affidavit to be filed in support of the Comeback Hearing.
VI. NORWOOD IS INSOLVENT

54. As described in this affidavit, due to its deteriorating financial condition, Norwood’s
liabilities significantly exceed its assets. Norwood also has insufficient cash to meet its obligations
as they become due. Among other things, as of July 31, 2025 (the date of Norwood’s most
recently prepared internal financial statements), Norwood had negative working capital of

approximately $7.0 million, reflecting its illiquidity.

55. Norwood’s key assets, including its inventory, intellectual property, and its receivables will

realize proceeds in a realization that are but a fraction of the Norwood secured indebtedness.

56. Furthermore, Norwood’s intangible assets and goodwill, which as at July 31, 2025 had a
book value of $125.74 million, does not reflect their realizable value in a liquidation or asset sale
scenario because such assets are not readily transferable or monetizable in a distressed

transaction.
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57. If the relief is not granted, Norwood will be unable to meet its obligations as they become

due and will need to immediately cease operations for the detriment of their stakeholders.
VIIl. CASH FLOW FORECAST

58. With the assistance of the proposed Monitor, Norwood has prepared a cash flow forecast
from September 1, 2025 to November 9, 2025 (the “Cash Flow Forecast”). | understand that the

Cash Flow Forecast will be attached to the Pre-Filing Report of the proposed Monitor.

59. The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that if the relief sought under the Initial Order is
granted, Norwood will have sufficient liquidity to meet its post-filing ordinary course obligations

throughout the Stay of Proceedings.
IX. PROPOSED MONITOR
60. Norwood seeks the appointment of KSV, as the monitor in these proceedings.

61. KSV became involved with Norwood in mid-May 2025, when McCarthy Tétrault LLP

engaged it as its financial advisor to assist it in reviewing strategic alternatives.

62. The professionals of KSV who will have carriage of this matter have acquired knowledge
of Norwood, its business, its financial circumstances and strategic and restructuring efforts to
date. | believe that KSV is capable to assist Norwood with its restructuring efforts in these CCAA
proceedings. KSV is a licensed insolvency trustee, well known to this Honourable Court, and has

not served as the auditor of Norwood.
X. ADMINISTRATION CHARGE

63. It is contemplated that a Court-ordered Administration Charge over the Property of
Norwood will be granted in favour of the proposed Monitor, counsel to the proposed Monitor and
counsel to Norwood to secure the payment of their professional fees and disbursements (incurred
at their standard rates and charges), whether incurred before or after the date of the Initial Order.
The proposed Administration Charge is in the aggregate amount of $250,000. At the Comeback
Hearing, Norwood intends to seek an increase in the Administration Charge to $500,000. The
proposed size of the Administration Charge reflects the illiquidity of Norwood’s business at this
time. All of the beneficiaries of the Administration Charge have contributed, and will continue to

contribute, to Norwood’s restructuring efforts.



-15-

XI. DIRECTOR’S CHARGE

64. The Director and Officers, including the CRO, have expressed their desire for certainty
with respect to mitigating potential personal liability if they continue in their current capacities and
have indicated that their continued service with Norwood is conditional upon the granting of a
charge securing their indemnification by Norwood. The Applicant requires the active and
committed involvement of the Director and Officers (including the CRO) in order to carry on its
business during the CCAA proceedings and to pursue the completion of a transaction under the
SISP, for the benefit of its stakeholders.

65. Norwood is requesting a Court-ordered Director’'s Charge in the amount of $364,000 over
the Property of Norwood to secure the indemnity of the Director and Officers in respect of
obligations and liabilities that they may incur during the initial ten-day period of these CCAA
proceedings in their capacities as director and officers. The amount of the Director’s Charge has
been calculated based on the estimated exposure of the Director and Officers over the initial ten-

day period and has been reviewed with KSV.

66. Norwood’s sole director, myself as Chief Restructuring Officer, and the senior
management members of Norwood (collectively, the “Director and Officers”) have all been
actively involved in the Norwood’s efforts to address its challenging circumstances, including
through overseeing Norwood’s liquidity management efforts, Norwood’s review and exploration
of strategic options in connection with its liquidity and financial challenges, the development and
implementation of the Norwood SISP communications with key stakeholders and the preparation
for and commencement of these CCAA proceedings. Based upon my discussions with the
Director and Officers, | believe that they have been mindful of their duties with respect to their

supervision and guidance of Norwood in advance of these CCAA proceedings.

67. AStar maintains a policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (the “D&O
Insurance”), which provides coverage for claims made against the directors and officers in
connection with their service to Norwood. The D&O Insurance is currently in effect and is expected

to remain in place throughout the proceedings.

68. Notwithstanding the existence of the D&O Insurance, Norwood seeks the granting of the
Director’s Charge in favour of the director and officers of Norwood, including the CRO, as security
for any potential liabilities incurred in their respective capacities during the course of these

proceedings. The Director’'s Charge is intended to provide protection in circumstances where the
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D&O Insurance does not respond to indemnify the directors and officers, whether due to

exclusions, coverage limits, or other limitations.

Xll. COMEBACK HEARING

69. The Comeback Hearing has been scheduled for Friday, September 19, 2025.
Xlll. CONCLUSION

70. I make this Affidavit in support of the application for the Initial Order and, to the extent that
the Initial Order is granted, the Amended and Restated Initial Order pursuant to the CCAA.

SWORN BEFORE ME remotely by A
videoconference on this 9" day of September,
2025 in accordance with O. Reg 431/20, W%’/
Administering Oath or Declaration Remotely.

The affiant was located in the City of Fairhope, Rhett Ross

County of Baldwin, in the State of Alabama,

and the Commissioner was located in the City
of Toronto in the Province of Ontario.

¢

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits
Name: Saneea Tanvir (LSO# 77838T)




This is Exhibit “A” referred to in the
Affidavit #1 of Rhett Ross
sworn before me on September 9, 2025

oy

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits (or as may be)
Saneea Tanvir LSO #: 77838T
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Active Officer(s)
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Date Began August 29, 2024
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PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change March 06, 2025
PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change October 03, 2024
PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change March 07, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

CIA - Notice of Change March 07, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2023 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2022 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2021 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

CIA - Notice of Change January 03, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

CIA - Notice of Change November 03, 2021
PAF: Carly FERRIER

CIA - Initial Return November 03, 2021
PAF: Carly FERRIER

BCA - Articles of Incorporation October 25, 2021

All “PAF” (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 7 of 7



This is Exhibit “B” referred to in the
Affidavit #1 of Rhett Ross
sworn before me on September 9, 2025

oy

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits (or as may be)
Saneea Tanvir LSO #: 77838T



Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Ministry of Public and

Ontario @ Business Service Delivery

Profile Report

NORWOOD INDUSTRIES INC. as of September 03, 2025

Act Business Corporations Act

Type Ontario Business Corporation

Name NORWOOD INDUSTRIES INC.

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN) 1000016601

Governing Jurisdiction Canada - Ontario

Status Active

Date of Amalgamation November 03, 2021

Registered or Head Office Address 199 Bay Street, 5300 Commerce Court West, Toronto,

Ontario, M5L 1B9, Canada

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 1 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Minimum Number of Directors 1
Maximum Number of Directors 10

Active Director(s)

Name LAWRENCE HIRSH

Address for Service 4694 Carlton Dunes Drive, Unit 10, Fernandina, Florida,
32034, United States

Resident Canadian No

Date Began April 03, 2025

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 2 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Active Officer(s)

Name GAVIN MONCUR

Position Chief Financial Officer

Address for Service 35 Reid Drive, Barrie, Ontario, L4N OM4, Canada
Date Began August 29, 2024

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 3 of 8



Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Corporate Name History
Name NORWOOD INDUSTRIES INC.

Effective Date November 03, 2021

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Amalgamating Corporations

Corporation Name ASTAR CANADIAN ACQUISITION CORPORATION
Ontario Corporation Number 1000007506

Corporation Name 2832525 ONTARIO INC.

Ontario Corporation Number 2832525

Corporation Name NORWOOD INDUSTRIES INC.

Ontario Corporation Number 1000015458

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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Transaction Number: APP-A10884195789
Report Generated on September 03, 2025, 12:44

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change April 05, 2025
PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change March 06, 2025
PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change October 03, 2024
PAF: DANIELLE MAALOUF

CIA - Notice of Change March 07, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2023 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2022 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

Annual Return - 2021 February 05, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

CIA - Notice of Change January 03, 2024
PAF: CARLY FERRIER

CIA - Initial Return November 03, 2021
PAF: Carly FERRIER

BCA - Articles of Amalgamation November 03, 2021

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.
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This is Exhibit “C” referred to in the
Affidavit #1 of Rhett Ross
sworn before me on September 9, 2025

P

A Commissioner for taking Affidavits (or as may be)
Saneea Tanvir LSO #: 77838T



Delaware

The First State

I, CHARUNI PATIBANDA-SANCHEZ, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE
STATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED ARE TRUE AND
CORRECT COPIES OF ALL DOCUMENTS ON FILE OF “NORWOOD ENTERPRISE
INC” AS RECEIVED AND FILED IN THIS OFFICE.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN CERTIFIED:

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION, FILED THE EIGHTEENTH DAY OF
NOVEMBER, A.D. 2022, AT 1:33 O CLOCK P.M.

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE AFORESAID
CERTIFICATES ARE THE ONLY CERTIFICATES ON RECORD OF THE

AFORESAID CORPORATION, “NORWOOD ENTERPRISE INC”.

C: K &):mc[u?)

Charuni Patibanda-5anchez, Secretary of State

Authentication: 204643248
Date: 09-03-25

7144621 8100H
SR# 20253865043

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml




State of Delaware
Secretary of State
Division of Corporations

Delivered 01:33 PM 11/18/2022 CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
FILED 01:33 PM 11/18/2022

SR 20224057039 - FileNumber 7144621
OF

NORWOOD ENTERPRISE INC
FIRST: The name of the Corporation is: Norwood Enterprise Inc

SECOND: The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is
251 hittle Falls Drive, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19808. The
name of its registered agent at such address is Corporation Service Company.

THIRD: The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted by the
Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized
under the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have
authority to issue is 1,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share.

The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but
not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders
of a majority of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of
Section 242(b)(2) of the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

FIFTH: The name and mailing address of the sole incorporator are as follows:

NAME MAILING ADDRESS
Kevin Johnson Latham & Watkins LLP
200 Clarendon Street

Boston, Massachusetis 02116

SIXTH: In furtherance of and not in limitation of powers conferred by statute, it is
further provided:

1. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the
direction of the Board of Directors.

2, Election of directors need not be by written ballot.
3. The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the
By-Laws of the Corporation.

SEVENTH: Except to the extent that the General Corporation Law of Delaware
prohibits the elimination or limitation of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary duty, no
director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for
monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any provision
of law imposing such lability. No amendment to or repeal of this provision shall apply to or

US-DOCS\137399702.2



have any effect on the hability or alleged hability of any director of the Corporation for or with
respect to any acts or omissions of such director occuming prior to such amendrent.

EIGHTH: The Corporation shall provide indemnification as follows:

1. Actions, Suits and Proceedings Other than by or in the Right of the Corporation.
The Corporation shall mmdemnify ¢ach person who was or is a party or threatened to be made a
party to any threatened, pending or comptleted action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, eniminal,
administrative or investigative {other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by
reason Of the fact that he or she is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer of the
Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request of the Corporation, as a
director, officer, parmer, emplovee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (including any emplovee benefit
plan) (all such persons being referred 1o hereafier as an YIndemmnitee™), or by reason of any action
alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, againsi all expenses (including attorneys’
fees), judgmenis, fines and amounts paid in setilement actually and reasonably incurred by or on
behalf of Indemnitee in connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal
therefrom, if Indemmitee acted in pood faith and m 2 manner which [ndemnitee reasonabily
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was
unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, seitlement,
convictton or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of ttself, create a
presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee
reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his or her
conduct was unlawful.

2. Actions or Suits by or in the Right of the Corporation. The Corporation shalt
indemnify any Indemnitee who was or is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any
threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the nght of the Corporation to procure a
judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was, or has agreed to become, a
direcior or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request
of the Corporation, as a director, officer, pariner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity
with, another corporation, parmership, joint venture, trust or other enterpnse (including any
employee benefit plan), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such
capacity, against atl expenses (including attomeys’ fees) and, to the extent permitted by law,
amounts paid in setilement actuafly and reasonably incurred by or on behalf of hxlemnitee in
conneciion with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if Indemnitee acted in
good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the
best interests of the Corporation, except that no indemnification shafl be made under the Section
2 in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnites shall have been adjudged to be
liable to the Corporation, unless, and onky ti the extent, that the Court of Chancery of Delaware
shatl determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of such lability but in view of all
the circumstances of ihe case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such
expenses (including attomeys™ fees) which the Court of Chancery of Delaware shall deem

proper.




3. Indemnification for Expenses of Successful Party. Wotwithstanding any other
provisions of this Articke, to the extent that an Indemmnitee has been successful, on the ments or
otherwise, in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections 1 and 2 of this
Article EIGHTH, or in defense of any claim, issue or maiter therein, or on appeal from any such
action, suit or proceeding, Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurted by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection
therewith.

4. Motification and Defense of Claim. As a condition precedent to an Indemnitee’s
right to be indemmified, such Indemmitee must notfy the Corporation in writing as soon as
practicable of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation involving such Indermnitee for which
indemnify will or could be sought. With respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation
of which the Corporation is so nolified, the Corporation wili be entitled to participate therein at
its own expense and/or to assume the defense thereof a1 Ms own expense, with legal counsel
reasonably acceptable to Indemnitee.  After notice from the Corporation to Indemnitee of its
election so to assume such defense, the Corporation shall not be hable to Indemmitee for any
iegal or other expenses subsequently incurred by [ndemnitee in connection with such action, suit,
proceeding or investigation, other than as provided befow in this Section 4. Indemnitee shall
have the right to employ his or her own counsel in connection with such action, suil, proceeding
or invesiigation, but the fees and expenses of such counsel incurred after notice from the
Corporation of its assumption of the defense thereof shall be at the expense of Indemnitee uniess
(i) the employment of counsel by I[ndemnitee has been authorized by the Corporation,
{ii) counsel to Indemmites shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest
Of position on any significant issue between the Corporation and Indemnitee in the conduct of
the defense of such action, suit, proceeding or investigation or (iit) the Corporation shall not in
fact have employed counsel to assume the defense of such action, suit, proceeding or
investigation, in each of which cases the fees and expenses of counsel for Indemnitee shall be at
the expense of the Corporation, except as otherwise expressty provided by this Article. The
Corporation shall not be entitled, without the consent of Indemnitee, to assume the defense of
any claim brought by or in the right of the Corporation or as to which counsel for Indemnitee
shall have reasonably made the conclusion provided for in clanse (ii) above. The Corporation
shall not be required to indemnify Indemnitee under this Aricle EIGHTH for any amounts paid
in settlement of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation effected without its written conseni.
The Corporation shall not settle any achon, suit, proceeding or investigation i any manner
which would impose any penalty or bmitation on Indemnitee without Indemmitee’s written
consent. Neither the Corporation nor Indemnitee witl unreasonably withhold or delay its consent
to any proposed settlement.

5. Advance of Expenses. Subject to the provisions of Section 6 of this Article
EIGHTH, in the event of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation of which the Corporation
receives notice under this Article, any expenses (including attomeys’ fees) incurred by or on
behalf of an Indemnitee in defending an action, suit, proceeding or investigation or any appeal
therefrom shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposttion of such matter;
provided, howevet, that the payment of such expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in
advance of the final disposition of such matter shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking
by or on behalf of [ndemnitee to repay all amounts so advanced in the event that it shatl
ultimately be determined that [ndemnitee is noi entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as
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authorized in this Article; and further provided that no such advancement of expenses shatl be
made under this Article EIGHTH if it is determined (in the manner desceribed in Section 6) that
{i) Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner he or she reaspnably believed o be in, or
not opposed to, the best intergsts of the Corporation, or (ii) with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, Indemnites had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Such
undertaking shafl be accepted without reference to the financial ability of Indemnitee to make
such repayment.

6. Procedure for Indemnificatton. In order to obtain indemnification or
advancement of expenses pursuant to Section 1, 2, 3 or 5 of this Article EIGHTH, an Indemmnitee
shall submit to the Corporation a written request.  Any such advancement of expenses shall be
made promptly, and in any event within 60 days after receipt by the Corporation of the writien
request of Indemnitee, unless (i) the Corperation has assumed the defense pursuant to Section 4
of this Article EIGHTH (and none of the circumstances described in Section 4 of this Article
EIGHTH that would nonetheless entitle the Indemnitee to indemnification for the fees and
expenses of separate counsel have occurred) or (ii) the Corporation determines within such
60-day period that Indemmitee did oot meet the applicable standard of c¢onduct set forth in
Sectipn 1, 2 or 5 of this Article EIGHTH, as the case may be. Any such indemnification, untess
ordered by a court, shatl be made with respect to requests under Section 1 or 2 only as anthorized
tn the specific case upon a determination by the Corporation that the indemnification of
Indemnitee 13 proper because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in
Section 1 or 2, as the case may be. Such determination shall be made in each instance (alby a
majority vote of the directors of the Corporation conststing of persons who are not at that time
parties to the action, suit or proceeding in question (“disinterested directors™), whether or not a
quorum, {b)by a committee of disinterested directors designated by majority vote of
disinterested directors, whether or not a quorum, (c) if there are no disinterested directors, or if
the disinterested direciors so direct, by independent legal counsel (who may, to the extent
permitted by taw, be regular legal counsel to the Corporation) in a written opinion, or (d) by the
stockholders of the Corporation.

T. Remedies. The night to indenmification or advancement of expenses as granted
by this Article shall be enforceable by [ndemnitee in any court of competent jurisdiction.
Meither the failure of the Corporation 10 have made a determination prior to the commencernent
of such action that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because Indemnitee has met
the applicable standard of comluci, nor an actual determination by the Corporation pursuant to
Section 6 of this Anicle EIGHTH that Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of
conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnites has not met the
apphicable standard of conduct. Indemmitee’s expenses {(including attomeys’ fees) reasonably
mcurred in connection with successfully establishing Indemmitee’s right to indemnification, in
whole or in part, in any such proceeding shall also be indemnified by the Corporation.

8. Limitattons. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary im this Article, except as
set forth in Section 7 of this Aricle EIGHTH, the Corporation shall not indemnify an Indemnitee
pursuant to this Article EIGHTH in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by
such Indemnitee unless the initiation thereof was approved by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, the Corporation shall not
indermnnify an Indemmitee to the extent such Indemnitee i1s reimbursed from the proceeds of
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msurance, and in the event the Corporation makes any indemnification payments to an
Indemnitee and such Indemnitee is subsequently reimbursed from the proceeds of insurance,
Indemmiiee shall promptly refund such indemnification payments to the Corporation to the extent
of such insurance reimbursement.

9. Subsequent Amendment. No amendment, termination or repeal of this Article or
of the refevant provisions of the General Corporation Law of Delaware or any other applicable
taws shall affect or diminish in any way the rights of any Indemnitee to indemnification under
the provisions hereof with respect to any action, swit, proceeding or investigation arising out of
or relating to any actions, tansactions or facts occurming prior to the final adoption of such
amendment, termination or repeal.

10.  Other Rights. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by this
Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other nghts to which an [ndemnitee seeking
indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any law (common or
statutory), agreement or vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to
action in Indemnitee’s official capacity and as to action in any other capacity while holding
office for the Corporation, and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be 2 director
or officer, and shall inure to the benefit of the estate, heirs, executors and administrators of
Indemnitee. Nothing contained in this Articke shall be deemed to prohibit, and the Corporation is
specifically authorized to enter into, agreemenis with officers and directors providing
mndemnification rights and procedures different from those set forth in this Article. In addition,
the Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by its Board of Directors, grant
indemnification nghts to other employees or agents of the Corporation or other persons serving
the Corporation and such rights may be equivalent to, or greater or less than, those set forth in
this Article.

11.  Partial Indemmification. [f an Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this
Article to idemnification by the Corporation for some or a portion of the expenses {including
attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred
by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with any action, suit, proceeding or investigation
and any appeal therefrom but not, however, for the otal amount thereof, the Corporation shatl
nevertheless indemnify Ikdlemnitee for the portion of such expenses (including attorneys’ fees),
judgments, fines or amounts paid in setttement to which Indemnitee s entitled.

12,  Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense,
to protect itself and any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or ancther
corporation, parmership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (including any employee benefit
plan} against any expense, Hability or loss incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of
his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such
person against such expense, liability or toss under the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

13.  Savings Clause. If this Article or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any
ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify
each Indemnitee as to any expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts
paid in setthernent in connection with any action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether ¢ivil,
criminal or administrative, including an action by or in the nght of the Corporation, to the fullest
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extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated and
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

14, Definitions. Terms used herein and defined in Section 145(h) and Section 145(i)
of the General Corporation Law of Delaware shail have the respective meanings assigned to such
terms in such Section 145{h) and Section 145(i).

NINTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend, aiter, change or repeal any
provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter
prescribed by statute and this Certificate of Incorporation, and all rights conferred upon
stockholders herein are granted subject o this reservation.



EXECUTED this | 8" day ot November, 2022,

b

Kevin Johnson
Incorporator
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1/ Crowe Crowe Soberman LLP

harmbar Crogve Ginbal

2 51, Clalr Avenus Easl, Sulle 1100
Taronto, ON MAT 275

Main 47580848 7633
Fax 476 964 6454

WHW. Crowasoberman.oam

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholder of Astar Canadian Intermediate Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Astar Canadian Intermediate Corporation and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2022, and the
consolidated statement of earnings, consolidated statement of deficit and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
14-month period then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022, and its results of consolidated operations and
its consolidated cash flows for the 14-month period then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for private enterprises.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasomably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the hasis of these
consolidated bnancial statements.

Crowa Schamrran LLP is a mamber of Crowa Glloba|, a Saiss varein, Each mamber tirm of Crowe Global i5 5 separate and indspendent legal armty, Orows Sobsrman LLF and 8s affiliates
ara fat respanmssle of liable far sy nols &0 ormisslona of Croete Glokal ar ooy ether member of Crows Globol, Crovws Gichal does nal rendar any professional s=rdoea nnd doss Aol bave an
awnierEhip or poartrambp nterest 0 Crowe Searman LLP,
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Cironwa Soberrnan | Canada

As part of an audil in accordance with Canadian generally sccepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintzin professiona] skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of matenal misstatememt of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matiers, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit fndings, including any significant deliciencies i internal control that we 1denufy
during our audit.

Chartered Prolessional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
June 30, 2023



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At December 31 2022
ASSETS
Current
Cash $ 6,265,585
Accounts receivable 1,800,452
Inventory (Note 3) 21,338,143
Government remittances recoverable 386,340
Prepaid expenses and sundry 1,029,130
Income taxes recoverable 4,689,451
Due from related party (Note 4) 817,423
36,326,524
Property and equipment (Note 5) 920,818
Goodwill (Note 2) 90,629,625
Indefinite life intangible asset (Note 2) 19,719,000
Limited life intangible assets (Note 6) 16,768,767

$ 164,364,734

LIABILITIES

Current

Accounts payable and accrued charges $ 9915417

Current portion of term loans (Note 7) 438,087

Deferred revenue 5,675,298

Due to related party (Note 8) 450,000
16,478,802

Term loans (Note 7) 51,136,485
67,615,287

Commitments (Note 13)

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Capital stock (Note 9) 99,697,295

Contributed surplus (Note 12) 44,486

Deficit (2,992,334)
96,749,447

$ 164,364,734

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF DEFICIT
14-month period ended December 31, 2022

Balance, beginning of period $ -
Net loss (2,992,334)
Balance, end of period $  (2,992,334)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

14-month period ended December 31, 2022

Sales $ 107,511,621
Cost of sales
Inventory, beginning of period -
Purchases 73,087,042
Freight 15,885,384
Direct labour 2,066,796
91,039,222
Inventory, end of period (21,338,143)
69,701,079
Gross profit 37,810,542
Expenses
Wages, benefits and commissions (Note 12) 7,579,820
Professional fees 5,056,124
Advertising and promotion 4,975,134
Foreign exchange loss 4,213,094
Interest on term loans 4,121,259
Merchant fees 1,964,197
Computer software 1,409,237
Occupancy 1,246,350
Office and general 909,504
[nsurance 492.689
Travel 183,973
Repairs and maintenance 171,262
Research and development 141,333
Bad debis 108,051
Amortization of property and equipment 301,356
Amortization of limited life intangible assets 2,080,233
Amortization of financing fees 433,522
35,387,138
Earnings from operations 2,423,404
Other expense
Acquisition costs (Note 2) (3,740,474)
Loss before income taxes (1,317,070)
Provision for income taxes (Note 10) 1,675,264
Net loss $  (2,992,334)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
14-month period ended December 31, 2022

SOURCES (USES) OF CASH
Operating activities
Net loss $  (2,992,334)
Ttems not invelving cash
Amortization of property and equipment 301,356
Amaotization of limited hife intangible asscts 2,080,233
Amortization of financing fees 433,522
Unrealized foreign exchange loss on term loans 4,000,212
Compensation costs 44,486
3,867,475
Changes in non-cash working capital items
Accounts receivable (1,458.455)
Inventory (8.325,845)
Inventory deposits 3,153,910
Government remittances recoverable (335,658)
Prepaid expenses and sundry (544,032)
Income taxes recoverable (17,981,062)
Accounts payable and accrued charges (4,208,777)
Deferred revenue 1,704,636
Cash used in operating activities (24,127.,808)
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (396,614)
Purchase of assets in business combination, net of cash (87,680,092)
Advances from related party 2,490,434
Repayments to related party (3,308,468)
Cash used in investing activities (88,894,740)
Financing activities
Receipt of term loans 52,358,968
Repayment of term loans (2,988.590)
Financing fees paid (2,229,540)
Advances from related party 450,000
Proceeds from issuance of Class A common shares 71,697,295
Cash provided by financing activities 119,288,133
Net increase in cash 6,265,585
Cash, beginning of period -
Cash, end of period $ 6,265,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

1.

Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for private enterprises.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for private enterprises requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
contingent liabilities at the consolidated balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. The more subjective of such estimates are the useful
life of property and equipment, the useful life of limited life intangible assets, and the fair value
of the net assets acquired in the business combination (Note 2). These assumptions, by their
nature, are subject to uncertainty and the impact could be material in these consolidated financial
statements. Management believes its estimates to be appropriate; however, actual results could
differ from the amounts estimated.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Astar Canadian Intermediate
Corporation (the Company) and its wholly owned subsidiaries: Norwood Industries Inc. and
Norwood Enterprise Inc. (the Group). All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognizes revenue from sales when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement
exists, shipment has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably
assured. Payments received attributable to a product contracted for but not yet shipped are
recorded as deferred revenue. Sales are recorded net of allowable discounts and rebates.

Translation of foreign currencies

The monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange at the consolidated balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the period. Exchange gains or losses
are included in the results of operations.

Income taxes

The Group follows the taxes payable method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
the Group reports as an expense of the period only the cost of current income taxes for that
period, determined in accordance with the rules established by the taxation authorities.



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

The Group initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities originated or exchanged
in arm's length transactions at fair value. Financial assets and financial liabilities originated and
exchanged in related party transactions, except for those that involve parties whose sole
relationship with the Group is in the capacity of management, are initially measured at cost.

The cost of a financial instrument originated or exchanged in a related party transaction depends
on whether the instrument has repayment terms. The cost of a financial asset or financial liability
in a related party transaction that has repayment terms is determined using its undiscounted cash
flows, excluding interest and dividend payments, less any impairment losses previously
recognized by the transferor. When the financial instrument does not have repayment terms, its
cost is determined using the consideration transferred or received by the Group in the transaction.

The Group subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at cost or
amortized cost.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value or to those
originated or exchanged in a related party transaction are recognized in net loss in the period
incurred. Transaction costs related to financial instruments originated or exchanged in an arm's
length transaction that are subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the
original cost of the instrument. When the instrument is measured at amortized cost, the
transaction costs are then recognized in net loss over the life of the instrument using the straight-
line method.

Inventory

Inventory consists of finished goods and inventory in transit and is valued at the lower of cost
(determined on the weighted average basis) and net realizable value. Cost of finished goods
includes the cost of raw materials and overhead expenses. Net realizable value is the net amount
the Group is expected to realize from the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
provided annually on bases designed to amortize the assets over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Storage and racking - 20% declining balance
Office equipment - 20% declining balance
Computer equipment - 45-100% declining balance
Vehicles - 30% declining balance
Tooling - 44% declining balance
Parking lot - 8% declining balance
Leasehold improvements - straight-line over 5 years
Signs - 20% declining balance



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Research and development costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Limited life intangible assets

Intangible assets comprising of dealer relationships and backlog are recorded at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided annually on bases designed to amortize the
assets over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Dealer relationships - straight-line over 15 years
Backlog - straight-line over 1 year

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair value of
the net assets acquired. Intangible assets, comprising of a brand name, are recorded at cost.
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment when an event or
circumstance occurs that indicates that the carrying amount of the reporting unit to which the
asset is assigned may exceed the fair value of the reporting unit.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability when an event or circumstance occurs that
indicates that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
when the carrying value exceeds the total undiscounted cash flows expected from their use and
eventual disposition. The impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds fair value.

Leases

Leases are classified as operating leases. Rental payments under operating leases are included in
the determination of net loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis.



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

2.

Business combination

Astar Canadian Acquisition Corporation (Astar Acquisition) was a subsidiary of the Company.
Both entities were incorporated on October 25, 2021. On November 3, 2021, Astar Acquisition
acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Norwood Industries Inc. and its parent
company, 2832525 Ontario Inc., for cash and Class B common shares in an arm's length
transaction. At the date of acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
Astar Acguisition were;

Accounts receivable $ 341,997
Inventory 13,012,208
Inventory deposits 3,153,910
Prepaid expenses and sundry 485,147
Government remittances recoverable 50,682
Property and equipment B25.560
Indefinite life intangible asset 19,719,000
Limited life intangible assets 18,849,000
Goodwill 90,629,625
Accounts payable and accrued charges (14,124,196)
Deferred revenue (3,970,662)
Income taxes payable (13,291,661)
Due to related party (608)

$ 115,680,092

Fair value of consideration transferred:
Cash $ 87,680,092
100 Class B common shares 28,000,000
$ 115,680,092

The results of the business acquired in the period have been reflected in the consolidated
statement of earnings from the date of acquisition. Acquisition costs of $3,740,474 were incurred
as part of the acquisition and have been recognized as an expense during the period.

Immediately after the acquisition, on November 3, 2021, Astar Acquisition amalgamated with
Norwood Industries Inc. and 2832525 Ontario Inc. (the Amalgamating Companies) to continue as
one company under the name Norwood Industries Inc. (the Amalgamated Company). All issued
and outstanding shares of the Amalgamating Companies were cancelled and exchanged for
shares of the Amalgamated Company.

10



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

3.

Inventory

Finished goods
Inventory in transit

$ 20,395,341

942,802

$ 21,338,143

During the period ended December 31, 2022, the cost of inventories recognized as an expense

was $53,815,695.

Due from related party

The advances are to an ultimate shareholder of the Group. The advances are non-interest bearing,

unsecured and have no set repayment terms.

Property and equipment

MNet
Accumulared Carrying
Cost  Amortization Amount
Storage and racking $ 260,654 % 40138 220,516
Office equipmen 229 877 34170 195,707
Computer equipment 323,963 145,842 178,121
Vehicles 148,402 319,611 108,791
Toolmg 100,024 29 864 70,160
Parking lot 78,520 6,282 72,238
Leaschold improvements 71.321 3,566 67,755
Signs 9,413 1,883 7,530
$ 1,222,174 § 301,356 920,818
Limited life intangible assets
Net
Accumulated Carrying
Cost  Amortization Amount
Dealer relationships $ 18,183,000 §$ 1,414,233 16,768,767
Backlog 666,000 666,000 -
$ 18,849,000 $ 2,080,233 16,768,767

11



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

7. Term loans

Non-revolving term loan (a) $ 43,370,590
Revolving term loan (b) 10,000,000
53,370,590
Less: unamortized financing fees (1,796,018)
51,574,572
Less: amounts due within one year (438,087)

$ 51,136,485

Financing fees of $2,229,540 have been netted against the carrying value of the term loans and
are being amortized over the term of this debt using the straight-line method.

a) Non-revolving term loan, interest at the greater of the daily three-month London Inter-Bank
Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 5.50% or 6.50% per annum, interest payable monthly, principal
repayable in quarterly instalments of $80,864 U.S., maturing November 2027.

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Group's lender amended the banking agreement to
change the non-revolving term loan interest rate from the Daily Three Month LIBOR rate
plus 5.50% to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate. There were no changes to the
repayment terms.

b) Revolving term loan, interest at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate plus 5.5%, interest
payable monthly, principal repayable at maturity in November 2026.

Principal repayments over the term to maturity are as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2023 $ 438,087
2024 438,087

2025 438,087

2026 10,438,087

2027 41,618,242

$ 53,370,590

The term loans are secured by the following:

e  General assignment of accounts receivable and inventory;

e  General security agreement over the assets of the Group; and

e  Assignment of copyright, patents, trademarks, and industrial design security agreements,
if any.

In addition, there are covenants as required by the Group's banker regarding the Group's net
leverage ratio. At December 31, 2022, the Group was in compliance with this covenant.

12



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

8.

9.

10.

Due to related party

The advances are payable to the Group's shareholder. The advances are non-interest bearing,
unsecured, and have no set repayment terms.

Capital stock

Authorized
Unlimited Class A common shares, voting
Unlimited Class B common shares, voting

Issued and outstanding

100 Class A common shares $ 71,697,295
100  Class B common shares 28,000,000
$ 99,697,295

During the period ended December 31, 2022, the Company issued 100 Class A common shares
for cash proceeds of $71,697,295. The Company also issued 100 Class B common shares as part
of the acquisition in Note 2.

Income taxes

The reconciliation of income tax computed at statutory rates to the provision for income taxes is
as follows:

Loss before income taxes $ (1,317,070)
Basic income tax rate 26.5 %
Computed income tax (349,024)
Capital cost allowance in excess of amortization (215,775)
Non-deductible expenses 2,233,718
Other 6,345
$ 1,675,264

13



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

11.

Financial instruments

The Group regularly evaluates and manages the principal risks assumed with its financial
instruments. The risks that arise from transacting in financial instruments include liquidity risk,
credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk. The following analysis
provides a measure of the Group's risk exposure and concentrations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities as they come due. The Group is exposed to this risk mainly in respect
of its accounts payable and accrued charges, due to related party, and term loans. The Group
considers that it has sufficient funds available to meet its obligations as they come due.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties in
connection with its accounts receivable and due from related party. The Group does not obtain
collateral or other security to support the accounts receivable and due from related party subject
to credit risk but mitigates this risk by dealing only with what management believes to be
financially sound counterparties and insuring receivables and, accordingly, does not anticipate
significant loss for non-performance.

Foreign currency risk

The Group enters into foreign currency purchase and sale transactions and has financial assets
and financial liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies and thus is exposed to the
financial risk of earnings fluctuations arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and the
degree of volatility of these rates.

At December 31, 2022, the Group had the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:

Cash

Accounts receivable

Accounts payable and accrued charges
Term loans

1,094,000 U.S.
142,000 U.S.
2,360,000 U.S.
32,022,000 U.S.

LR I

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate
risk on its floating rate financial instruments. The term loans payable subject the Group to a cash
flow risk.

The Group is not exposed to any significant market risk at the consolidated balance sheet date.

14



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

12.

13.

Related party transactions

During the period ended, the Group granted partnership incentive units in the form of Class P
Units of the parent entity to certain employees providing services to the Group. Total
compensation cost recognized in net loss for the partnership incentive units is $44,486 and
$44,486 was credited to contributed surplus in the period.

Commitments

The Group is committed under long-term leases for premises which expire between August 2023
and June 2028. Minimum annual rentals (exclusive of the requirement to pay taxes, insurance
and maintenance costs) for each of the next five years and thereafter are approximately as
follows:

Year ending December 31, 2023 $ 1,215,000
2024 1,708,000

2025 1,475,000

2026 1,523,000

2027 1,483,000

Thereafter 760,000

$ 8,164,000

The Group is committed under long-term agreements for computer software which expire
between November 2023 and January 2028. Minimum annual payments for each of the next five
years and thereafter are approximately as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2023 $ 351,000
2024 533,000

2025 499,000

2026 424,000

2027 187,000

Thereafter 77,000

$ 2,071,000

15
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Tel: 289 881 1111 BDO Canada LLP
Fax: 905 845 8615 360 Oakville Place Drive, Suite 500
www.bdo.ca Oakville ON L6H 6K8 Canada

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of AStar Canadian Intermediate Corp.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AStar Canadian Intermediate Corp. and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement
of operations and deficit and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023, and its consolidated results of operations and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - Restated Comparative Information

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which explains that certain comparative
information for the 14-month period ended December 31, 2022 has been restated. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

The consolidated financial statements for the 14-month period ended December 31, 2022 excluding the adjustments
that were applied to restate certain comparative information were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on June 30, 2023.

As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, we also audited
the adjustments applied to restate certain comparative information presented. In our opinion, such adjustments are
appropriate and have been properly applied. Other than with respect to the adjustments that were applied to restate
certain comparative information, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the consolidated
financial statements for the 14-month period ended December 31, 2022. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or
any other form of assurance on those consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms. 1
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

BDO Canada [LF

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Oakville, Ontario
July 31, 2024



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in thousands) 2022
At December 31, 2023 (Restated — Note 2)
ASSETS

Current

Cash $ 2,720 6,266
Accounts receivable 441 1,800
Inventory (Note 4) 15,547 20,007
Government remittances recoverable 242 386
Prepaid expenses and sundry 700 1,031
Income taxes recoverable 1,273 4,689
Other current assets 1,287 817
Total current assets 22,210 34,996
Property and equipment, net (Note 5) 658 920
Goodwill 91,384 91,384
Indefinite life intangible asset 19,719 19,719
Limited life intangible assets, net (Note 6) 15,557 16,769
Total assets $ 149,528 163,788
LIABILITIES

Current

Accounts payable and accrued charges $ 6,912 9,917
Current portion of term loans (Note 7) 53,100 438
Deferred revenue 1,431 5,675
Other current liabilities 101 44
Total current liabilities 61,544 16,074
Term loans (Note 7) - 51,136
Total liabilities 61,544 67,210
Commitments (Note 11)

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Capital stock (Note 8) 100,147 100,147
Deficit (12,163) (3,569)
Total shareholder’s equity 87,984 96,578
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity S 149,528 163,788

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF DEFICIT
(in thousands)

2022
For the years ended December 31, 2023 (Restated — Note 2)
Balance, beginning of period $ (3,569) -
Net loss (8,594) (3,569)
Balance, end of period $ (12,163) (3,569)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LOSS

(in thousands)

For the 14-month

period ended

For the year ended December 31, 2022
December 31,2023 (Restated — Note 2)

Sales $ 60,045 $ 107,512
Cost of sales 36,960 70,278
Gross profit 23,085 37,234
Expenses

Wages, benefits and commissions 8,770 7,580
Professional fees 4,902 5,056
Advertising and promotion 5,036 4,975
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (544) 4,213
Interest on term loans 5,839 4,121
Merchant fees 1,106 1,964
Computer software 1,552 1,409
Occupancy 1,891 1,246
Office and general 1,338 912
Insurance 567 493
Travel 299 184
Repairs and maintenance 260 171
Research and development 26 141
Bad debts 2 108
Amortization of property and equipment 563 301
Amortization of limited life intangible assets 1,212 2,080
Amortization of financing fees 372 434
Total expense 33,191 35,388
Earnings (loss) from operations (10,106) 1,846
Other income (expense)

Interest 184 -
Discount 55 -
Acquisition costs - (3,740
Loss before income taxes (9,867) (1,894)
(Recovery of) provision for income taxes (Note 9) (1,273) 1,675
Net loss $ 8,594) $ (3,569)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the 14-month

(in thousands) period ended
For the year ended December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023 (Restated — Note 2)
SOURCES (USES) OF CASH
Operating activities
Net loss $  (8,594) $ 3,569)
Items not involving cash
Amortization of property and equipment 563 301
Amortization of limited life intangible assets 1,212 2,080
Amortization of financing fees 372 434
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss on term loans (908) 4,000
Compensation costs - 45
Changes in non-cash working capital items
Accounts receivable 1,358 (1,458)
Inventory 4,460 (5,173)
Other current assets 470) -
Government remittances recoverable 144 (336)
Prepaid expenses and sundry 331 (544)
Income taxes recoverable 3416 (17,981)
Accounts payable and accrued charges (3,005) (4,208)
Deferred revenue (4,244) 1,705
Other current liabilities 57 -
Cash used in operating activities (5,308) (24,127)
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (300) (396)
Purchase of assets in business combination, net of cash - (87,680)
Advances from related party - 2,490
Repayments to related party - (3,308)
Cash used in investing activities (300) (88,894)
Financing activities
Receipt of loans 2,500 52,359
Repayment of term loans (438) (2,989)
Financing fees paid - (2,230)
Advances from related party - 450
Proceeds from issuance of Class A common shares - 71,697
Cash provided by financing activities 2,062 119,287
Net increase in cash (3,546) 6,266
Cash, beginning of period 6,266 -
Cash, end of period $ 2,720 $ 6,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

6



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2023

1.

Significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for private enterprises.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for private enterprises requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
contingent liabilities at the consolidated balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. The more subjective of such estimates are the useful life
of property and equipment, the useful life of limited life intangible assets, and the fair value of the
net assets acquired in the business combination in the prior year (Note 3). These assumptions, by
their nature, are subject to uncertainty and the impact could be material in these consolidated
financial statements. Management believes its estimates to be appropriate; however, actual results
could differ from the amounts estimated.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Astar Canadian Intermediate
Corporation (the Company) and its wholly owned subsidiaries: Norwood Industries Inc. and
Norwood Enterprise Inc. (the Group). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognizes revenue from sales when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement
exists, shipment has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably
assured. Payments received attributable to a product contracted for but not yet shipped are recorded
as deferred revenue. Sales are recorded net of allowable discounts and rebates.

Translation of foreign currencies

The monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange at the consolidated balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the period. Exchange gains or losses
are included in the results of operations.

Income taxes

The Group follows the taxes payable method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
the Group reports as an expense of the period only the cost of current income taxes for that period,
determined in accordance with the rules established by the taxation authorities.



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2023

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

The Group initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities originated or exchanged in
arm's length transactions at fair value. Financial assets and financial liabilities originated and
exchanged in related party transactions, except for those that involve parties whose sole relationship
with the Group is in the capacity of management, are initially measured at cost.

The cost of a financial instrument originated or exchanged in a related party transaction depends on
whether the instrument has repayment terms. The cost of a financial asset or financial liability in a
related party transaction that has repayment terms is determined using its undiscounted cash flows,
excluding interest and dividend payments, less any impairment losses previously recognized by the
transferor. When the financial instrument does not have repayment terms, its cost is determined
using the consideration transferred or received by the Group in the transaction.

The Group subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at cost or
amortized cost.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value or to those
originated or exchanged in a related party transaction are recognized in net loss in the period
incurred. Transaction costs related to financial instruments originated or exchanged in an arm's
length transaction that are subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the
original cost of the instrument. When the instrument is measured at amortized cost, the transaction
costs are then recognized in net loss over the life of the instrument using the straight- line method.

Inventory

Inventory consists of finished goods and inventory in transit and is valued at the lower of cost
(determined on the weighted average basis) and net realizable value. Cost of finished goods
includes the cost of raw materials and labour. Net realizable value is the net amount the Group is
expected to realize from the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
provided annually on bases designed to amortize the assets over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Storage and racking straight-line over 5 years
Office equipment straight-line over 5 years
Computer equipment straight-line over 2 years
Vehicles straight-line over 5 years
Tooling straight-line over 2 years
Leasehold improvements straight-line over 5 years



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2023

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Research and development costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Limited life intangible assets

Dealer relationships are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided
annually on bases designed to amortize the assets over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Dealer relationships straight-line over 15 years
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair value of
the net assets acquired. Indefinite life intangible assets, comprising of a brand name, are recorded
at cost. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized and tested for impairment
when an event or circumstance occurs that indicates that the carrying amount of the reporting unit
to which the asset is assigned may exceed the fair value of the reporting unit.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment and other limited life intangibles, are
tested for recoverability when an event or circumstance occurs that indicates that their carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value exceeds
the total undiscounted cash flows expected from their use and eventual disposition. The impairment
loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds fair value.

Leases

Leases are classified as operating leases. Rental payments under operating leases are included in
the determination of net loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis.



ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023

2. Restatement of previously issued financial statements

During the year ended December 31, 2023, as part of the post close financial reporting process, an
error was identified by management with respect to the accounting and measurement of inventory
in the prior year.

Summarized below is the impact to the comparative consolidated financial statements for the
inventory adjustment:

Consolidated Balance Sheet

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2022

Previously Reported Adjustment As Restated
Inventory $ 21,338  $ (1,331) $ 20,007
Goodwill 90,630 754 91,384
Total Assets $ 164,365 $ 577) % 163,788
Deficit $ (2992) % 577 $ (3,569)
Total Shareholder’s Equity $ 96,749 $ G777 $ 96,172
Consolidated Statement of Earnings

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2022

Previously Reported Adjustment As Restated
Cost of Sales $ 69,701  $ 577  $ 70,278
Net Loss $ (2992) $ 577 $ (3,569)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2022

Previously Reported Adjustment As Restated
Net loss $ 2,992) $ 677 % (3,569)
Changes in non-cash working capital (27,995) 577 (27,418)
Cash used in operating activities $ (24,127)  § - § (24,127)

In addition, certain immaterial prior year amounts were reclassified within the consolidated balance sheet to
conform to the current year presentation as follows:

December 31, 2022 Adi December 31, 2022

Previously Reported Justment As Restated
Due from related party $ 817 $ (817) $ -
Other current assets - 817 817
Other current liabilities - 44 44
Due to related party 450 (450) -
Capital stock 99,697 450 100,147
Contributed surplus 44 “4) .
Total impact to balance sheet $ -
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023

3. Prior year business combination

Astar Canadian Acquisition Corporation (Astar Acquisition) was a subsidiary of the Company.
Both entities were incorporated on October 25, 2021. On November 3, 2021, Astar Acquisition
acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Norwood Industries Inc. and its parent company,
2832525 Ontario Inc., for cash and Class B common shares in an arm's length transaction. At the
date of acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed by Astar Acquisition
were as follows:

As Restated (Note 2)
Accounts receivable $342
Inventory 11,681
Inventory deposits 3,154
Prepaid expenses and sundry 485
Government remittances recoverable 51
Property and equipment 826
Indefinite life intangible asset 19,719
Limited life intangible assets 18,849
Goodwill 91,384
Accounts payable and accrued charges (14,124)
Deferred revenue (3,971)
Income taxes payable (13,292)
Due to related party (1)
$115,103
Fair value of consideration transferred:

Cash $87,103

280 Class B common shares 28,000

$115,103

The results of the business acquired in the prior period have been reflected in the consolidated
statement of earnings from the date of acquisition. Acquisition costs of $3,740 were incurred as part
of the acquisition and have been recognized as an expense during the prior period.

Immediately after the acquisition, on November 3, 2021, Astar Acquisition amalgamated with
Norwood Industries Inc. and 2832525 Ontario Inc. (the Amalgamating Companies) to continue as
one company under the name Norwood Industries Inc. (the Amalgamated Company). All issued
and outstanding shares of the Amalgamating Companies were cancelled and exchanged for shares
of the Amalgamated Company.
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023
4. Inventory
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023 Restated (Note 2)

Finished goods $ 14,820 $ 19,064

Inventory in transit 727 943

$ 15,547 $ 20,007

S. Property and equipment
Net Net
Carrying Carrying
Cost at Amount at Cost at Amount at

December Accumulated December December Accumulated December
31,2022 Amortization 31, 2022 31,2023  Amortization 31, 2023

Storage and racking § 261 $ 40) $ 221 % 261 $ (118) $ 143
Office equipment 229 (34) 195 229 (103) 126
Computer equipment 324 (145) 179 414 274) 140
Vehicles 148 (40) 108 415 (270) 145
Tooling 100 (30) 70 100 (65) 35
Parking lot 79 ©) 73 - - -
Leasehold
improvements 71 )] 67 103 (34) 69
Signs 9 (2) 7 - - -
$ 1,221 $ (301) $ 920 $ 1,522 $ (864) $ 658
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023
6. Limited life intangible assets
Net Carrying Net Carrying
Cost at Amount at Cost at Amount at
December 31, Accumulated December 31,December 31, Accumulated December 31,
2022 Amortization 2022 2023 Amortization 2023
Dealer relationships  § 18,183 $ (14148 16,769% 18,183 $ (2,626)$ 15,557
7. Term loans
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Non-revolving term loan (a) $ 42,024 $43,370
Revolving term loan (b) 12,500 $10,000
54,524 $53,370
Less: unamortized financing fees (1,424) (1,796)
53,100 51,574
Less: amounts due within one year 53,100 (438)
Long-term portion of term loans $ - $51,136

a. Non-revolving term loan, interest at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) of 5.18%
repayable in quarterly installments of $81 U.S., maturing November 2027.

b. Revolving term loan, interest at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (CODR) plus 5.5%, interest
payable monthly, principal repayable at maturity in November 2026.

The term loans are secured by the following:

L General assignment of accounts receivable and inventory;
1l General security agreement over the assets of the Group; and
1il. Assignment of copyright, patents, trademarks, and industrial design security agreements,
if any.

In addition, there are covenants as required by the Group's lender regarding the Group's net
leverage ratio. During 2023, the Group was not in compliance with this covenant. As such, all
related term loan obligations have been classified as current obligations as a result of the breach
in debt covenant. The Group received a waiver and amended the term loan agreement with the
lender subsequent to year-end (Note 12).
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023

8. Capital stock

Authorized
Unlimited Class A common shares, voting
Unlimited Class B common shares, voting

Issued and outstanding
717 Class A common shares $
285 Class B common shares

71,697
28,450

$

100,147

9. Income taxes

The Group accounts for income taxes using the taxes payable method. As a result, the Company’s income
tax expense varies from the amount that would otherwise result from the application of the statutory rates

as set out below:

For the year For the 14-month

ended period ended

December 31, December 31, 2022

2023 (Restated — Note 2)

Loss before income taxes $(9,867) $(1,317)
Combined basic federal, provincial, and state tax rates 26.5% 26.5%
Computed income tax recoverability (2,615) (502)
Capital cost allowance in excess of amortization (186) (216)
Non-deductible expenses (435) 2,387
Unrecognized noncapital loss carryforward 1,841 -
Tax rate differential 122 -
Other - 6
(Recovery of) provision for income tax $(1,273) $ 1,675
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023

10.

Financial instruments

The Group regularly evaluates and manages the principal risks assumed with its financial
instruments. The risks that arise from transacting in financial instruments include liquidity risk,
credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk. The following analysis provides
a measure of the Group's risk exposure and concentrations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities as they come due. The Group is exposed to this risk mainly in respect
of its accounts payable and accrued charges, due to related party, and term loans. As of December
31, 2023, the Group was not in compliance with its debt covenants related to the term loan and
revolving facilities. The lender has waived the non-compliance and amended the credit agreement
subsequent to year end (note 12).

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties in connection
with its accounts receivable and due from related party. The Group does not obtain collateral or
other security to support the accounts receivable and due from related party subject to credit risk
but mitigates this risk by dealing only with what management believes to be financially sound
counterparties and insuring receivables and, accordingly, does not anticipate significant loss for
non-performance.

Foreign currency risk

The Group enters into foreign currency purchase and sale transactions and has financial assets and
financial liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies and thus is exposed to the financial
risk of earnings fluctuations arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and the degree of
volatility of these rates.

At December 31, 2023, the Group had the following amounts denominated in foreign currencies:

Cash $ 1,378 U.S.
Term loans $ 31,779 U.S.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk
on its floating rate financial instruments. The term loans payable subject the Group to a cash flow
risk.

The Group is not exposed to any significant market risk at the consolidated balance sheet date.
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ASTAR CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts presented in thousands of Canadian Dollar)

December 31,2023

11.

12.

Commitments

The Group is committed under long-term leases for premises which expire between December 2024
and June 2028. Minimum annual rentals (exclusive of the requirement to pay taxes, insurance and
maintenance costs) for each of the next five years and thereafter are approximately as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2024 $ 1,715
2025 1,345

2026 1,530

2027 1,483

2028 760

$ 6,833

The Group is committed under long-term  agreements for computer software which expire

between April 2025 and May 2028. Minimum annual payments for each of the next five years and
thereafter are approximately as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2024 533
2025 499

2026 424

2027 187

2028 77

$ 1,720

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Company received a compliance waiver from its lender, Monroe Capital,
including an amendment to its credit facilities and covenant terms. The amendment modified, among other things,
the interest rate applicable to both the revolving and non-revolving term loans by reducing the interest amount
payable in periodic installments and incorporated a payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest component payable at
maturity. Both the interest rate payable periodically and the PIK interest rate vary based on the Company’s
leverage ratio. Minimum liquidity is to be measured and reported biweekly.

In addition, pursuant to the amended credit agreement, $25,000 of equity financing was committed from the
Company’s majority and other existing shareholders of which $17,500 was received as of the date of these
financial statements. The additional $7,500 is committed and yet to be funded.

This additional financing was used, in part, to reducing outstanding debt on the revolving term loan by $9,000 and
the non-revolving term loan by $2,468 and is anticipated to enhance the Company's financial flexibility, improve
liquidity, and strengthen leverage position. The Company was in compliance of the amended liquidity covenants as
of the most recent reporting date preceding the issuance of these financial statements.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through July 31, 2024.
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CREDIT AND GUARANTY AGREEMENT

This CREDIT AND GUARANTY AGREEMENT (as the same may be amended, restated,
amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”) is entered
into as of November 1, 2021, by and among ASTAR CANADIAN ACQUISITION CORPORATION, a
corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario (the “Initial Borrower”), ASTAR
CANADIAN INTERMEDIATE CORPORATION, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the
province of Ontario (“Holdings”), each of the Subsidiary Guarantors party hereto from time to time,
MONROE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT ADVISORS, LLC (“Monroe”), as Administrative Agent, Collateral
Agent and Revolving Agent, each Issuing Bank from time to time party hereto, and each Lender from time
to time party hereto.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

1. As of the Closing Date (as this and other capitalized terms used in the introductory
paragraph to this Agreement above and in these Preliminary Statements are defined in Section 1.01 below)
immediately before giving effect to the consummation of the Acquisition:

@) the Initial Borrower is a direct, wholly owned Subsidiary of Holdings, and each of the
Initial Borrower and Holdings are newly formed at the direction of, and controlled by, the Sponsor, and

(b) 2832525 Ontario Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario
(the “Target”), is a wholly owned direct Subsidiary of 1923084 Ontario Inc., a corporation incorporated
under the laws of the province of Ontario, and Ashlynne Dale, an individual (collectively, the “Sellers™);

2. Promptly after execution and delivery of this Agreement, Norwood Sawmills USA Inc., a
corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario, and Norwood Industries Inc., a
corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario, will amalgamate (“Pre-Closing
Amalgamation”) with the corporation resulting from such amalgamation being Norwood Industries Inc.,
a corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario (“Amalcol”) with Amalcol surviving
the Pre-Closing Amalgamation as a direct wholly-owned subisidiary of the Target;

3. Immediately after the funding of the Initial Term Loans hereunder and the consummation
of the Acquisition,

@) the Initial Borrower, the Target and Amalcol will amalgamate (the “Amalgamation”) with
the corporation resulting from such Amalgamation being Norwood Industries Inc., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario (the “Company”), and the Initial Borrower will
cease to exist as a separate entity; and

(b) at the effective time of the Amalgamation, by operation of law as a result of the
Amalgamation, the Company will succeed to all of the obligations, liabilities, duties, responsibilities, roles,
rights and privileges of the Initial Borrower as “borrower” hereunder and under the other Loan Documents
and will accede hereto and thereto (the Company in such capacity, the “Borrower”);

4. The Initial Borrower (on behalf of itself and the Borrower) has requested that (a)
substantially simultaneous with the consummation of the Acquisition and the satisfaction of the applicable
conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.02, the Lenders extend credit to the Initial Borrower in the form
of (i) Initial Term Loans on the Closing Date in an initial aggregate principal amount of $32,345,449.40
and (ii) Revolving Commitments in an initial aggregate principal amount of C$12,500,000 available on and
after the Closing Date.
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5. The proceeds of the Initial Term Loans and the Initial Revolving Borrowing (subject to the
Initial Revolving Borrowing Cap), together with the proceeds of the Equity Contribution, will be used on
the Closing Date (a) to repay the Target Debt, (b) to pay (i) a portion of the Acquisition Consideration and
(ii) the Transaction Expenses and (c) for working capital and other purposes permitted by this Agreement.

6. The applicable Lenders have indicated their willingness to lend on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth herein.

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto
covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE I.
Definitions and Accounting Terms

Section 1.01  Defined Terms.
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
“Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement” means:

@) in the case of any Indebtedness that is secured on a pari passu basis with the
Obligations, a Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement;

(b) in the case of any Indebtedness that is secured on a junior lien basis relative to the
Obligations, a Junior Lien Intercreditor Agreement; and

(c) in the case of any other secured Indebtedness, an intercreditor agreement the terms
of which are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent.

“Acquisition” means the acquisition by the Initial Borrower (including by “rollover” of certain
existing Equity Interests in Target contributed directly or indirectly to the Initial Borrower) of all of the
Equity Interests in Target pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement.

“Acquisition Agreement” means that certain Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of the Closing
Date (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), by and
among Sellers, Target and Initial Borrower.

“Acquisition Agreement Representations” means such of the representations and warranties
made by the Target with respect to the Target and/or its Subsidiaries in the Acquisition Agreement to the
extent a breach of such representations and warranties is materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders
(in their capacities as such).

“Acquisition Consideration” means the consideration to be paid on the Closing Date in respect of
the Acquisition (excluding the Target Debt) pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement.

“Acquisition Transaction” means the purchase or other acquisition (in one transaction or a series
of transactions), by merger, amalgamation, consolidation or otherwise, by the Borrower or any Restricted
Subsidiary of all or substantially all the property, assets or business of (or all or substantially all the property
or assets constituting a business unit, division, product line or line of business of) any Person or of all of
the outstanding Equity Interests of any Person (including any Investment which serves to increase the
Borrower’s or any Restricted Subsidiary’s respective equity ownership in any Joint Venture or other Person

2
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to an amount in excess (or further in excess) of the majority of the outstanding Equity Interests of such Joint
Venture or other Person).

“Additional Lender” means, at any time, any bank, other financial institution or institutional
investor that, in any case, is not then an existing Lender and that agrees to provide any portion of any
(a) Incremental Loan in accordance with Section 2.14 or (b) Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness
pursuant to a Refinancing Amendment in accordance with Section 2.15; provided that each Additional
Lender (other than any Person that is a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund of a Lender
at such time) shall be subject to the approval of the Administrative Agent and/or the Issuing Banks (such
approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), in each case to the extent any such
consent would be required from the Administrative Agent and/or the Issuing Banks (as applicable) under
Section 10.07 for an assignment of Loans to such Additional Lender.

“Administrative Agent” means Monroe, in its capacity as administrative agent under any of the
Loan Documents, or any successor administrative agent.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means the Administrative Agent’s address and account as set
forth on Schedule 10.02, or such other address or account as the Administrative Agent may from time to
time notify the Borrower and the Lenders.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in the form of Exhibit |
or such other form as may be supplied from time to time by the Administrative Agent.

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any U.K.
Financial Institution.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through
one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person
specified; provided that (i) no Lender shall be an Affiliate of any Loan Party or of any Subsidiary of any
Loan Party solely by reason of the provisions of the Loan Documents and (ii) other than for purposes of
Section 7.08, no Person shall be an Affiliate of a Loan Party or a Restricted Subsidiary solely because it is
a portfolio company of the Sponsor.

“Affiliated Lender” means any Non-Debt Fund Affiliate, Holdings, the Borrower and/or any
Subsidiary of the Borrower.

“Affiliated Lender Assignment and Assumption” has the meaning set forth in
Section 10.07(1)(i).

“Affiliated Lender Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(1)(ii).

“Agent-Related Persons” means the Agents, together with their respective Affiliates, and the
officers, directors, employees, partners, agents, advisors, attorneys-in-fact and other representatives of such
Persons and Affiliates.

“Agents” means, collectively, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Revolving
Agent.

“Aggregate Commitments” means the Commitments of all the Lenders.
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“Agreement” means this Credit and Guaranty Agreement, as the same may be amended, amended
and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Agreement Among Lenders” means any agreement among lenders entered into after the date
hereof, by and among, inter alios, the Administrative Agent, the Revolving Agent and the Lenders from
time to time party thereto.

“All-In Yield” means, as to any Indebtedness, the effective yield applicable thereto calculated by
the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower in a manner consistent with generally accepted
financial practices, which shall include (a) interest rate margin and interest rate floors (subject to the proviso
set forth below), (b) any amendment to the relevant interest rate margins and interest rate floors that became
effective after the Closing Date but prior to the applicable date of determination and (c) original issue
discount and upfront or similar fees paid by the Borrower or any Loan Party (based on, to the extent
applicable, an assumed four-year average life to maturity (or, if less, the stated life to maturity at the time
of the incurrence of the applicable Indebtedness)), but shall exclude any arrangement, commitment,
structuring, underwriting, ticking, unused line, amendment and similar fees (and any other fee not paid by
any Loan Party generally to all applicable lenders ratably) paid or payable by or to any lender (or its
affiliates) in its capacity as such in connection with such Indebtedness or to one or more arrangers (or their
affiliates) in their capacities as such (regardless of whether any such fees are paid to or shared in whole or
in part with any lender), in each case if such fees are (x) payable to the Arranger (or its affiliates) in
connection with the Initial Term Loans, (y) not payable to all of the lenders under the Incremental Term
Facility or other applicable Indebtedness and/or (z) payable to all lenders under the Incremental Term
Facility or other applicable Indebtedness and such fees are not in excess of 2% of the aggregate principal
amount of loans and/or commitments, as applicable, comprising such Incremental Term Facility or other
applicable Indebtedness (in each case, regardless of how such fees are computed); provided, however, that
if any such Indebtedness includes any interest rate floor applicable to Eurocurrency Rate Loans that is
greater than that applicable to the Initial Term Loans and such floor is applicable to the Initial Term Loans
on the date of determination, such excess amount shall be equated to interest rate margin for determining
the increase (and, at the option of the Borrower, such increase will be effected through an increase in (or
implementation of, as applicable) the applicable “LIBOR” interest rate floor).

“Amalcol” has the meaning given to such term in the Preliminary Statements to this Agreement.
“Amalgamation” has the meaning set forth in the Preliminary Statements to this Agreement.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the FCPA, the Bribery Act 2010 of the United Kingdom, the
Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada) and any other laws, rules or regulations related to
corruption or bribery applicable to Holdings, the Borrower, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, as
applicable.

“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means Laws applicable to Holdings, the Borrower, or any of
their respective Subsidiaries, as applicable, related to terrorism financing or money laundering, including,
to the extent applicable, the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act, and the Criminal
Code (Canada).

“Applicable ECF Percentage” means, for any fiscal year, (a) 50.0% if the First Lien Net Leverage
Ratio as of the last day of such fiscal year is greater than 2.50:1.00, (b) 25.0% if the First Lien Net Leverage
Ratio as of the last day of such fiscal year is less than or equal to 2.50:1.00 and greater than 1.50:1.00 and
(c) 0.0% if the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio as of the last day of such fiscal year is less than or equal to
1.50:1.00.

US-DOCS\127100939.8



Class.

“Applicable Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.22.
“Applicable Rate” means:

(@) with respect to Initial Term Loans and the Revolving Facility (including Revolving
Loans and L/C Fees), (i) until delivery of financial statements for the first full fiscal quarter ending
after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 6.01(b), a percentage per annum equal to, (A) for
Eurocurrency Rate Loans and CDOR Rate Loans, 5.50% and (B) for Base Rate Loans and Canadian
Prime Rate Loans, 4.50%; and (ii) thereafter, for each fiscal quarter the percentage per annum in
the table below corresponding to the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio as set forth in the most recent
Compliance Certificate received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.02(a):

Initial Term Loan and Revolving Facility Applicable Rate

Base Rate /
First Lien Net Leverage Eurocurrency Rate Canadian Prime
Pricing Level Ratio / CDOR Rate Rate
1 > 4.00:1.00 5.75% 4.75%
2 <4.00:1.00 and > 1.50:1.00 5.50% 4.50%
3 <1.50:1.00 5.25% 4.25%

(b) [Reserved].

(c) Any increase or decrease in the Applicable Rate applicable to the foregoing
clause (a) resulting from a change in the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio shall become effective as
of the first Business Day immediately following the date the applicable Compliance Certificate is
delivered pursuant to Section 6.02(a); provided that at the option of the Required Lenders, the
pricing level 1 shall apply (x) as of the first Business Day after the date on which a Compliance
Certificate was required to have been delivered but was not delivered, and shall continue to so apply
to and including the date on which such Compliance Certificate is so delivered (and thereafter the
pricing level otherwise determined in accordance with this definition shall apply) and (y) as of the
first Business Day after a Specified Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, and
shall continue to so apply to but excluding the date on which such Specified Event of Default is
cured or waived (and thereafter the pricing level otherwise determined in accordance with this
definition shall apply).

“Appropriate Lender” means, at any time, with respect to Loans of any Class, the Lenders of such

“Approved Counterparty” means (a) any Agent, Lender or any Affiliate of an Agent or Lender

at the time it entered into a Secured Hedge Agreement or a Treasury Services Agreement, as applicable, in
its capacity as a party thereto and (b) any other Person that is the primary treasury management bank of the
Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries at the time it entered into a Treasury Services Agreement as a
provider (or other similar capacity) thereunder, provided that with respect to this clause (b), the Borrower
has delivered (or caused to be delivered) a copy of such Treasury Services Agreement to the Administrative

Agent.

“Approved Fund” means, with respect to any Lender, any Fund that is administered or managed

by (a) such Lender, (b) an Affiliate of such Lender or (¢) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers
or manages such Lender.
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“Arranger” means Monroe Capital Management Advisors, LLC, in its capacity as lead arranger
of the Revolving Facility and the Initial Term Loans.

“Asset Sale Prepayment Percentage” means,
@) 100%, if the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio equals or exceeds 3.00:1.00;

(b) 25%, if the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio is less than 2.50:1.00, but equals or
exceeds 2.00:1.00; and

(c) 0%, if the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio is less than 1.50:1.00.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an Assignment and Assumption substantially in the form
of Exhibit D.

“Assignment Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 3.01(b).

“Attorney Costs” means and includes all reasonable and reasonably documented fees, expenses
and disbursements of any law firm or other external legal counsel.

“Attributable Indebtedness” means, on any date, in respect of any Capitalized Lease of any
Person, the amount thereof that would appear as a liability on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as
of such date in accordance with GAAP as in effect on the date hereof.

“Available Amount” means, as of any date of determination (the “Available Amount Reference
Date”), with respect to the applicable Available Amount Reference Period, a cumulative amount equal to,
without duplication:

@) the greater of (a) 20% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (b) 20% multiplied
by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as of the applicable date of determination; plus

(b) an amount, determined on a cumulative basis as of such Available Amount
Reference Date, that is equal to the sum of (i) the aggregate cumulative sum of Excess Cash Flow
for each fiscal year (commencing with the fiscal year ending November 30, 2022) included in the
Available Amount Reference Period (provided that the amount of Excess Cash Flow for any fiscal
year included in this subclause (i) shall not be less than zero), minus (ii) the aggregate amount of
mandatory prepayments made (including, purposes of this subclause (ii), all Declined Amounts)
pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(i) for each such fiscal year included in the Available Amount Reference
Period, minus (iii) the aggregate amount deducted from any required mandatory prepayment of
Excess Cash Flow pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(i)(B) for each such fiscal year included in the
Available Amount Reference Period; plus

(c) the amount of all (i) capital contributions made in cash or Cash Equivalents to the
Borrower and (ii) Net Proceeds from Permitted Equity Issuances received by the Borrower, in each
case (x) during the Available Amount Reference Period and (y) to the extent Not Otherwise

Applied; plus

(d) to the extent not reflected as a return of capital with respect to such Investment for
purposes of determining the amount of such Investment, the Investments of the Borrower and its
Restricted Subsidiaries in any Unrestricted Subsidiary that has been re-designated as a Restricted
Subsidiary or that has been merged, consolidated or amalgamated with or into the Borrower or any

6
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of its Restricted Subsidiaries (up to the lesser of (i) the fair market value of such investments of the
Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries in such Unrestricted Subsidiary at the time of such re-
designation or merger or consolidation or amalgamation and (ii) the fair market value of such
investments by the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries in such Unrestricted Subsidiary at the
time they were made); provided that the amount under this clause (d) shall not exceed the aggregate
amount of such original Investments in Unrestricted Subsidiaries made in reliance on the Available
Amount; plus

(e) to the extent not reflected as a return of capital with respect to such Investment for
purposes of determining the amount of such Investment or required to be applied to prepay Term
Loans in accordance with Section 2.05(b)(ii), the aggregate amount of all Net Proceeds received
by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary in connection with the sale, transfer or other
disposition of its ownership interest in any Minority Investment or Unrestricted Subsidiary during
the Available Amount Reference Period, in each case, to the extent that the original Investments in
such Unrestricted Subsidiary or Minority Investments were made in reliance on the Available
Amount; provided that the amount under this clause (e) shall not exceed the aggregate amount of
such original Investments in Minority Investments and Unrestricted Subsidiaries made in reliance
on the Available Amount; plus

()] to the extent (i) not reflected as a return of capital with respect to such Investment
for purposes of determining the amount of such Investment and (ii) not in excess of the fair market
value of such Investment at the time it was made, the returns (including repayments of principal
and payments of interest), profits, distributions and similar amounts received in cash or Cash
Equivalents by the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries on Investments made by the Borrower
or any Restricted Subsidiary in reliance on the Available Amount; provided that the amount under
this clause (f) shall not exceed the aggregate amount of such original Investments made in reliance
on the Available Amount; plus

9) any Declined Amounts (but only to the extent also declined by holders of any Pari
Passu Lien Debt or Junior Lien Debt (as applicable), in each case to the extent required to be applied
to offer to repurchase or otherwise prepay such Indebtedness); minus

(h) the aggregate amount of the Available Amount used to make any (A) Investments
pursuant to Section 7.02(i), (B) Restricted Payments pursuant to Section 7.06(f) and (C) Restricted
Debt Payments in respect of Junior Financing pursuant to Section 7.12(a)(Vv), during the Available
Amount Reference Period (and for purposes of this clause (h), without taking account of the
intended usage of the Available Amount on such Available Amount Reference Date in the
contemplated transaction).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, to the extent any Excess Cash Flow is not applied to make a
prepayment pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(i) by virtue of the application of Section 2.05(b)(x), such Excess
Cash Flow shall not under any circumstances increase the Available Amount.

“Available Amount Reference Date” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Available
Amount”.

“Available Amount Reference Period” means, with respect to any Available Amount Reference
Date, the period commencing on (a) with respect to the calculation of clause (b) of the definition of
“Available Amount,” the first Business Day of fiscal year 2022 and ending on the last day of the most
recent fiscal year for which the financial statements and related Compliance Certificate required to be
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delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(a) and Section 6.02(a), respectively, of this Agreement have been
delivered to the Administrative Agent and (b) with respect to the calculation of the “Available Amount”
(other than clause (b) of the definition thereof), the day after the Closing Date through and including the
Available Amount Reference Date.

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable
EEA Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means, (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article
55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the
implementing law, regulation, rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which
is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part | of
the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or
rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment
firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other
insolvency proceedings).

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Federal Funds
Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2 of 1%, (b) the Prime Rate in effect for such day and (c) the Eurocurrency
Rate for deposits in Dollars for a one-month Interest Period plus 1.00%; provided that for the avoidance of
doubt, the Eurocurrency Rate for any day shall be LIBOR or the Benchmark Replacement, at approximately
11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to such day for deposits in Dollars with a term of one
month commencing on such day. If the Administrative Agent shall have determined (which determination
shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that it is unable to ascertain the Federal Funds Rate for any reason,
including the inability or failure of the Administrative Agent to obtain sufficient quotations in accordance
with the terms of the definition thereof, the Base Rate shall be determined without regard to clause (a) of
the preceding sentence until the circumstances giving rise to such inability no longer exist. Any change in
the Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or the Eurocurrency Rate shall be
effective on the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or the Eurocurrency
Rate, as the case may be.

“Base Rate Loan” means a Loan denominated in Dollars that bears interest based on the Base
Rate.

“Benchmark Replacement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.08(f).

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as
required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, which certification will be substantially similar in form
and substance to the form of Certification Regarding Beneficial Owners of Legal Entity Customers
published jointly, in May 2018, by the Loan Syndications and Trading Association and Securities Industry
and Financial Markets Association.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Big Boy Letter” means a letter from a Lender or prospective Lender acknowledging that (a) an
Affiliated Lender may have information regarding Holdings and its Subsidiaries, their ability to perform
the Obligations or any other material information that has not previously been disclosed to the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders (“Excluded Information”), (b) the Excluded Information may not
be available to such Lender, (c) such Lender has independently and without reliance on any other party
made its own analysis and determined to assign Loans to or buy Loans from, as the case may be, an
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Affiliated Lender pursuant to Section 10.07(1) notwithstanding its lack of knowledge of the Excluded
Information and (d) such Lender waives and releases any claims it may have against the Administrative
Agent, such Affiliated Lender, Holdings, Borrower and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates with respect to the
nondisclosure of the Excluded Information; or a letter otherwise in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to such Affiliated Lender and such assigning Lender.

“Board of Directors” means, as to any Person, the board of directors, board of managers or other
governing body of such Person, or if such Person is owned or managed by a single entity, the board of
directors, board of managers or other governing body of such entity, and the term “directors” means
members of the Board of Directors.

“Bona Fide Debt Fund” means any bona fide debt Fund, investment vehicle, regulated bank entity
or unregulated lending entity (other than any person separately identified as a Disqualified Lender in
accordance with clauses (a) and (b) of the definition of Disqualified Lender) that is (a) engaged in making,
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans or similar extensions of credit in the
ordinary course of business and (b) not managed, sponsored or advised by any person controlling, controlled
by or under common control with a Company Competitor or Affiliate thereof, as applicable, except to the
extent that no personnel involved with the investment in such Company Competitor or Affiliate thereof, as
applicable (i) makes (or has the right to make or participate with others in making) investment decisions on
behalf of such debt Fund, investment vehicle, regulated bank entity or unregulated lending entity or (ii) has
access to any information (other than information that is publicly available) relating to the Borrower, its
Subsidiaries or their respective businesses.

“Borrower” means (a) on the Closing Date and prior to the effective time of the Amalgamation,
the Initial Borrower and (b) from and including the effective time of the Amalgamation, the Company.

“Borrower Materials” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.02.

“Borrowing” means a borrowing consisting of Loans of the same Class and Type made, converted
or continued on the same date and, in the case of Eurocurrency Rate Loans and CDOR Rate Loans, having
the same Interest Period.

“Business Day” means (a) any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which
commercial banks are authorized to close under the Laws of, or are in fact closed in, New York, New York
and (b) solely to the extent that such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan,
any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or
any other dealings to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate
Loan, in each case prior to the effectiveness of a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to Section 3.08(a), a
day on which dealings in deposits are conducted by and between banks in the applicable London interbank
market; provided that, with respect to the following circumstances, no day shall be a Business Day unless
it a day that satisfies the foregoing definition and the following requirements, as applicable: if such day
relates to (x) any Loans denominated in Canadian Dollars or (y) payment or purchase of Canadian Dollars,
any day except Saturday, Sunday and any day which shall be in Toronto, Ontario a legal holiday or a day
in which banking institutions are authorized or required by law or other government action to close in
Toronto, Ontario.

“Canadian Defined Benefit Pension Plan” means each Canadian Pension Plan, other than a

Canadian Multi-Employer Plan, which contains a “defined benefit provision”, as such term is defined in
Section 147.1(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada).
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“Canadian Dollars” or “C$” means the lawful currency of Canada.

“Canadian Employee Benefit Laws” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), the Pension Benefits
Act (Ontario) or applicable federal or provincial pension benefits standards legislation in any Canadian
jurisdiction, and all relevant Regulations relating thereto, together with any law (statutory or common),
rule, regulation, guideline, directive, order or notice of any Canadian federal or provincial (or other political
subdivision thereof) Governmental Authority or any entity exercising executive, legislative, quasi-judicial,
regulatory or administrative functions pertaining to, having jurisdiction over or affecting any Canadian
Pension Plan or Canadian Multi-Employer Plan, in each case, to the extent having the force of law and, as
amended from time to time.

“Canadian Insolvency Laws” means any of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), the
Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the Winding-up and Restructuring Act (Canada), and
any other applicable insolvency or other similar law of Canada or any province or territory thereof relating
to bankruptcy, insolvency, assignments for the benefit of creditors, formal or informal moratoria,
compositions, compromises or extensions generally with creditors, or proceedings seeking reorganization,
recapitalization, arrangement, dissolution, liquidation, winding-up or other similar relief (including,
without limitation, the Canadian corporate statutes when relied upon in connection with any of the
foregoing) and includes, with respect to a Lender, the Bank Act (Canada).

“Canadian Multi-Employer Plan” means a “registered pension plan” as defined in subsection
248(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) that is a “multi-employer pension plan” within the meaning of the
Pension Benefits Act (Ontario) or applicable Canadian Employee Benefit Laws and to which any Borrower
is required to contribute pursuant to a collective agreement, trust agreement or participation agreement
which is not maintained or administered by a Borrower.

“Canadian Pension Event” means (a) the failure of a Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party
to make required contributions when due to any Canadian Pension Plan or Canadian Multi-Employer Plan
in accordance with its terms and Canadian Employee Benefit Laws; (b) a withdrawal by a Loan Party or a
Subsidiary of a Loan Party from a Canadian Defined Benefit Pension Plan or a Canadian Multi-Employer
Plan resulting in the full or partial wind-up of such Canadian Defined Benefit Pension Plan or Canadian
Multi-Employer Plan or resulting in either the imposition of withdrawal liability on any Loan Party or any
Subsidiary of a Loan Party, or notification to any Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party concerning
the imposition of any withdrawal liability; (c) the voluntary full or partial wind up of a Canadian Defined
Benefit Pension Plan by a Loan Party, or the filing of a notice of intent to terminate a Canadian Defined
Benefit Pension Plan with the Chief Executive Officer of the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of
Ontario, or a similar Governmental Authority of another provincial or federal jurisdiction; (d) the Chief
Executive Officer of the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario, or a similar Governmental
Authority instituting proceedings to terminate, in whole or in part, any Canadian Defined Benefit Pension
Plan or Canadian Multi-Employer Plan or causing a trustee to be appointed to administer any Canadian
Defined Benefit Pension Plan or Canadian Multi-Employer Plan; (e) a contribution failure in respect of
any Canadian Pension Plan or Canadian Multi-Employer Plan sufficient to give rise to a Lien, other than
any inchoate liens for amounts required to be remitted but not yet due; in each case in respect of this
subparagraph, which individually or in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect; (f) the establishment, maintenance, sponsorship, administration, contribution to,
participation in, or incurring any liability or contingent liability in respect of a new Canadian Defined
Benefit Pension Plan or a new Canadian Multi-Employer Plan which contains a “defined benefit provision”,
as such term is defined in Section 147.1(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) without the prior written
consent of the Administrative Agent, such consent not to be withheld conditioned or delayed unreasonably,
or (g) the amalgamation with any Person if such Person, sponsors, administers, contributes to, participates
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in or has any liability in respect of, any new Canadian Defined Benefit Plan or new Canadian Multi-
Employer Plan which contains a “defined benefit provision”, as such term is defined in Section 147.1(1) of
the Income Tax Act (Canada) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, such consent
not to be withheld, conditioned or delayed unreasonably.

“Canadian Pension Plan” means any “pension plan” or “plan” which is a “registered pension
plan” as defined in section 248(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) or is subject to the funding requirements
of applicable Canadian Employee Benefit Laws, except that the term Canadian Pension Plan does not
include a Canadian Multi-Employer Plan.

“Canadian Prime Rate” shall mean, on any day, the rate determined by the Revolving Agent to
be the higher of (i) the rate equal to the PRIMCAN Index rate that appears on the Bloomberg screen at
10:15 a.m. Toronto time on such day (or, in the event that the PRIMCAN Index is not published by
Bloomberg, any other information services that publishes such index from time to time, as selected by the
Revolving Agent in its reasonable discretion) and (ii) the average rate for thirty (30) day Canadian Dollar
bankers’ acceptances that appears on the Reuters Screen CDOR Page (or, in the event such rate does not
appear on such page or screen, on any successor or substitute page or screen that displays such rate, or on
the appropriate page of such other information service that publishes such rate from time to time, as selected
by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion) at 10:15 a.m. Toronto time on such day, plus
1.00% per annum. Any change in the Canadian Prime Rate due to a change in the PRIMCAN Index or the
CDOR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the PRIMCAN Index or
CDOR, respectively.

“Canadian Prime Rate Loan” shall mean each Revolving Loan which bears interest at a rate
based on the Canadian Prime Rate. All Canadian Prime Rate Loans shall be denominated in Canadian
Dollars.

“Canadian Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or
any province or territory thereof.

“Capital Expenditures” means, for any period, the aggregate of all expenditures (whether paid in
cash or accrued as liabilities and including in all events all amounts expended or capitalized under
Capitalized Leases) by the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries during such period that, in conformity
with GAAP, are or are required to be included as capital expenditures on the consolidated statement of cash
flows of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries.

“Capitalized Lease Obligation” means, at the time any determination thereof is to be made, the
amount of the liability in respect of a Capitalized Lease.

“Capitalized Leases” means all capital and finance leases that have been or are required to be, in
accordance with GAAP as in effect as of the Closing Date, recorded as capitalized leases and reflected as
a liability on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) prepared in accordance with GAAP as of
such date; provided that for all purposes hereunder the amount of obligations under any Capitalized Lease
shall be the amount thereof accounted for as a liability on a balance sheet in accordance with GAAP as in
effect on the Closing Date.

“Cash Collateral Account” means (i) with respect to the Revolving Facility or any Obligations
thereunder, a blocked account at the Revolving Agent or a commercial bank specified by the Revolving

Agent in the name of the Revolving Agent and, subject to any Applicable Intercreditor Agreement, under
the sole dominion and control of the Revolving Agent, and otherwise established in a manner reasonably
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satisfactory to the Revolving Agent and (ii) with respect to any Term Loan Facility or any Obligations
thereunder, a blocked account at the Administrative Agent or a commercial bank specified by the
Administrative Agent in the name of the Administrative Agent and, subject to any Applicable Intercreditor
Agreement, under the sole dominion and control of the Administrative Agent, and otherwise established in
a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

“Cash Collateralize” means, in respect of an Obligation, to provide and pledge (as a first priority
perfected security interest) cash collateral in Dollars or Canadian Dollars, as applicable, at a location and
pursuant to documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Revolving Agent, an Issuing
Bank or Administrative Agent, as applicable (and “Cash Collateralization” has a corresponding meaning).
“Cash Collateral” shall have a meaning correlative to the foregoing and shall include the proceeds of such
cash collateral.

“Cash Equivalents” means any of the following types of Investments, to the extent owned by the
Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary:

@) (i) Dollars and (ii) euros, Hong Kong dollars, Chinese renminbi, Indian rupees,
South African rand, British pounds sterling and Canadian Dollars held by the Borrower or any
Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business and not for speculation;

(b) securities issued or directly and fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by
the U.S. or Canadian government or any agency or instrumentality thereof the securities of which
are unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of such government with
maturities of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition;

(c) certificates of deposit, time deposits and eurodollar time deposits with maturities
of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition, demand deposits, bankers’ acceptances with
maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case with any domestic or
foreign commercial bank having capital and surplus of not less than $250,000,000 (or the foreign
currency equivalent thereof as of the date of such investment);

(d) repurchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in
clauses (b), (c), (f) and (g) entered into with any financial institution or recognized securities dealer
meeting the qualifications specified in clause (¢) above;

(e) commercial paper and variable or fixed rate notes rated at least P-2 by Moody’s or
at least A-2 by S&P (or, if at any time neither Moody’s nor S&P shall be rating such obligations,
an equivalent rating from another nationally recognized statistical rating agency) and in each case
maturing within 12 months after the date of creation thereof;

(f marketable short-term money market and similar funds having a rating of at least
P-2 or A-2 from either Moody’s or S&P, respectively (or, if at any time neither Moody’s nor S&P
shall be rating such obligations, an equivalent rating from another nationally recognized statistical
rating agency);

(o) readily marketable direct obligations issued by any state, commonwealth or
territory of the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or by any

province or territory of Canada or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof having an
investment grade rating from either Moody’s or S&P (or, if at any time neither Moody’s nor S&P
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shall be rating such obligations, an equivalent rating from another nationally recognized statistical
rating agency) with maturities of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition;

(h) readily marketable direct obligations issued by any foreign government or any
political subdivision or public instrumentality thereof, in each case having an investment grade
rating from either Moody’s or S&P (or, if at any time neither Moody’s nor S&P shall be rating such
obligations, an equivalent rating from another nationally recognized statistical rating agency) with
maturities of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition;

Q) Investments with average maturities of 12 months or less from the date of
acquisition in money market funds rated AAA- (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or Aaa3
(or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody’s (or, if at any time neither Moody’s nor S&P shall
be rating such obligations, an equivalent rating from another nationally recognized statistical rating

agency);

() securities with maturities of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition backed
by standby letters of credit issued by any financial institution or recognized securities dealer
meeting the qualifications specified in clause (¢) above;

(K) [reserved]; and

M investment funds investing at least 90% of their assets in securities of the types
described in the preceding clauses of this definition.

In the case of Investments by any Non-U.S. Subsidiary or Non-Canadian Subsidiary that is a
Restricted Subsidiary or Investments made in a country outside the United States or Canada, Cash
Equivalents shall also include (a) investments of the type and maturity described in this definition (other
than clause (h)) of foreign obligors, which Investments or obligors (or the parents of such obligors) have
ratings described in such clauses or equivalent ratings from comparable foreign rating agencies and (b)
other short-term investments utilized by Non-U.S. Subsidiaries or Non-Canadian Subsidiaries that are
Restricted Subsidiaries in accordance with normal investment practices for cash management in
investments analogous to the foregoing investments in clauses (a) through (1) and in this paragraph.

For the avoidance of doubt, any items identified as Cash Equivalents under this definition will be
deemed to be Cash Equivalents for all purposes regardless of the treatment of such items under GAAP.

“Cash Management Liabilities” shall have the meaning provided in the definition of “Treasury
Services Agreement”.

“Casualty Event” means any event that gives rise to the receipt by the Borrower or any Restricted
Subsidiary of any insurance proceeds or condemnation awards in respect of any equipment, fixed assets or
real property (including any improvements thereon) to replace or repair such equipment, fixed assets or real

property.

“CDOR Rate” shall mean on any day for the relevant Interest Period, the annual rate of interest
equal to the average discount rate applicable to Canadian Dollar Canadian bankers’ acceptances for the
applicable period that appears on the Refinitiv Screen Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (CDOR) Page or, in
the event such rate does not appear on such page or screen, on any successor or substitute page or screen
that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service that publishes such rate
from time to time, as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion, rounded to the
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nearest 1/100th of 1% (with .005% being rounded up) (the “CDOR Screen Rate”) at or about 10:15 a.m.
Toronto local time on the first day of such Interest Period and, if such day is not a business day, then on the
immediately preceding business day (as adjusted by Administrative Agent after 10:15 a.m. Toronto local
time to reflect any error in the posted discount rate or in the posted average annual discount rate); provided
that (x) if the CDOR Screen Rate shall be less than 1.00%, the CDOR Rate shall be deemed to be 1.00%
for the purposes of this Agreement and (y) if the CDOR Screen Rate is not available on the Reuters Screen
CDOR Page on any particular day, then the Canadian Dollar offered rate component of such rate on that
day shall be calculated as the Interpolated Rate as of such time on such day; or if such day is not a Business
Day, then as so determined on the immediately preceding Business Day.

“CDOR Rate Loan” shall mean each Revolving Loan denominated in Canadian Dollars which
bears interest at a rate based on the CDOR Rate.

“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
of 1980, as subsequently amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Change of Control” means the earliest to occur of:
@) after giving effect to the Transactions on the Closing Date, either:

(1 at any time prior to a Qualified IPO, the Permitted Holders cease to
beneficially own (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act or any
applicable Canadian securities legislation), in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, a
majority of the aggregate ordinary voting power for the election of directors necessary to
control the policies and procedures of Holdings represented by the issued and outstanding
Equity Interests of Holdings; or

(i) at any time after a Qualified IPO, any Person (other than a Permitted
Holder) or Persons (other than one or more Permitted Holders) constituting a “group” (as
such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act or any applicable
Canadian securities legislation, but excluding any employee benefit plan of such Person
and its Subsidiaries, and any Person acting in its capacity as trustee, agent or other fiduciary
or administrator of any such plan), becoming the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules
13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act or any applicable Canadian securities legislation),
directly or indirectly, of Equity Interests representing more than thirty-five percent (35%)
of the aggregate ordinary voting power for the election of directors necessary to control the
policies and procedures of Holdings represented by the then issued and outstanding Equity
Interests of Holdings and the percentage of aggregate ordinary voting power for the
election of directors necessary to control the policies and procedures of Holdings so held
is greater than the percentage of the aggregate ordinary voting power for the election of
directors necessary to control the policies and procedures of Holdings represented by the
Equity Interests of Holdings beneficially owned (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under
the Exchange Act or any applicable Canadian securities legislation), directly or indirectly,
in the aggregate by the Permitted Holders,

unless, in the case of either clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above, the Permitted Holders have, at such time,
the right or the ability, directly or indirectly, by voting power, contract or otherwise to elect or

designate for election at least a majority of the board of directors necessary to control the policies
and procedures of Holdings;

14

US-DOCS\127100939.8



(b) after giving effect to the Transactions on the Closing Date, Holdings ceases to own
100% of the Equity Interests of the Borrower; and

(c) a “change of control” (or similar event) occurs under the documentation in respect
of any Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary with an outstanding principal
amount in excess of the Threshold Amount.

“Class” when used in reference to (a) any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the
Loans comprising such Borrowing, are Initial Term Loans, Revolving Loans, Incremental Revolving
Loans, Incremental Term Loans, Refinancing Term Loans, Refinancing Revolving Loans, Extended Term
Loans or Extended Revolving Loans, (b) any Commitment, refers to whether such Commitment is a
Commitment in respect of Initial Term Loans, Revolving Loans or a Commitment in respect of a Class of
Loans to be made pursuant to an Incremental Amendment, a Refinancing Amendment or an Extension
Amendment and (c) any Lender, refers to whether such Lender has a Loan or Commitment with respect to
a particular Class of Loans or Commitments. Refinancing Term Commitments, Refinancing Revolving
Commitments, Refinancing Term Loans, Refinancing Revolving Loans, Incremental Loans and Extended
Loans that have different terms and conditions shall be construed to be in different Classes.

“Closing Date” means November 3, 2021, the first date on which all conditions precedent in
Section 4.02 are satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 10.03.

“Closing Date EBITDA” means C$16,347,000.
“Closing Date First Lien Net Leverage Ratio” means 2.45:1.00.

“Closing Date Refinancing” means the repayment in full of all third party Indebtedness of the
Target and its Subsidiaries with respect to which the Acquisition Agreement requires the delivery of a
payoff letter (such Indebtedness, the “Target Debt”), and termination and release of all commitments,
security interests and guarantees in connection therewith.

“Closing Date Secured Net Leverage Ratio” means 3.00:1.00.
“Closing Date Total Net Leverage Ratio” means 3.25:1.00.
“Closing Fees” means those fees required to be paid on the Closing Date pursuant to the Fee Letter.

“Co-Investor” means any of (a) the assignees, if any, of the equity commitments of the Sponsor,
who become, directly or indirectly, holders of Equity Interests in Holdings on the Closing Date in
connection with the Acquisition after giving effect to the Transactions to the extent reasonably acceptable
to the Administrative Agent and (b) the transferees, if any, that are identified to (and are reasonably
acceptable to) the Administrative Agent on or prior to the Closing Date (and as to which the Administrative
Agent shall have completed its customary “know your customer” due diligence on or prior to the date any
such transferee becomes a holder of such Equity Interests) and acquire, within forty-five (45) days of the
Closing Date, directly or indirectly, any Equity Interests in Holdings held by the Sponsor as of the Closing
Date after giving effect to the Transactions; provided that at the end of such forty-five (45) day period, the
Sponsor shall continue to collectively own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority of the voting Equity
Interests in the Borrower.

“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
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“Collateral” means (i) the “Collateral” as defined in the applicable Security Agreement, (ii) all the
“Collateral” (or similar term) as defined in any other Collateral Document and (iii) any other assets pledged
or inwhich a Lien is granted, in each case, pursuant to any Collateral Document; provided that the Collateral
shall not include any “Excluded Assets”.

“Collateral Agent” means Monroe, in its capacity as collateral agent or pledgee in its own name
under any of the Loan Documents, or any successor collateral agent.

“Collateral Documents” means, collectively, the Security Agreement, the Intellectual Property
Security Agreements, each of the Mortgages, the Collateral Assignment of R&W Insurance Policy,
collateral assignments, security agreements, pledge agreements, intellectual property security agreements,
deposit or securities account control agreements or other similar agreements (if any) delivered to the
Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent pursuant hereto, and each of the other agreements,
instruments or documents that creates or purports to create a Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent or
the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

“Collateral Assignment of R&W Insurance Policy” means , a New York or Ontario law
governed (or other governing law reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent) collateral assignment of
the R&W Insurance Policy in favor of the Collateral Agent, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to the Collateral Agent, and providing for payment to the Collateral Agent by the R&W Insurer (as defined
in the Acquisition Agreement as in effect on the date hereof) of all proceeds of the R&W Insurance Policy
upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.

“Commitment” means the Revolving Commitments and the Term Commitments.

“Committed Loan Notice” means a notice of (a) a Borrowing, (b) a conversion of Loans from one
Type to the other, or (c) a continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans and CDOR Rate Loans, pursuant to
Section 2.02(a), which, if in writing, shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1.

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commaodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.).

“Company” has the meaning given to such term in the Preliminary Statements to this Agreement.

“Company Competitor” has the definition given to such term in the definition of “Disqualified
Lender”.

“Compensation Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(c)(ii).

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit C-1.

“Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person for any Test Period, the
Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such Test Period:

@) increased, without duplication, by the following items of such Person and its
Restricted Subsidiaries for such Test Period, to the extent deducted (and not added back or
excluded) in the calculation of Consolidated Net Income) (other than clause (a)(xi), (a)(xvii),
(@)(xviii) and (a)(xx)):

(1) interest expense, including (A) imputed interest on Capitalized Lease
Obligations and Attributable Indebtedness (which, in each case, will be deemed to accrue
at the interest rate reasonably determined by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower to be
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the rate of interest implicit in such Capitalized Lease Obligations or Attributable
Indebtedness), (B) commissions, discounts and other fees, charges and expenses owed with
respect to letters of credit, bankers’ acceptance financing, surety and performance bonds
and receivables financings, (C) amortization and write-offs of deferred financing fees, debt
issuance costs, debt discounts, commissions, fees, premium and other expenses, as well as
expensing of bridge, commitment or financing fees, and (D) payments made in respect of
hedging obligations or other derivative instruments entered into for the purpose of hedging
interest rate risk; plus

(i) taxes based on gross receipts, income, profits, revenue or capital,
franchise, excise, property, commercial activity, sales, use, unitary or similar taxes, and
foreign withholding taxes; plus

(iii)  depreciation expense and amortization expense; plus

(iv) non-cash items (provided that (1) if any such non-cash item represents an
accrual or reserve for potential cash items in any future period, (A) the Borrower may
determine not to add back such non-cash item in the current Test Period and (B) to the
extent the Borrower decides to add back such non-cash expense or charge, the cash
payment in respect thereof in such future period will be subtracted from Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA in such future period and (2) non-cash items relating to a write-down,
write-off or reserve with respect to accounts and inventory shall be excluded); plus

(V) unusual, extraordinary, infrequent, or non-recurring items, whether or not
classified as such under GAAP; plus

(vi) charges, costs, losses, expenses or reserves related to: (A) restructuring
(including restructuring charges or reserves, whether or not classified as such under
GAAP), consolidation, integration or other similar items, (B) strategic and/or business
initiatives, business optimization (including costs and expenses relating to business
optimization programs, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include, without limitation,
implementation of operational and reporting systems and technology initiatives; strategic
initiatives; retention; systems establishment costs; systems conversion and integration
costs; contract termination costs; recruiting costs and expenses; costs, expenses and
charges incurred in connection with curtailments or modifications to pension and post-
retirement employee benefits plans; costs to start-up, pre-opening, opening, closure,
transition and/or consolidation of distribution centers, operations, officers and facilities)
including in connection with the Transactions and any Permitted Investment, any
acquisition or other investment consummated prior to the Closing Date and new systems
design and implementation, as well as consulting fees and any one-time expense relating
to enhanced accounting function, (C) business or facilities (including greenfield facilities)
start-up, opening, transition, consolidation, shut-down and closing, (D) signing, retention
and completion bonuses, (E) severance (other than in the ordinary course of business),
relocation or recruiting, (F) public company registration, listing, compliance, reporting and
related expenses, (G) charges and expenses incurred in connection with litigation
(including threatened litigation), any investigation or proceeding (or any threatened
investigation or proceeding) by a regulatory, governmental or law enforcement body
(including any attorney general); provided, that the aggregate amount added to
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA under this clause (a)(vi)(G) shall not exceed in any Test
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Period an amount equal to $1,000,000, and (H) expenses incurred in connection with
casualty events or asset sales outside the ordinary course of business; plus

(vii)  all (A) costs, fees and expenses relating to the Transactions, (B) costs, fees
and expenses (including diligence and integration costs) incurred in connection with (X)
investments in any Person, acquisitions of the Equity Interests of any Person, acquisitions
of all or a material portion of the assets of any Person or constituting a line of business of
any Person, and financings related to any of the foregoing or to the capitalization of any
Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary or (y) other transactions that are out of the ordinary
course of business of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries (in each case of clause (x)
and (y), including transactions considered or proposed but not consummated, but not to
exceed $1,000,000 in the aggregate in any Test Period with respect to such unconsummated
acquisitions and such unconsummated other transactions), including Permitted Equity
Issuances, Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, recapitalizations, mergers,
amalgamations, option buyouts and the incurrence, modification or repayment of
Indebtedness (including all consent fees, premium and other amounts payable in
connection therewith) and (C) non-operating professional fees, costs and expenses not to
exceed $500,000 in the aggregate in any Test Period; plus

(viii) items reducing Consolidated Net Income to the extent (A) covered by a
binding indemnification or refunding obligation or insurance to the extent actually paid or
reasonably expected to be paid, (B) paid or payable (directly or indirectly) by a third party
that is not a Loan Party or a Restricted Subsidiary (except to the extent such payment gives
rise to reimbursement obligations) or with the proceeds of a contribution to equity capital
of such Person by a third party that is not a Loan Party or a Restricted Subsidiary or
(C) such Person is, directly or indirectly, reimbursed for such item by a third party;
provided, that any amounts reasonably expected to be paid added back to Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA pursuant to clause (A) above and not so paid within 180 days of the
date of such determination shall be deducted from the calculation of Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA; plus

(ix) the amount of management, monitoring, consulting, transaction and
advisory fees (including termination fees) and related indemnities and expenses paid,
payable or accrued in such Test Period (including any termination fees payable in
connection with the early termination of management and monitoring agreements);
provided, that the aggregate amount added to Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA under this
clause (a)(ix) shall not exceed in any Test Period an amount equal to $500,000; plus

) the effects of purchase accounting, fair value accounting or
recapitalization accounting (including the effects of adjustments pushed down to such
Person and its Subsidiaries) and the amortization, write-down or write-off of any such
amount; plus

(xi) proceeds of business interruption insurance actually received; plus

(xii)  minority interest expense consisting of income attributable to Equity
Interests held by third parties in any non-wholly owned Restricted Subsidiary; plus

(xiii)  expenses, charges and losses resulting from the payment or accrual of
indemnification or refunding provisions, earn-outs and contingent consideration
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obligations; stay bonuses and other similar compensation paid to employees, directors or
consultants; and payments in respect of dissenting shares and purchase price adjustments,
in each case, made in connection with a Permitted Investment; plus

(xiv)  any net losses from disposed or discontinued operations; plus

(xv)  (A) fees, expenses or charges relating to curtailments or modifications to
pension and post-retirement employee benefit plans, any costs or expenses (including any
payroll taxes) incurred by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary in such Test Period
as a result of, in connection with or pursuant to any management equity plan, profits interest
or stock option plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or
any stock subscription, stockholders or partnership agreement and any payments in the
nature of compensation or expense reimbursement made to independent board members,
(B) expenses in connection with grants or sales of stock, stock appreciation or similar
rights, stock options, restricted stock, preferred stock or other similar rights to management
of Holdings (or any Parent Company of Holdings in connection with the ownership or
operation of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries); and (C) any charges, costs or
expenses incurred in connection with the rollover, acceleration or payout of Equity
Interests held by management of Holdings (or any Parent Company, the Borrower and/or
any Restricted Subsidiary); plus

(xvi)  the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles in accordance
with GAAP; plus

(xvii) addbacks reflected in (A) the financial model for the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries prepared by the Sponsors and delivered to the Lead Arrangers in connection
with the Transactions or a quality of earnings report delivered to the Administrative Agent
in connection with the Transactions or (B) any quality of earnings report prepared by a
nationally recognized accounting firm and furnished to the Administrative Agent, in
connection with an Acquisition Transaction, Permitted Investment or other Investment
consummated after the Closing Date; plus

(xviii) the amount of “run rate” cost savings, operating expense reductions and
other cost synergies that are projected by the Borrower in good faith to result from actions
taken, committed to be taken or expected to be taken no later than 15 months after the end
of such Test Period (which amounts will be determined by the Borrower in good faith and
calculated on a pro forma basis as though such amounts had been realized on the first day
of the Test Period for which Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA is being determined), net of
the amount of actual benefits realized during such Test Period from such actions; provided
that, in the good faith judgment of the Borrower such cost savings are reasonably
identifiable, reasonably anticipated to be realized and factually supportable (it being agreed
that any such determination need not be made in compliance with Regulation S-X or other
applicable securities law); plus

(xix)  the amount of fees, expense reimbursements and indemnities paid to
directors and/or members of advisory boards, including directors of Holdings or any other
Parent Company; provided, that the aggregate amount added to Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA under this clause (a)(xix) shall not exceed in any Test Period an amount equal to
$100,000; plus
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(xx)  other items as approved by the Administrative Agent from time to time;

(b) decreased, without duplication, by the following items of such Person and its
Restricted Subsidiaries for such Test Period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP (solely to the extent increasing Consolidated Net Income):

(M any amount which, in the determination of Consolidated Net Income for
such period, has been included for any non-cash income or non-cash gain, all as determined
in accordance with GAAP (provided that if any non-cash income or non-cash gain
represents an accrual or deferred income in respect of potential cash items in any future
period, such Person may determine not to deduct the relevant non-cash gain or income in
the then-current period); plus

(i) the amount of any cash payment made during such period in respect of any
non-cash accrual, reserve or other non-cash charge that is accounted for in a prior period
and that was added to Consolidated Net Income to determine Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA for such prior period and that does not otherwise reduce Consolidated Net Income
for the current period, plus

(iii)  any net income from disposed or discontinued operations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for each of the four full
fiscal quarters preceding the Closing Date shall be, in chronological order, C$1,925,000, C$3,394,000,
C$4,849,000, and C$6,179,000, in each case, subject to other pro forma adjustments permitted by the Credit
Agreement (including as necessary to give Pro Forma Effect to any Specified Transaction) and, without
duplication, adjustments pursuant to clause (a)(x)(viii) above and (2) the aggregate amount added to
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA under clause (a)(v), (a)(vi) (other than (x) clause (a)(vi)(E) thereof (but
solely to the extent not in the ordinary course of business and (y) (a)(vi)(G) thereof) and clause (a)(xviii)
above shall not exceed in any Test Period an amount equal to 25% of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for
such Test Period (after giving effect to any such adjustments).

To the extent the determination of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of any other Person is required in
connection with any Specified Transaction or Pro Forma calculations with respect thereto, the Borrower
shall determine the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of such Person in a manner consistent with this
definition but substituting such other Person and its Subsidiaries therein.

“Consolidated Current Assets” means, as of any date of determination, the total assets of the
Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis that may properly be classified as current
assets in conformity with GAAP, excluding cash and Cash Equivalents, amounts related to current or
deferred taxes based on income or profits, assets held for sale, loans (permitted) to third parties, pension
assets, deferred bank fees and derivative financial instruments, and excluding the effects of adjustments
pursuant to GAAP resulting from the application of recapitalization accounting or purchase accounting, as
the case may be, in relation to the Transactions or any consummated acquisition.

“Consolidated Current Liabilities” means, as at any date of determination, the total liabilities of
the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis that may properly be classified as
current liabilities in conformity with GAAP, excluding (a) the current portion of any Funded Debt, (b) the
current portion of interest, (c) accruals for current or deferred taxes based on income or profits, (d) accruals
of any costs or expenses related to restructuring reserves, (e) Revolving Loans and Letter of Credit
Obligations or any other revolving facility, (f) the current portion of any Capitalized Lease Obligation,
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(9) deferred revenue arising from cash receipts that are earmarked for specific projects, (h) liabilities in
respect of unpaid earn-outs and (i) the current portion of any other long-term liabilities, and, furthermore,
excluding the effects of adjustments pursuant to GAAP resulting from the application of recapitalization
accounting or purchase accounting, as the case may be, in relation to the Transaction or any consummated
acquisition.

“Consolidated Net Debt” means, as of any date of determination, (a) Consolidated Total Debt
minus (b) the aggregate amount of cash and Cash Equivalents of the Borrower and the Restricted
Subsidiaries as of such date that is not Restricted in an amount not to exceed the lesser of (1) C$10,000,000
and (2) the greater of (i) $5,000,000 and 25% multiplied by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as of
the applicable date of determination; provided that (a) commencing sixty (60) days after the Closing Date
(or such later date specified in clause (b) below, as applicable), (i) such cash and Cash Equivalents is held
in an account that is subject to a control agreement in favor of the Collateral Agent or (ii) solely with respect
to any account located in Canada, any such account is otherwise subject to a perfected first priority (subject
to Permitted Liens and any Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement) security interest in favor of the Collateral
Agent and (b) with respect to any such account opened or acquired after the Closing Date, the requirement
in the foregoing clause (a) shall be measured relative to the day that such account is opened or acquired.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any Person for any Test Period, the Net Income
of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP; provided that there shall be excluded from such Consolidated Net Income (to the extent otherwise
included therein), without duplication,

@) the Net Income for such Test Period of any Person that is not a Subsidiary, or is an
Unrestricted Subsidiary, or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting; provided that
the Borrower’s or any Restricted Subsidiary’s equity in the Net Income of such Person shall be
included in the Consolidated Net Income of the Borrower for such Test Period up to the aggregate
amount of dividends or distributions or other payments in respect of such equity that are actually
paid in cash (or to the extent converted into cash) by such Person to the Borrower or a Restricted
Subsidiary and attributable to the Net Income of such Person, in each case, in such Test Period, to
the extent not already included therein;

(b) solely with respect to the calculation of the Available Amount and Excess Cash
Flow, the Net Income of any Restricted Subsidiary of such Person during such Test Period to the
extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary of
that income is not permitted by operation of the terms of its Organization Documents or any
agreement, instrument or requirement of Law applicable to such Subsidiary during such Test
Period; provided that Consolidated Net Income of such Person shall be increased by the amount of
dividends or distributions or other payments that are actually paid to such Person or its Restricted
Subsidiaries and attributable to the Net Income of such Person; in respect of such Test Period,;

(c) any gain (or loss), together with any related provisions for taxes on any such gain
(or the tax effect of any such loss), realized by such Person or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries
during such Test Period upon any asset sale or other disposition of any Equity Interests of any
Person (other than any dispositions in the ordinary course of business) by such Person or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries;

(d) gains and losses due solely to fluctuations in currency values and the related tax
effects determined in accordance with GAAP for such Test Period;
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(e) (i) unrealized gains and losses with respect to Swap Contracts for such Test Period
and the application of Accounting Standards Codification 815 (Derivatives and Hedging) and
(i) any after-tax effect of income (or losses) for such Test Period that result from the early
extinguishment of (A) Indebtedness, (B) obligations under any Swap Contracts or (C) other
derivative instruments;

(f the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles and changes as a result
of the adoption or modification of accounting policies during such Test Period;

(9) after-tax gains (or losses) on disposal of disposed, abandoned or discontinued
operations for such Test Period,;

(h) effects of adjustments (including the effects of such adjustments pushed down to
such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries) in the inventory, property and equipment, software,
goodwill, other intangible assets, in-process research and development, deferred revenue, debt and
unfavorable or favorable lease line items in such Person’s consolidated financial statements
pursuant to GAAP for such Test Period resulting from the application of purchase accounting in
relation to the Transactions or any acquisition consummated prior to the Closing Date and any
Permitted Acquisition or other Investment, net of taxes, for such Test Period; and

(1 any non-cash compensation charge or expense for such Test Period, including any
such charge or expense arising from the grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options,
restricted stock or other rights and any cash charges or expenses associated with the rollover,
acceleration or payout of Equity Interests by, or to, management of such Person or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries in connection with the Transactions.

“Consolidated Total Debt” means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount
of third party Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries outstanding on such date,
determined on a consolidated basis and as reflected on the face of a balance sheet prepared in accordance
with GAAP (but excluding the effects of the application of purchase accounting in connection with the
Transactions, any Permitted Acquisition or any other Investment permitted hereunder), consisting of (i)
Indebtedness for borrowed money, (ii) unreimbursed obligations in respect of drawn letters of credit (to the
extent not cash collateralized), (iii) obligations in respect of Capitalized Leases and purchase money
obligations, (iv) debt obligations evidenced by bonds, promissory notes, debentures or other similar
instruments, (v) obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than (A) trade
accounts and accrued expenses payable in the ordinary course of business, (B) any Incentive Arrangement
obligation until such obligation becomes a liability on the balance sheet of the Borrower or any Restricted
Subsidiary in accordance with GAAP, (C) accruals for payroll, retirement obligations, workers
compensation and other liabilities accrued in the ordinary course of business, (D) purchase price holdbacks
in the ordinary course of business and (E) prepaid or deferred revenue in the ordinary course of business)
and (vi) Indebtedness of the type identified in clauses (i) through (v) above of a third Person that is
guaranteed by, or secured by a Lien on property owned by, the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary,
whether or not such Indebtedness shall have been assumed by such Person or is limited in recourse;
provided that Consolidated Total Debt will not include Indebtedness in respect of (a) any letter of credit,
except to the extent of unreimbursed obligations in respect of drawn letters of credit (provided that any
unreimbursed amount under commercial letters of credit will not be counted as Consolidated Total Debt
until three Business Days after such amount is drawn (it being understood that any borrowing, whether
automatic or otherwise, to fund such reimbursement will be counted)), (b) obligations under Hedge
Agreements, (c) purchase money obligations incurred in the ordinary course, trade payable and earn outs

22

US-DOCS\127100939.8



and similar obligations, (d) Indebtedness to the extent it has been cash collateralized and (e) any lease
obligations other than in respect of Capitalized Leases.

“Consolidated Working Capital” means, as of any date of determination, the excess of
Consolidated Current Assets over Consolidated Current Liabilities.

“Contract Consideration” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Excess Cash Flow.”

“Contractual Obligation” means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such
Person or of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it
or any of its property is bound.

“Contribution Indebtedness” means unsecured Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount at
the time of the incurrence thereof not to exceed an amount equal to 100% of the amount of any cash or
Cash Equivalent capital contributions or Net Proceeds from Permitted Equity Issuances received by the
Borrower during the period from and including the Business Day immediately following the Closing Date
through and including the date of determination and that are Not Otherwise Applied.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction
of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract
or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness” means secured or unsecured Indebtedness of the
Borrower in the form of term loans or notes or revolving commitments; provided that:

(@) such Indebtedness is incurred or otherwise obtained (including by means of the
extension or renewal of existing Indebtedness) in exchange for, or to extend, renew, replace, or
refinance, in whole or part, Indebtedness that is either (i) Term Loans, (ii) Revolving Commitments
or (iii) other Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness (“Refinanced Debt”);

(b) such Indebtedness is in an original aggregate principal amount not greater than the
principal amount of the Refinanced Debt being exchanged, extended, renewed, replaced or
refinanced (plus (i) the amount of all unpaid, accrued, or capitalized interest, penalties, premiums
(including tender premiums) and other amounts payable with respect to the Refinanced Debt and
(i) underwriting discounts, fees, commissions, costs, expenses and other amounts payable with
respect to such Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness);

(c) (i) the final maturity date of such Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness may
not be earlier than the final maturity date of the Refinanced Debt or, if such Credit Agreement
Refinancing Indebtedness is unsecured, 91 days after the Latest Maturity Date of the Term Loans
then outstanding, (ii) in the case of Refinancing Term Loans, the Weighted Average Life to
Maturity of such Indebtedness is equal to or longer than the remaining Weighted Average Life to
Maturity of the Refinanced Debt and (iii) in the case of Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness
secured on a junior basis or unsecured, such Indebtedness shall have no amortization;

(d) any mandatory prepayments (and with respect to any Credit Agreement
Refinancing Indebtedness comprising revolving loans, to the extent commitments thereunder are
permanently terminated) of,
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(M any Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness that comprises junior lien
or unsecured notes or loans may not be made except to the extent that prepayments are
(A) permitted hereunder and (B) to the extent required hereunder or pursuant to the terms
of any Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness that is secured on a pari passu basis to
the Loans, first made or offered to the Loans and any such Credit Agreement Refinancing
Indebtedness that is secured on a pari passu basis to the Loans; and

(i) any Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness that is secured on a pari
passu basis with the Term Loans shall be made on a pro rata basis or less than pro rata
basis with any corresponding mandatory prepayment of the Loans; provided this clause (ii)
will not prohibit any repayment of such Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness at
maturity or with the proceeds of other Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness;

(e) such Indebtedness is not guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Borrower other than
a Subsidiary Guarantor;

()] if such Indebtedness is unsecured and has an aggregate initial principal amount in
excess of the Unsecured Additional Debt Basket as of the applicable date of determination, such
Indebtedness shall be subject to a subordination agreement or other subordination arrangements the
terms of which are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent; and

(9) if such Indebtedness is secured:

() such Indebtedness is not secured by any assets or property of Holdings,
the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary that does not constitute (or become) Collateral
(subject to customary exceptions for cash collateral in favor of an agent, letter of credit
issuer or similar “fronting” lender);

(i) the security agreements relating to such Indebtedness are substantially
similar to or the same as the Collateral Documents (as determined in good faith by a
Responsible Officer of the Borrower);

(iii)  a Debt Representative acting on behalf of the holders of such Incremental
Equivalent Debt has become party to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, an
Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement; and

(iv) such Indebtedness is on terms and conditions that are substantially
identical to, or, taken as a whole, not materially more favorable to the lenders or holders
providing such Indebtedness than, those applicable to such Refinanced Debt, as determined
in good faith by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower in its reasonable judgment (except
(1) for terms and conditions applicable only to periods after the Latest Maturity Date of the
Term Loans at the time of incurrence and (2) any term or condition to the extent such term
or condition is also added for the benefit of the Lenders under the Term Loans); provided
that a certificate of a Responsible Officer delivered to the Administrative Agent at least
four (4) Business Days (or such shorter period as may be agreed by the Administrative
Agent) prior to the incurrence of such Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded,
replaced, renewed or extended, together with a reasonably detailed description of the
material covenants and events of default of such Indebtedness or drafts of the
documentation relating thereto, stating that the Borrower has determined in good faith that
such terms and conditions satisfy the requirement of this clause (iv) shall be conclusive
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evidence that such material covenants and events of default satisfy such requirement unless
the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower within such four (4) Business Day (or
shorter) period that it disagrees with such determination (including a description of the
basis upon which it disagrees); provided, further, that this clause (iv) will not apply to
(w) terms addressed in the preceding clauses (a) through (g)(iii), (X) interest rate, rate
floors, fees, funding discounts and other pricing terms, (y) redemption, prepayment or other
premiums, and (z) optional prepayment or redemption terms.

Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness will include any Registered Equivalent Notes issued in
exchange therefor.

“Cure Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a)(i).

“Debt Fund Affiliate” means

(@) any Affiliate of Sponsor that is a bona fide bank, debt fund, distressed asset fund,
hedge fund, mutual fund, insurance company, financial institution or an investment vehicle that is
engaged in the business of investing in, acquiring or trading commercial loans, Debt Securities and
similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of business, in each case, that is not organized
primarily for the purpose of making equity investments; and

(b) any investment fund or account of a Permitted Investor managed by third parties
(including by way of a managed account, a fund or an index fund in which a Permitted Investor has
invested) that is not organized or used primarily for the purpose of making equity investments;

in each case, with respect to which the applicable Sponsor or Permitted Investor does not directly
or indirectly possess the power to direct or cause the direction of the investment policies of such entity

“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, the Canadian Insolvency
Laws and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors,
moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization or similar debtor relief Laws of the
United States, Canada or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights
of creditors generally.

“Debt Representative” means, with respect to any series of Indebtedness, the providers of such
Indebtedness or the trustee, administrative agent, collateral agent, security agent or similar agent or
representative under the indenture or agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness is issued, incurred or
otherwise obtained, as the case may be.

“Debt Securities” means any indebtedness evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar
instruments, but excluding all statutory obligations, surety, stay, customs and appeal bonds, performance
bonds, completion guarantees and other obligations of a like nature.

“Declined Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b)(viii).

“Default” means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or that, with the giving
of any notice, the passage of time, or both, would be an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means (a) with respect to any Obligation other than overdue principal and interest,
an interest rate equal to (i) the Base Rate or the Canadian Prime Rate, as applicable, plus (ii) either (A) the
Applicable Rate applicable to any Revolving Loans that are Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime Rate Loans
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(if such other Obligations are payable to the Revolving Agent, any Revolving Lender or any Issuing Bank)
or (B) the Applicable Rate applicable to any Initial Term Loans that are Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime
Rate Loans (if such other Obligations are payable to the Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent or any
Term Lender), plus (iii) 2.0% per annum and (b) with respect to any overdue principal or interest, the
Default Rate shall be an interest rate equal to the interest rate (including the Applicable Rate then applicable
to Loans of such Class and Type) otherwise applicable to such Loan, plus 2.0% per annum, in each case to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable Laws.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.17(b), any Lender that:

@) has failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans, including participations in
respect of Letters of Credit, within two Business Days of the date such Loans were required to be
funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) and the Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination
that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together
with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not been satisfied,
or (ii) pay to the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable), any Issuing Bank
or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder (including in respect of
its participation in Letters of Credit) within two Business Days of the date when due,

(b) has notified the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) or any Issuing Bank in writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding
obligations hereunder, or has made a public statement to that effect (unless such writing or public
statement relates to such Lender’s obligation to fund a Loan hereunder and states that such position
is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition
precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing or
public statement) cannot be satisfied),

(c) has failed, within three Business Days after written request by the Administrative
Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) or the Borrower, to confirm in writing to the
Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) and the Borrower that it will comply
with its prospective funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a
Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the
Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) and the Borrower), or

(d) the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) or the Borrower
has received notification that such Lender has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has,
(i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, or (ii) had appointed for it a
receiver, custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or
similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets, including the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other state or federal regulatory authority acting in
such a capacity; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the
ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent
company thereof by a Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result
in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States
or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender
(or such Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or
agreements made with such Lender.
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Any determination by the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable)
that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under any one or more of clauses (a) through (d) above shall
be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a
Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 2.17(d)) upon delivery of written notice of such
determination to the Borrower, each Issuing Bank and each Lender (which written notice the
Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) will promptly provide upon making
such determination).

“Designated Equity Contribution” means any cash contribution to the common equity of
Holdings (or any other Parent Company) and/or any purchase or investment in an Equity Interest
of Holdings (or any other Parent Company) other than Disqualified Equity Interests.

“Designated Non-Cash Consideration” means the fair market value of any non-cash
consideration received by the Borrower or a Restricted Subsidiary in connection with a Disposition pursuant
to the General Asset Sale Basket that is designated as Designated Non-Cash Consideration pursuant to a
certificate of a Responsible Officer, setting forth the basis of such valuation (which amount will be reduced
by the fair market value of the portion of the non-cash consideration converted to cash within one hundred
eighty (180) days following the consummation of the applicable Disposition under the General Asset Sale
Basket).

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including
any sale leaseback transaction) of any property by any Person, including any sale, assignment, transfer or
other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims
associated therewith; provided that “Disposition” and “Dispose” shall not be deemed to include any
issuance of Equity Interests to any Person.

“Disqualified Equity Interests” means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of
any security or other Equity Interests into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or upon
the happening of any event or condition (a) matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than (i) solely for
Qualified Equity Interests and cash in lieu of fractional shares or (ii) solely at the direction of the issuer),
pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise (except as a result of a change of control or asset sale so
long as any rights of the holders thereof upon the occurrence of a change of control, asset sale or similar
event shall be subject to the prior repayment in full of the Loans and all other Obligations that are accrued
and payable and the termination of the Commitments), (b) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof
(other than (i) solely for Qualified Equity Interests and cash in lieu of fractional shares or (ii) as a result of
a change of control, asset sale or similar event so long as any rights of the holders thereof upon the
occurrence of a change of control or asset sale event shall be subject to the prior repayment in full of the
Loans and all other Obligations that are accrued and payable and the termination of the Commitments), (c)
provides for the scheduled payments of dividends in cash, or (d) is or becomes convertible into or
exchangeable for Indebtedness or any other Equity Interests that would constitute Disqualified Equity
Interests, in each case, prior to the date that is ninety-one (91) days after the Latest Maturity Date at the
time of issuance of such Equity Interests; provided that if such Equity Interests are issued pursuant to a plan
for the benefit of future, current or former employees, directors, or officers of Holdings, the Borrower or
the Restricted Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, directors or officers, such Equity
Interests shall not constitute Disqualified Equity Interests solely because they may be required to be
repurchased by Holdings, the Borrower or the Restricted Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory
or regulatory obligations or as a result of such employee’s, director’s or officer’s termination, death or
disability.

“Disqualified Lender” means:
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@) the competitors of the Borrower, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries
identified in writing by or on behalf of the Borrower (i) to the Arranger on or prior to the Closing
Date, or (ii) from time to time after the Closing Date to the Administrative Agent (any Person
described in this clause (a), a “Company Competitor”);

(b) those particular banks, financial institutions, other institutional lenders and other
persons identified in writing by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Arranger on or prior to the
Closing Date, and

(c) any affiliate of the entities described in the preceding clauses (a) or (b) (in each
case, other than any affiliate that are Bona Fide Debt Funds (except to the extent separately
identified under clause (a) above)), in each case, that are either reasonably identifiable as such on
the basis of their name or are identified as such in writing by or on behalf of the Borrower (i) to the
Arranger on or prior to the Closing Date, or (ii) after the Closing Date to the Administrative Agent
from time to time;

provided that (x) any Person that is a Lender and subsequently becomes a Disqualified Lender (but was not
a Disqualified Lender on the Closing Date or at the time it became a Lender) shall be deemed to not be a
Disqualified Lender hereunder with respect to any Loans held by it immediately prior to becoming a
Disqualified Lender and (y) any supplement to the preceding clauses (a) and (c) delivered to the
Administrative Agent on or after the Closing Date shall become effective two (2) Business Days after
receipt thereof. The Administrative Agent shall make the list of Disqualified Lenders available to any
Lender or prospective Lender upon request by such Lender or prospective Lender.

“Dollar” and “$” mean lawful money of the United States.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any
EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity
established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this
definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of
an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with
its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland,
Liechtenstein and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted
with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having
responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

“Eligible Assignee” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(a); provided that the following
Persons shall not be Eligible Assignees: (a) any Defaulting Lender, (b) any Specified Disqualified Lender
or (c) unless a Specified Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any Disqualified Lender (other
than a Specified Disqualified Lender).

“Environment” means indoor air, ambient air, surface water, groundwater, drinking water, land
surface, subsurface strata and natural resources such as wetlands, flora and fauna.

“Environmental Laws” means any applicable Law relating to pollution, protection of the
Environment and natural resources, pollutants, contaminants, or the generation, use, handling,

28

US-DOCS\127100939.8



transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of chemicals or any toxic or otherwise hazardous substances,
wastes or materials, or the protection of human health and safety as it relates to exposure to hazardous
substances, including any applicable provisions of CERCLA and state analogs or any comparable Canadian
environmental legislation.

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability
for damages, costs of investigation and remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of or relating to the
Loan Parties or any of their respective Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a)
violation of, or liability under or relating to, any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling,
transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous
Materials, (d) the actual or alleged presence, Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Materials or
(e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed by or
imposed on the Loan Parties or any of their respective Subsidiaries with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other
authorization required under any Environmental Law.

“Equity Contribution” means, the direct or indirect contribution to Holdings by the Sponsor, any
Co-Investor or members of management of the Target and its Subsidiaries of an aggregate amount of cash
and rollover equity (and Holdings will immediately cause such cash and rollover equity to be contributed
to the Borrower (and with all contributions to the Borrower to be in the form of common equity and/or
preferred equity; provided that any such preferred equity of the Borrower will be on terms reasonably
acceptable to the Arranger)) that represents not less than 65% (the “Minimum Equity Contribution”) of
the sum of (a) the aggregate principal amount of Initial Term Loans borrowed hereunder on the Closing
Date, and (b) the amount of such cash and fair market value of rollover equity contributed, in each case, on
the Closing Date; provided that, after giving effect to the Transactions on the Closing Date, the Sponsor
will own and control, directly or indirectly, a majority of the economic and voting Equity Interests of the
Borrower.

“Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares, interests, rights,
participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit
interests or units in) such Person and all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase, acquisition
or exchange from such Person of any of the foregoing (including through convertible securities).

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to
time.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with a
Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the
Code, or solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single
employer under Section 414(m) or (o) of the Code.

“ERISA Event” means (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) a withdrawal by
a Loan Party, any Restricted Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section
4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which it was a substantial employer (as defined in Section 4001(a)(2)
of ERISA) or a cessation of operations that is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA,
(c) a complete or partial withdrawal by a Loan Party, any Restricted Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate
from a Multiemployer Plan; (d) the filing by the PBGC of a notice of intent to terminate any Pension Plan,
or the treatment of a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan amendment as a termination under Sections 4041
or 4041A of ERISA, respectively; (e) appointment of a trustee to administer any Pension Plan or
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Multiemployer Plan; (f) with respect to a Pension Plan, the failure to satisfy the minimum funding standard
of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 or 303 of ERISA, whether or not waived; or (g) the imposition
of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other than for PBGC premiums due but not delinquent under
Section 4007 of ERISA, upon a Loan Party, any Restricted Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate.

“Erroneous Payment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.15(a).

“Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment” has the meaning assigned to it in Section

9.15(d)(i).

“Erroneous Payment Impacted Class” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.15(d)(i).

“Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.15(d)(i).

“Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.15(e).

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the
Loan Market Association (or any successor person), as in effect from time to time.

“Eurocurrency Rate” means:

Q) for any Interest Period with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the rate per
annum equal to (i) the ICE Benchmark Administration LIBOR Rate (“LIBOR?”), as published by
Reuters (or such other commercially available source providing quotations of LIBOR as may be
designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time) at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London,
England time) two (2) Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, adjusted
for statutory reserves, for Dollar deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with
a term equivalent to such Interest Period it being understood that, for the avoidance of doubt, the
Eurocurrency Rate with respect to the Initial Term Loans and the Revolving Facility shall be
deemed to be no less than 1.00%, or (ii) if such rate is not available at such time for any reason, the
rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent to be the rate at which deposits in Dollars
for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period in Same Day Funds in the approximate amount
of the Eurocurrency Rate Loan being made, continued or converted and with a term equivalent to
such Interest Period would be offered by major financial institutions reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent in the London interbank eurodollar market (it being agreed such rate shall be
customarily applied by the Administrative Agent to similarly situated borrowers) at their request at
approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two (2) Business Days prior to the
commencement of such Interest Period; and

(i) for any interest calculation with respect to a Base Rate Loan on any date, the rate
per annum equal to (i) LIBOR, at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) determined
two (2) Business Days prior to such date for Dollar deposits being delivered in the London
interbank market for a term of one month commencing that day or (ii) if such published rate is not
available at such time for any reason, the rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent
to be the rate at which deposits in Dollars for delivery on the date of determination in Same Day
Funds in the approximate amount of the Base Rate Loan being made or maintained and with a term
equal to one month would be offered by major financial institutions reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower in the London interbank eurodollar market at their request
at the date and time of determination.
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Rate.

“Eurocurrency Rate Loan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Eurocurrency

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01.
“Excess Cash Flow” means, for any period, an amount equal to the sum of:
@) the sum, without duplication, of

(1 Consolidated Net Income of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries for such
period, plus

(i) an amount equal to the amount of all non-cash charges (including depreciation and
amortization) for such period to the extent deducted in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income,
but excluding any such non-cash charges representing an accrual or reserve for potential cash items
in any future period and excluding amortization of a prepaid cash item that was paid in a prior

period, plus

(iii)  decreases in Consolidated Working Capital for such period (other than any such
decreases arising from acquisitions or dispositions (outside the ordinary course of business) by the
Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries completed during such period or the application of
purchase accounting or the reclassification of items from short term to long term or vice versa),

plus

(iv) an amount equal to the aggregate net non-cash loss on Dispositions by the
Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries during such period (other than Dispositions in the ordinary
course of business) to the extent deducted in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income, plus

(V) the amount deducted as tax expense in determining Consolidated Net Income to
the extent in excess of cash taxes paid in such period (including, without duplication, tax
distributions pursuant to Section 7.06(d)(ii)) and tax distribution reserves set aside or payable, plus

(vi) cash receipts in respect of Swap Contracts during such period to the extent not
otherwise included in such Consolidated Net Income; minus

(b) the sum, without duplication, of

(1 an amount equal to the amount of all non-cash credits included in arriving at such
Consolidated Net Income (but excluding any non-cash credit to the extent representing the reversal
of an accrual or reserve described in clause (a)(ii) above) and cash charges excluded by virtue of
clauses (a) through (k) of the definition of “Consolidated Net Income”, plus

(i) without duplication of amounts deducted pursuant to clause (b)(xi) below or this
clause (b)(ii) in prior periods, the amount of Capital Expenditures or acquisitions of Intellectual
Property made in cash during such period to the extent not financed with the proceeds of Funded
Debt, equity contributions or equity issuances, plus

(iii)  the aggregate amount of all principal payments of Indebtedness (including the
principal component of payments in respect of Capitalized Leases) of the Borrower and the
Restricted Subsidiaries to the extent such prepayments or repayments are not funded with the
proceeds of Funded Debt, equity contributions or equity issuances, excluding (A) all payments of
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Indebtedness described in Section 2.05(b)(i)(B)(i)-(ii) to the extent such payments reduce the
repayment of Term Loans that would otherwise be required by Section 2.05(b)(i), (B) all payments
of Indebtedness pursuant to and in accordance with Section 7.12(a)(v), and (C) any prepayment of
revolving loans to the extent there is not an equivalent permanent reduction in commitments
thereunder, plus

(iv) an amount equal to the aggregate net non-cash gain on Dispositions by the
Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries during such period (other than Dispositions in the
ordinary course of business) to the extent included in arriving at such Consolidated Net Income and
the net cash loss on Dispositions to the extent otherwise added to arrive at Consolidated Net
Income, plus

(v) increases in Consolidated Working Capital for such period (other than any such
increases arising from acquisitions or Dispositions by the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries
completed during such period, the application of purchase accounting or the reclassification of
items from short term to long term or vice versa), plus

(vi) cash payments by the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries actually made
during such period to the extent not financed with the proceeds of Funded Debt, equity
contributions or equity issuances in respect of any purchase price holdbacks, earn-out obligations,
long-term liabilities of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness) to
the extent such payments are not expensed during such period or are not deducted in calculating
Consolidated Net Income for such period (and so long as there has not been any reduction in respect
of such payments in arriving at Consolidated Net Income for such fiscal year), plus

(vii)  without duplication of amounts deducted pursuant to clauses (viii) and (xi) below
in prior periods, the amount of Permitted Investments made in cash during such period pursuant to
Section 7.02 ((e), (i) (only to the extent relying on clause (a) of the definition of Available Amount),
(@), (K), (O, (p) and (y)) to the extent that such Permitted Investments were not financed with the
proceeds of Funded Debt, equity contributions or equity issuances and excluding Investments in
Cash and Cash Equivalents, plus

(viii)  the amount of Restricted Payments actually paid in cash (and permitted to be paid)
during such period pursuant to Section 7.06 ((c), (d), (f) (only to the extent relying on clause (a) of
the definition of Available Amount), (h), (i), (j), (k), (I) and (n)) to the extent such Restricted
Payments were not financed with the proceeds of Funded Debt, equity contributions or equity
issuances, plus

(ix) the aggregate amount of expenditures actually made by the Borrower and its
Restricted Subsidiaries to the extent not financed with the proceeds of Funded Debt during such
period (including expenditures for the payment of financing fees) to the extent that such
expenditures are not expensed during such fiscal year or are not deducted in calculating
Consolidated Net Income (and so long as there has not been any reduction in respect of such
expenditures in arriving at Consolidated Net Income for such period), plus

) to the extent such were not deducted in calculating Consolidated Net Income for
such period, the aggregate amount of any premium, make-whole or penalty payments actually paid

in cash by Holdings, the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries during such period that are made
in connection with any prepayment of any principal of Indebtedness to the extent such prepayment
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of principal reduced Excess Cash Flow pursuant to clause (b)(iii) above or reduced the mandatory
prepayment required by Section 2.05(b)(i), plus

(xi) without duplication of amounts deducted from Excess Cash Flow in prior periods,
the aggregate consideration required to be paid in cash by the Borrower or any of the Restricted
Subsidiaries pursuant to binding contracts, commitments, or binding purchase orders (to the extent
not financed with the proceeds of Funded Debt, equity contributions or equity issuances, the
“Contract Consideration”) entered into prior to or during such period relating to Permitted
Acquisitions (or Investments similar to those made for Permitted Acquisitions), Capital
Expenditures or acquisitions of Intellectual Property to be consummated; provided that, to the
extent the aggregate amount actually utilized to finance such Permitted Acquisitions (or
Investments similar to those made for Permitted Acquisitions), Capital Expenditures or acquisitions
of Intellectual Property during any period is less than the Contract Consideration that reduced
Excess Cash Flow for the prior period, the amount of such shortfall shall be added to the calculation
of Excess Cash Flow for such period, plus

(xii)  the amount of cash taxes (including penalties and interest) paid or tax reserves set
aside or payable (without duplication) in such period, to the extent they exceed the amount of tax
expense deducted in calculating Consolidated Net Income for such period, plus

(xiii)  cash expenditures in respect of Swap Contracts during such period to the extent
not deducted in calculating Consolidated Net Income;

provided that (x) at the option of the Borrower, any item that meets the criteria of any subclause of
the preceding clause (b) after the end of the applicable period and prior to the applicable date of
calculation of Excess Cash Flow for such period may, at the Borrower’s option, be included in the
applicable period, but not in any calculation pursuant to the preceding clause (b) for the subsequent
calculation period if such election is made, and (y) notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Excess
Cash Flow and all components of thereof shall be computed for the Borrower and its Restricted
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and shall not be calculated on a pro forma basis for any
Permitted Acquisition or other Permitted Investments.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Exchange Rate” means, on any date with respect to any currency, the rate at which such currency
may be exchanged into any other currency, as set forth at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such
date on the applicable Bloomberg page for such currency. In the event that such rate does not appear on
any Bloomberg page, the Exchange Rate shall be determined by reference to such other publicly available
service for displaying the exchange rates as may be selected by the Administrative Agent, or, in the event
no such service is selected, such Exchange Rate shall instead be the arithmetic average of the spot rates of
exchange of the Administrative Agent in the market where its foreign currency exchange operations in
respect of such currency are then being conducted, at or about 10:00 a.m., local time, on such date for the
purchase of the relevant currency for delivery two Business Days later; provided that, if at the time of any
such determination, for any reason no such spot rate is being quoted, the Administrative Agent, after
consultation with the Borrower, may use any reasonable method that it deems appropriate to determine such
rate, and such determination shall be presumed correct absent manifest error.

“Excluded Assets” means any of the following assets or property:
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@) any asset (including, for the avoidance of doubt and to the extent applicable, any
asset subject to a Lien permitted under Section 7.01(e)) and any lease, license, franchise, charter,
authorization, contract or other agreement to which any Loan Party is a party, and any of its rights
or interest thereunder, in each case, to the extent that a security interest therein (i) is prohibited by
or in violation of any applicable Law; (ii) requires any governmental or regulatory consent,
approval, license or authorization that has not been obtained or (iii) is prohibited by or in violation
of a term, provision or condition of any such lease, license, franchise, charter, authorization,
contract or agreement to which such Loan Party is a party or requires consent of a third party that
is not a Loan Party or a Controlled Affiliate of a Loan Party that has not been obtained (and such
consent was not required for the primary purpose of circumventing this provision), except, in the
case of each of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), to the extent that such prohibition or
restriction would be rendered ineffective under the UCC, the PPSA or other applicable Law and
other than Proceeds thereof, the assignment of which is expressly deemed effective under the UCC,
the PPSA or other applicable Law notwithstanding such prohibition;

(b) any Excluded Equity Interests and any assets of any Excluded Subsidiary;

(©) with respect to any U.S. “intent to use” trademark application prior to the filing
and acceptance of a “Statement of Use” pursuant to Section 1(d) of the Lanham Act or an
“Amendment to Allege Use” pursuant to Section 1(c) of the Lanham Act with respect thereto, to
the extent, and solely during the period, if any, that granting a security interest therein would impair
the validity or enforceability of such trademark application or any registration that issues therefrom
under applicable U.S. federal law (it being understood that after such filing and acceptance such
intent-to-use application shall be automatically subject to the security interest granted herein and
deemed to be included in the Collateral);

(d) (i) any leasehold interest (including any ground lease interest) in real property, (ii)
any fee interest in owned real property other than Material Real Property, (iii) any real property (or
portion thereof) located in any area identified by FEMA as a “special flood hazard area” and (iv)
any Fixtures affixed to any real property to the extent (A) such real property does not constitute
Material Real Property or (B) a security interest in such Fixtures may not be perfected by the filing
of a UCC or a PPSA financing statement in the jurisdiction of organization of the applicable Loan
Party;

(e) motor vehicles and other assets subject to certificates of title or ownership to the
extent a security interest therein cannot be perfected solely by the filing of a UCC or a PPSA
financing statement in the jurisdiction of organization of the applicable Loan Party;

(f any (i) farm products, (ii) as-extracted collateral, (iii) manufactured homes, (iv)
health-care-insurance-receivables, (v) timber to be cut and (vi) aircraft engines, satellites, ships or
railroad rolling stock;

(9) any commercial tort claim with a recovery value (as reasonably determined by the
Borrower) of equal to or less than the greater of (i) 2.5% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and
(ii) 2.5% multiplied by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA,;

(h) any asset with respect to which the Administrative Agent has determined in
consultation with the Borrower that the costs of pledging, perfecting or maintaining the pledge in

respect of such Equity Interest exceeds the fair market value thereof or the practical benefit to the
Secured Parties afforded (or proposed to be afforded) thereby;

34

US-DOCS\127100939.8



(M any asset if the pledge thereof or the security interest therein would be reasonably
expected to result in a material adverse tax consequence to any Loan Party (or its Affiliates) as
agreed between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent;

() letter of credit rights to the extent a security interest therein cannot be perfected by
the filing of a UCC-1 or a PPSA financing statement in the jurisdiction of organization of the
applicable Loan Party;

(K) (i) any zero balance disbursement accounts, payroll accounts, benefit accounts,
withholding tax accounts, escrow accounts, customs accounts, insurance impress accounts or
fiduciary accounts and (ii) any accounts used solely for compliance with applicable legal
requirements, to the extent such legal requirements prohibit the granting of a lien thereon;

() any “consumer goods” (as defined in the PPSA) of any Loan Party that is a
Canadian Subsidiary;

(m) any lease or sublease of real property or any agreement for a lease or sublease of
real property, now held or hereafter acquired by any Grantor on the last day of the term of any of
the foregoing, provided such Grantor will stand possessed of any such last day upon trust to assign
and dispose of it as the Collateral Agent may reasonably direct after the occurrence and during the
continuance of an Event of Default; and

(n) proceeds from any and all of the foregoing assets described in the preceding
clauses (a) through (m) to the extent such proceeds would otherwise be excluded pursuant to such
clauses.

“Excluded Equity Interests” means:
@) [reserved];

(b) any Equity Interest in any Subsidiary that is held directly or indirectly by any
Excluded Subsidiary;

(c) any Equity Interest in any Unrestricted Subsidiary;

(d) any Equity Interest in any Joint Venture or any non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary to
the extent (i) not permitted by the terms of the Organization Documents, Joint Venture documents
or other relevant equityholders’ agreements with respect to such Equity Interests or requires the
consent of a third party that is not a Loan Party or a Controlled Affiliate of a Loan Party (including
any resolution of the majority of unaffiliated members of the applicable Board of Directors) (and
such consent was not required for the primary purpose of circumventing this provision) except to
the extent that such prohibition or restriction would be rendered ineffective under the UCC, the
PPSA or other applicable Law;

(e) any Equity Interest to the extent that a security interest therein (i) is prohibited by
or in violation of any applicable Law, (ii) requires any governmental or regulatory consent,
approval, license or authorization that has not been obtained or (iii) requires consent of a third party
that is not a Loan Party or a Controlled Affiliate of a Loan Party that has not been obtained (and
such consent was not required for the primary purpose of circumventing this provision), except, in
the case of each of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) or (iii), to the extent that such prohibition,
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restriction or requirement would be rendered ineffective under the UCC, PPSA or other applicable
Law;

U] any margin stock;

(9) any Equity Interest if the pledge thereof or the security interest therein would be
reasonably expected to result in a material adverse tax consequence to any Loan Party (or its
Affiliates) as agreed between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent; and

(h) any Equity Interest with respect to which the Administrative Agent has determined
in consultation with the Borrower that the costs of pledging, perfecting or maintaining the pledge
in respect of such Equity Interest exceeds the fair market value thereof or the practical benefit to
the Secured Parties afforded (or proposed to be afforded) thereby.

“Excluded Real Estate Assets” means, with respect to any Loan Party, (a) any fee interest in
owned real property not constituting Material Real Property, (b) any leasehold interest (including any
ground lease interest) in real property, and (c) any fixtures affixed to any Real Property to the extent (i)
such Real Property constitutes an Excluded Asset and/or (ii) such Real Property is not otherwise an
Excluded Asset and a security interest in such fixtures may not be perfected by a UCC-1 or PPSA financing
statement in the jurisdiction of organization of the applicable Loan Party.

“Excluded Subsidiary” means (a) any Subsidiary that is not a wholly owned Subsidiary of the
Borrower or a Guarantor, (b) any Immaterial Subsidiary, (c) any Subsidiary that is prohibited or restricted
by applicable Law from providing a Guaranty or by any Contractual Obligations to third parties existing
on the Closing Date (or, in the case of any newly acquired Subsidiary, in existence at the time of acquisition
but not entered into or created in contemplation thereof and only for so long as such prohibition or restriction
exists) from providing a Guaranty (provided that such Contractual Obligation is not entered into by the
Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries principally for the purpose of qualifying as an “Excluded
Subsidiary” under this definition) or if such Guaranty would require governmental (including regulatory)
or third party consent, approval, license or authorization (unless such consent, approval, license or
authorization has been obtained; it being understood that no Loan Party shall have any obligation to procure
any such consent, approval, license or authorization), (d) any other Subsidiary with respect to which the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent have mutually determined that the burden or cost or other
consequences of providing a Guarantee shall outweigh the benefits to be obtained by the Lenders therefrom,
(e) any Subsidiary with respect to which the Borrower has reasonably determined in consultation with the
Administrative Agent the provision of a Guarantee would reasonably be expected to result in a material
adverse tax consequence, (f) any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Borrower that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary
and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary, (g) any not-for-profit Subsidiaries, (h) any Unrestricted Subsidiaries, (i)
[reserved], (j) any U.S. Subsidiary or Canadian Subsidiary that is a direct or indirect Subsidiary of a
Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary, (k) any captive insurance
Subsidiaries and (l) any special purpose securitization entities used for securitization facilities; provided
that the Borrower, in its sole discretion (or in the case of any Non-U.S. Subsidiary (other than any
Subsidiary organized under the laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof), with the consent of the
Administrative Agent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), may cause any Subsidiary
that qualifies as an Excluded Subsidiary to become a Guarantor in accordance with the definition thereof
(subject to completion of “know your customer” and similar requirements of the Administrative Agent) and
thereafter such Subsidiary shall not constitute an “Excluded Subsidiary” (unless and until the Borrower
elects, in its sole discretion, to designate (or redesignate, as applicable) such Persons as an Excluded
Subsidiary; provided further, that any such designation (or redesignation, as applicable) shall be treated as
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an Investment pursuant to Section 7.02 and shall be permitted solely to the extent such designation is
permitted as an Investment under Section 7.02).

“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Guarantor, (a) any Swap Obligation if,
and to the extent that, all or a portion of the Guaranty of such Guarantor of, or the grant by such Guarantor
of a Lien to secure, such Swap Obligation (or any Guaranty thereof) is or becomes illegal under the
Commodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) (i) by virtue of such Guarantor’s failure for any
reason to constitute an “eligible contract participant,” as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act and the
regulations thereunder (determined after giving effect to Section 11.11 and any other applicable agreement
for the benefit of such Guarantor and any and all applicable guarantees of such Guarantor’s Swap
Obligations by other Loan Parties), at the time the guarantee of (or grant of such security interest by, as
applicable) such Guarantor becomes or would become effective with respect to such Swap Obligation or
(i) in the case of a Swap Obligation that is subject to a clearing requirement pursuant to section 2(h) of the
Commodity Exchange Act, because such Guarantor is a “financial entity,” as defined in section 2(h)(7)(C)
of the Commodity Exchange Act, at the time the guarantee of (or grant of such Lien by, as applicable) such
Guarantor becomes or would become effective with respect to such Swap Obligation or (b) any other Swap
Obligation designated as an “Excluded Swap Obligation” of such Guarantor as specified in any agreement
between the relevant Loan Parties and the Approved Counterparty applicable to such Swap Obligations. If
a Swap Obligation arises under a master agreement governing more than one Swap, such exclusion shall
apply only to the portion of such Swap Obligation that is attributable to the Swap for which such guarantee
or Lien is or becomes excluded in accordance with the first sentence of this definition.

“Excluded Taxes” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Indemnified Taxes.

“Extended Commitments” means the Extended Revolving Commitments and Extended Term
Commitments.

“Extended Loans” means the Extended Revolving Loans and the Extended Term Loans.

“Extended Revolving Commitments” means the Revolving Commitments held by any Extending
Lender.

“Extended Revolving Loans” means the Revolving Loans made pursuant to Extended Revolving
Commitments.

“Extended Term Commitments” means the Term Commitments held by any Extending Lender.
“Extended Term Loans” means the Term Loans made pursuant to Extended Term Commitments.
“Extending Lender” means each Lender accepting an Extension Offer.

“Extension” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).

“Extension Amendment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).

“Extension Offer” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).

“Facility” means the Initial Term Loans (which, to the extent practicable, shall constitute a single
“Facility” hereunder), any Incremental Term Loans, any Refinancing Term Loans, any Extended Term

37

US-DOCS\127100939.8



Loans, the Revolving Facility, any Refinancing Revolving Commitments and Extended Revolving
Commitments, as the context may require.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or
any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to
comply with), any current or future regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof, any
agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation,
rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among
Governmental Authorities and implementing such Sections of the Code.

“FCPA” means the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended or modified
from time to time.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of
the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System on such day,
as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York; provided
that (a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such
transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and
(b) if no such rate is so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for the
day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by it.

“Fee Letter” means that certain Fee Letter, dated as of the date hereof, by and among Monroe
Capital Management Advisors, LLC and the Initial Borrower.

“Financial Covenant” means the covenant set forth in Section 7.10. For any date of determination
prior to the date on which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(b) for the first
full fiscal quarter ended after the Closing Date, the maximum Total Net Leverage Ratio shall be deemed to
be the same as the Financial Covenant applicable to the Test Period ending on February 28, 2022.

“Financial Model” means the Sponsor’s financial model dated October, 2021 and delivered to
Monroe Capital LLC prior to the Closing Date.

“Financial Statements” means the Financial Statements (as defined in the Acquisition
Agreement).

“FIRREA” means the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989, as
amended.

“First Lien Net Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Test Period, the ratio of
(a) Consolidated Net Debt that is secured by a Lien on any assets of the Borrower or any of its Restricted
Subsidiaries that ranks senior to or pari passu with the Liens securing the Obligations under the Initial Term
Loans outstanding as of the last day of such Test Period to (b) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the
Borrower for such Test Period, all of the foregoing determined on a Pro Forma Basis.

“Fixed Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(c).
“Fixed Incremental Amount” means, as of the date of measurement, the sum of:

@) the greater of (i) C$16,347,000 and (ii) 100% multiplied by TTM Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA as of the applicable date of determination, plus
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(b) the aggregate principal amount of (1) voluntary prepayments, redemptions and
repurchases (including amounts paid pursuant to (i) “yank-a-bank” provisions (to the extent such
debt is retired rather than assigned) and (ii) to the extent actually paid in cash, acquisitions below
par (based on the purchase price therefor)) of Term Loans, or (2) repayments of Revolving Loans
(with a corresponding permanent commitment reduction), in each case, except to the extent such
prepayments were funded with the proceeds of Funded Debt, a Permitted Equity Issuance or a
contribution to the equity of the Borrower, less

(c) the sum of, without duplication, the initial aggregate principal amount (without
double-counting) of all Incremental Equivalent Debt previously incurred or issued in reliance on
the Fixed Incremental Amount (after giving effect to any reclassification of any Incremental
Revolving Commitments, Incremental Term Facilities or Incremental Equivalent Debt, as having
been incurred in reliance on the Ratio Amount).

“Flood Hazard Property” means any improved Material Real Property located in an area
designated by the Federal Emergency Management Agency as having special flood or mudslide hazards.

“Flood Laws” means, collectively, (i) the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 as now or hereafter
in effect or any successor statute thereto, (ii) the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 as now or hereafter
in effect or any successor statue thereto, (iii) the National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994 as now or
hereafter in effect or any successor statute thereto and (iv) the Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2004 as now
or hereafter in effect or any successor statute thereto.

“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

“Fronting Exposure” means, at any time there is a Defaulting Lender, with respect to the Issuing
Banks, such Defaulting Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the outstanding Letters of Credit Obligations other than
such Obligations as to which such Defaulting Lender’s participation obligation has been reallocated to other
Lenders or Cash Collateralized in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing,
holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course.

“Funded Debt” means all Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries for
borrowed money that matures more than one year from the date of its creation or matures within one year
from such date that is renewable or extendable, at the option of such Person, to a date more than one year
from such date or arises under a revolving credit or similar agreement that obligates the lender or lenders
to extend credit during a period of more than one year from such date, including Indebtedness in respect of
the Loans.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect from time to time, including
accounting standards for private enterprises or international financial reporting standards, as applicable,
and as set out in the CPA Canada Handbook — Accounting at the relevant time applied on a consistent basis;
provided, however, that (i) if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower requests an
amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the Closing Date
in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent
notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such
purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the
application thereof (including through the adoption of IFRS), then such provision shall be interpreted on
the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective
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until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith, (ii) GAAP
shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without
giving effect to any election under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 825 (or any other comparable standard having a similar result or effect) to value any
Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries at “fair value,” as defined therein,
and Indebtedness shall be measured at the aggregate principal amount thereof, and (iii) the accounting for
operating leases and capital leases under GAAP as adopted by the Company and in effect on the date hereof
shall apply for the purposes of determining compliance with the provisions of this Agreement, including
the definition of Capitalized Leases and obligations in respect thereof.

“General Asset Sale Basket” has the meaning specified in Section 7.05(f).

“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state, province, territory or
other political subdivision thereof, any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court,
administrative tribunal, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing,
regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government, including any supra-
national bodies (such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“Granting Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(i).

“Guarantee” means, as to any Person, without duplication, (a) any obligation, contingent or
otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or
other monetary obligation payable or performable by another Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner,
whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of such Person, direct or indirect, (i) to purchase
or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other monetary
obligation, (ii) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the obligee
in respect of such Indebtedness or other monetary obligation of the payment or performance of such
Indebtedness or other monetary obligation, (iii) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other
financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the primary obligor so as to
enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other monetary obligation, or (iv) entered into for
the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee in respect of such Indebtedness or other monetary
obligation of the payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof
(in whole or in part), or (b) any Lien on any assets of such Person securing any Indebtedness or other
monetary obligation of any other Person, whether or not such Indebtedness or other monetary obligation is
assumed by such Person (or any right, contingent or otherwise, of any holder of such Indebtedness to obtain
any such Lien); provided that the term “Guarantee” shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit,
in either case in the ordinary course of business, or customary and reasonable indemnity obligations in
effect on the Closing Date or entered into in connection with any acquisition or disposition of assets
permitted under this Agreement (other than such obligations with respect to Indebtedness). The amount of
any Guarantee shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the related
primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such Guarantee is made or, if not stated or
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by the
guaranteeing Person in good faith. The term “Guarantee” as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

“Guaranteed Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.01.
“Guarantors” means, collectively, (i) prior to the consummation of the Acquisition, Holdings, and
(ii) from and after the consummation of the Acquisition, Holdings and each other Person that executes a

counterpart to this Agreement (or a Joinder Agreement, as applicable) as a “Guarantor” or “Subsidiary
Guarantor” on the Closing Date or thereafter in accordance herewith.
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“Guaranty” means, collectively, the guaranty of the Obligations by the Guarantors pursuant to (a)
with respect to any Loan Party that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or any province or territory
thereof, that certain Guarantee dated as of the Closing Date, by and among Holdings, the Borrower, certain
Canadian Subsidiaries of the Borrower from time to time party thereto and the Administrative Agent and
(b) with respect to any Loan Party that is organized under the Laws of the United States, any state thereof
or the District of Columbia, if any, this Agreement or, in each case, such other form as may be agreed from
time to time by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower.

“Hazardous Materials” means all hazardous or toxic materials, pollutants, contaminants,
chemicals, compounds, constituents, substances or wastes, including petroleum or petroleum distillates,
asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead, radon gas, pesticides,
fungicides, fertilizers, urea formaldehyde, mycotoxins, mold, or mold spores, or per- and polyfluoroalkyl
substances that are regulated pursuant to, or which would give rise to liability under, applicable
Environmental Law.

“Holdings” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Committee
from time to time, and any successor standards or bodies thereto.

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower other than a Material Subsidiary.

“Incentive Arrangements” means any (a) earn-out arrangements, (b) share or stock appreciation
rights, (c) “phantom” share or stock plans, (d) non-competition agreements and (e) other incentive and
bonus plans entered into by any Parent Company, Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary for the benefit of,
and in order to retain, executives, officers or employees of persons or businesses in connection with the
Transactions or with the Permitted Acquisitions or other Investments of such Person or business after the
Closing Date.

“Incremental Amendment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(e).
“Incremental Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(c).

“Incremental Equivalent Debt” means secured or unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower in the
form of term loans or notes; provided that, at the time of incurrence thereof:

@) such Indebtedness constitutes Junior Lien Debt or unsecured Indebtedness;

(b) the aggregate principal amount of all Incremental Equivalent Debt on any date
such Indebtedness is incurred shall not, together with any Incremental Revolving Facilities and/or
Incremental Term Facilities then outstanding, exceed the Incremental Amount;

(c) such Indebtedness shall not mature prior to the date that is 91 days following the
Latest Maturity Date of the Initial Term Loans or have scheduled amortization prior to the Latest
Maturity Date of the Initial Term Loans;

(d) any mandatory prepayments of any Incremental Equivalent Debt may not be made
except to the extent that such prepayments are offered (to the extent required pursuant to the terms
of the Initial Term Loans and any other Pari Passu Lien Debt), first pro rata to the Initial Term
Loans and any other Pari Passu Lien Debt;
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(e) such Incremental Equivalent Debt shall not be incurred or guaranteed by any
Person other than the Borrower and the Guarantors (except any such Person incurring or
guaranteeing such Incremental Equivalent Debt that also incurs or guarantees the Term Loans);

()] to the extent secured (A) such Incremental Equivalent Debt shall not be secured
by any Lien on any assets or property that does not constitute Collateral (except (1) customary cash
collateral in favor of an agent, letter of credit issuer or similar “fronting” lender, and (2) any Liens
on property or assets to the extent that a Lien on such property or asset is also added for the benefit
of the Lenders under the Term Loans or Revolving Loans, as applicable) and (B) a Debt
Representative acting on behalf of the holders of such Incremental Equivalent Debt has become
party to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, an Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement;

(9) to the extent (i) subordinated in right of payment to the Initial Term Loans and the
Revolving Facility or (ii) unsecured and having an aggregate initial principal amount in excess of
the Unsecured Additional Debt Basket as of the applicable date of determination, a Debt
Representative acting on behalf of the holders of such Incremental Equivalent Debt has become
party to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, a subordination agreement or other
subordination arrangements the terms of which are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Agent;

(h) [reserved]; and

(1) any Incremental Equivalent Debt shall be on terms and conditions that are
substantially identical to, or, taken as a whole, not materially more favorable to the lenders or
holders providing such Indebtedness than those applicable to the Initial Term Loans, as determined
in good faith by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower in its reasonable judgment (except (1) for
terms and conditions applicable only to periods after the Latest Maturity Date of the Term Loans
at the time of incurrence and (2) any term or condition to the extent such term or condition is also
added for the benefit of the Lenders under the Term Loans); provided that a certificate of a
Responsible Officer delivered to the Administrative Agent at least four (4) Business Days (or such
shorter period as may be agreed by the Administrative Agent) prior to the incurrence of such
Incremental Equivalent Debt, together with a reasonably detailed description of the material
covenants and events of default of such Indebtedness or drafts of the documentation relating
thereto, stating that the Borrower has determined in good faith that such terms and conditions
satisfy the requirement of this clause (i) shall be conclusive evidence that such material covenants
and events of default satisfy such requirement unless the Administrative Agent notifies the
Borrower within such four (4) Business Day (or shorter) period that it disagrees with such
determination (including a description of the basis upon which it disagrees)); provided further, that
this clause will not apply to (x) terms addressed in the other clauses of this definition, (y) interest
rate, rate floors, fees, funding discounts and other pricing terms and (z) optional prepayment or
redemption terms, including any premiums related thereto.

Incremental Equivalent Debt will be deemed to include any Registered Equivalent Notes issued in exchange
therefor.

“Incremental Facility” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incremental Loan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“Incremental Revolving Commitments” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
42

US-DOCS\127100939.8



“Incremental Revolving Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incremental Revolving Facilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incremental Term Commitments” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incremental Term Facilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incremental Term Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“Incurred Acquisition Ratio Debt” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.03(k).

“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person at a particular time, without duplication, all of the
following:

@) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money;

(b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, loan
agreements or other similar instruments (other than bonds or instruments of the type described in
clause (e) of this definition);

(c) all Attributable Indebtedness;

(d) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or
services (other than (i) trade accounts and accrued expenses payable in the ordinary course of
business, (ii) any Incentive Arrangement obligation until such obligation becomes a liability on the
balance sheet of such Person in accordance with GAAP, (iii) accruals for payroll, retirement
obligations, workers compensation and other liabilities accrued in the ordinary course of business,
(iv) purchase price holdbacks in the ordinary course of business and (v) prepaid or deferred revenue
in the ordinary course of business);

(e) net obligations of such Person under any Swap Contract;

()] the maximum amount (after giving effect to any prior drawings or reductions
which may have been reimbursed) of all outstanding letters of credit (including standby and
commercial), bankers’ acceptances, bank guaranties, surety bonds, performance bonds and similar
instruments issued or created by or for the account of such Person;

9) all obligations of such Person in respect of Disqualified Equity Interests; and

(h) indebtedness of the type identified in clause (a) through (g) above of a third Person
that (i) is guaranteed by such Person or (ii) secured by a Lien on property owned by such Person,
whether or not such indebtedness shall have been assumed by such Person or is limited in recourse;

in each case of clauses (a) through (h), if and to the extent that the foregoing would constitute indebtedness
or a liability that would appear on a balance sheet of the Borrower in accordance with GAAP; provided that
Indebtedness of any Parent Company (other than Holdings) appearing upon the balance sheet of the
Borrower solely by reason of push-down accounting under GAAP shall be excluded.

For all purposes hereof, the Indebtedness of any Person shall (A) include the Indebtedness of any
partnership or joint venture (other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or limited liability
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company) in which such Person is a general partner or a joint venturer, except to the extent such Person’s
liability for such Indebtedness is otherwise expressly limited and only to the extent such Indebtedness would
be included in the calculation of Consolidated Total Debt and (B) exclude obligations under or in respect
of operating leases or sale lease-back transactions (except any resulting Capitalized Lease Obligations).
The amount of any net obligation under any Swap Contract on any date shall be deemed to be the Swap
Termination Value thereof as of such date. The amount of Indebtedness of any Person for purposes of
clause (h) above shall be deemed to be equal to the lesser of (x) the aggregate unpaid amount of such
Indebtedness and (y) the fair market value of the property encumbered thereby as determined by such
Person in good faith. Notwithstanding anything in this definition to the contrary, Indebtedness shall be
calculated without giving effect to the effects of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification 815 and related interpretations to the extent such effects would otherwise increase
or decrease an amount of Indebtedness for any purpose hereunder as a result of accounting for any
embedded derivatives created by the terms of such Indebtedness.

“Indemnified Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.05.

“Indemnified Taxes” means all Taxes imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on
account of any obligation of a Loan Party under any Loan Document, other than any of the following Taxes
imposed on or with respect to any Agent or any Lender or required to be withheld or deducted from a
payment to any Agent or any Lender: (i) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income, however
denominated, branch profits Taxes and franchise (and similar) Taxes imposed by a jurisdiction (A) as a
result of such recipient being organized in or having its principal office (or, in the case of any Lender, its
applicable Lending Office) in such jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof), or (B) as a result of
any other present or former connection between such Lender or Agent and such jurisdiction other than any
connections arising solely from executing, delivering, becoming a party to, engaging in any transactions
pursuant to, performing its obligations under, receiving payments under, receiving or perfecting a security
interest under, or enforcing, any Loan Document, or selling or assigning any interest in any Loan or Loan
Document, (ii) Taxes attributable to the failure by any Lender to comply with Section 3.01(d), (iii) in the
case of any Lender, any U.S. federal withholding Tax that is imposed pursuant to a Law in effect on the
date such Lender (x) becomes a party to this Agreement (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by
the Borrower under Section 3.07), or (y) designates a new Lending Office, except, in each case, to the extent
such Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled immediately prior to the time of designation of a new
Lending Office (or assignment) to receive additional amounts with respect to such withholding Tax
pursuant to Section 3.01, (iv) in the case of any Lender, any Canadian federal withholding Tax arising as a
result of such Lender (A) not dealing at arm's length with a Loan Party (within the meaning of the Income
Tax Act (Canada)), or (B) being a "specified non-resident shareholder" of a Loan Party or not dealing arm's
length with a "specified shareholder" of a Loan Party (each as defined and within the meaning of the Income
Tax Act (Canada)), except where the non-arm’s length relationship arises, or where the Lender is a
“specified non-resident shareholder” or does not deal at arm’s length with a “specified shareholder”, in each
case, on account of the Lender having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations
under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, or enforced this Agreement
or any other Loan Document, (v) any Taxes imposed under FATCA, (vi) any U.S. federal backup
withholding imposed as a result of a failure by a Lender that is a United States person as defined in Section
7701(a)(30) of the Code to deliver the form described in Section 3.01(d)(i), and (vii) amounts described in
subclauses (A) and (B) of Section 3.01(b) (clauses (i) through (vii), collectively, “Excluded Taxes”).

“Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.05.
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“Independent Financial Advisor” means an accounting, appraisal, investment banking firm or
consultant of nationally recognized standing that is, in the good faith judgment of the Borrower, qualified
to perform the task for which it has been engaged and that is independent of the Borrower and its Affiliates.

“Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.08.
“Initial Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Initial Lenders” means the Lenders hereunder as of the Closing Date, as set forth on
Schedule 1.01.

“Initial Revolving Borrowing” means one or more borrowings of Revolving Loans on the Closing
Date, subject to the Initial Revolving Borrowing Cap.

“Initial Revolving Borrowing Cap” means C$2,500,000.

“Initial Term Commitment” means, as to each Term Lender, its obligation to make an Initial
Term Loan to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01(a) on the Closing Date, expressed as an amount
representing the maximum principal amount of the Initial Term Loans to be made by such Lender under
this Agreement, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with this Agreement
(including Section 2.14). The initial amount of each Term Lender’s Initial Term Commitment is set forth
on Schedule 1.01 under the caption “Initial Term Commitments” or, otherwise, in the Assignment and
Assumption or Refinancing Amendment pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Initial Term
Commitment, as the case may be. The aggregate amount of the Initial Term Commitments is
$32,345,449.40.

“Initial Term Loans” means the term loans made by the Lenders on the Closing Date to the
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01(a).

“Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in the applicable Security Agreement.

“Intellectual Property Security Agreements” has the meaning set forth in the applicable Security
Agreement.

“Intercompany Note” means a promissory note substantially in the form of Exhibit G.

“Interest Payment Date” means, (a) as to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan, the
last day of each Interest Period applicable to such Loan and the Maturity Date of the Facility under which
such Loan was made; provided that if any Interest Period for a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate
Loan exceeds three months, the respective dates that fall every consecutive three months after the beginning
of such Interest Period shall also be Interest Payment Dates and (b) as to any Base Rate Loan or Canadian
Prime Rate Loan, the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December and the Maturity
Date of the Facility under which such Loan was made.

“Interest Period” means, as to each Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan, the period
commencing on the date such Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan is disbursed or converted to or
continued as a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or a CDOR Rate Loan and ending on the date one, three or six
months thereafter or, to the extent agreed by each Lender of such Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate
Loan, two or twelve months thereafter or, to the extent agreed by the Administrative Agent and each
applicable Lender, other or shorter periods thereafter, as selected by the Borrower in its Committed Loan
Notice; provided that:
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@) any Interest Period that would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day
shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in another
calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day;

(b) any Interest Period (other than an Interest Period having a duration of less than one
month) that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end
on the last Business Day of the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period; and

(c) no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Maturity Date of the Facility under
which such Loan was made.

“Investment” means, as to any Person, (a) the purchase or other acquisition of Equity Interests or
debt or other securities of another Person, (b) a loan, advance or capital contribution to, Guarantee or
assumption of Indebtedness of, or purchase or other acquisition of any other debt or equity participation or
interest in, another Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such other Person or (c)
the purchase or other acquisition (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of
the property and assets or business of another Person or assets constituting a business unit, line of business
or division of such Person. The amount of any Investment at any time shall be the amount of cash or the
fair market value of other property actually invested (measured at the time made), without adjustment for
subsequent increases or decreases in the value of such Investment, less (except in the case of Investments
made using the Available Amount pursuant to Section 7.02(i)) any Returns of the Borrower or a Restricted
Subsidiary in respect of such Investment.

“IP Collateral” has the meaning set forth in the applicable Security Agreement.

“Issuance Notice” means an Issuance Notice in respect of letters of credit substantially in the form
of Exhibit A-2.

“Issuing Bank” means Monroe, as an Issuing Bank hereunder, and any other Revolving Lender
that becomes an Issuing Bank in accordance with Section 2.04(j) or 2.04(1). Any Issuing Bank may cause
Letters of Credit to be issued by an Affiliate of such Issuing Bank or by another financial institution
designated by such Issuing Bank, and all Letters of Credit issued by any such Affiliate or any such
designated financial institution shall be treated as being issued by such Issuing Bank for all purposes under
the Loan Documents.

“Joinder Agreement” means a joinder agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit K hereto, or
otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, among the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the other Person(s) party thereto, pursuant to which such
Person provides a Guaranty or otherwise provides a guaranty of the Obligations in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and such Person.

“Joint Venture” means (a) any Person which would constitute an “equity method investee” of the
Borrower or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries and (b) any Person in whom the Borrower or any of the
Restricted Subsidiaries beneficially owns less than 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests.

“Junior Financing” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(a).

“Junior Financing Documentation” means any documentation governing any Junior Financing.

46

US-DOCS\127100939.8



“Junior Lien Debt” means any Indebtedness that is secured by Liens on Collateral that have a
priority that is junior to the Liens on Collateral that secure the Obligations.

“Junior Lien Intercreditor Agreement” means an intercreditor agreement in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, by and among the Collateral Agent and one or more
collateral agents or representatives for the holders of Indebtedness that is permitted under Section 7.03 to
be, and intended to be, secured on a junior basis to the Obligations, and acknowledged by the Loan Parties.
Wherever in this Agreement a Debt Representative is required to become party to the Junior Lien
Intercreditor Agreement, if the related Indebtedness is the initial Indebtedness incurred by the Borrower or
any Subsidiary Guarantor to be secured by a Lien junior to the Liens securing the Obligations, then the
Collateral Agent and the Debt Representative for such Indebtedness shall execute and deliver the Junior
Lien Intercreditor Agreement, and the Borrower shall acknowledge such Junior Lien Intercreditor
Agreement.

“Latest Maturity Date” means, at any date of determination, the latest Maturity Date applicable
to any Loan or Commitment hereunder at such time, including the latest Maturity Date of any Refinancing
Term Loan, any Refinancing Term Commitment, any Extended Term Loan, any Extended Revolving
Commitment, any Incremental Term Loans, any Incremental Revolving Commitments or any Refinancing
Revolving Commitments, in each case as extended in accordance with this Agreement from time to time.

“Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state, provincial, territorial and local
statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents,
orders, decrees, injunctions or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all
applicable administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and
agreements with, any Governmental Authority.

“L.CA Election” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(b).
“L.CA Test Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(b).

“Lender” means, collectively (i) each Person listed on the signature pages hereto as a Lender
holding a Commitment or a Loan and (ii) any other Person (other than a natural Person) that becomes a
party hereto in accordance herewith and holds a Commitment or a Loan. As of the Closing Date,
Schedule 1.01 sets forth the name of each Lender. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term “Lenders”
includes the Issuing Banks. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Disqualified Lender that purports to become
a Lender hereunder (notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement that prohibit Disqualified Lenders
from becoming Lenders) shall be entitled to any of the rights or privileges enjoyed by the other Lenders
(including with respect to voting, information and lender meetings) and shall be deemed for all purposes to
be, at most, a Defaulting Lender (except for purposes of Section 2.17(d)) until such time as such
Disqualified Lender no longer owns any Loans or Commitments.

“Lending Office” means, as to any Lender, the office or offices of such Lender described as such
in such Lender’s Administrative Questionnaire, or such other office or offices as a Lender may from time
to time notify the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent.

“Letter of Credit” means a letter of credit issued or to be issued by any Issuing Bank pursuant to

this Agreement, which letter of credit shall be (a) a standby letter of credit or (b) solely to the extent agreed
by the applicable Issuing Bank in its sole discretion, a commercial or “trade” letter of credit.
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“Letter of Credit Advance” means, as to any Revolving Lender, such Lender’s funding of its
participation in any Letter of Credit Borrowing in accordance with its Pro Rata Share.

“Letter of Credit Application” means an application and agreement for the issuance or
amendment of a Letter of Credit in the form from time to time in use by the applicable Issuing Bank,
together with an Issuance Notice.

“Letter of Credit Borrowing” means an extension of credit resulting from a drawing under any
Letter of Credit that has not been reimbursed by the Borrower on the date when made or refinanced as a
Borrowing of Revolving Loans.

“Letter of Credit Documents” means, as to any Letter of Credit, each Letter of Credit Application
and any other document, agreement and instrument entered into by the applicable Issuing Bank and the
Borrower or in favor of such Issuing Bank and relating to such Letter of Credit.

“Letter of Credit Expiration Date” means the day that is five Business Days prior to the Maturity
Date for the Revolving Commitments (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately succeeding
Business Day).

“Letter of Credit Extension” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the issuance thereof or
the extension of the expiry date thereof, or the renewal or increase of the amount thereof.

“Letter of Credit Obligations” means, at any time, the aggregate of all liabilities at such time of
any Loan Party to each Issuing Bank with respect to Letters of Credit, whether or not any such liability is
contingent, including, without duplication, the sum of (a) the Reimbursement Obligations at such time and
(b) the maximum aggregate amount which is, or at any time thereafter may become, available for drawing
under all Letters of Credit then outstanding.

“Letter of Credit Percentage” means, initially with respect to Monroe in its capacity as an Issuing
Bank, 100%, as may be reduced to reflect any percentage allocated to another Issuing Bank from time to
time after the Closing Date with respect to any other Issuing Bank, a percentage to be agreed between the
Borrower and such Issuing Bank.

“Letter of Credit Sublimit” means (x) the greater of (a) C$0 and (b) such higher amount as the
Borrower, the Revolving Lenders and the applicable Issuing Bank(s) may from time to time agree, minus
(y) the face amount of any issued and outstanding letters of credit or similar instruments constituting
Permitted LC Indebtedness (except to the extent any such letters of credit and similar instruments are
backstopped by a Letter of Credit).

“Letter of Credit Usage” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) the maximum
aggregate amount which is, or at any time thereafter may become, available for drawing under all Letters
of Credit then outstanding and (b) the aggregate amount of all Reimbursement Obligations outstanding at
such time.

“LIBOR” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Eurocurrency Rate.”
“License” has the meaning set forth in the applicable Security Agreement.
“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, hypothec, assignment, deposit arrangement,

encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), charge, or preference, priority or other security interest or
preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title
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retention agreement, any easement, right of way or other encumbrance on title to Real Property, and any
Capitalized Lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

“Limited Condition Acquisition” means any Permitted Acquisition or Permitted Investment, in
each case the consummation of which is not conditioned on the availability of, or on obtaining, third-party
financing.

“Limited VVoting Lender” means, at any relevant time of determination, any Lender, with respect
to which the principal amount of outstanding Loans and unfunded Commitments hereunder then held by
such Lender or an Affiliate of such Lender or an Approved Fund of such Lender (taken as a whole)
constitute less than ninety percent (90%) of the sum of the following amounts then held by such Lender or
an Affiliate of such Lender or an Approved Fund of such Lender (taken as a whole): (i) the principal amount
of outstanding Loans and unfunded Commitments hereunder and (ii) the principal amount of Junior
Financing (including any unfunded commitments in respect thereof).

“Loan” means an extension of credit by a Lender to the Borrower under Article Il in the form of a
Term Loan or a Revolving Loan (including any Incremental Loans, Extended Loans and Refinancing Loans
to the extent not otherwise indicated and as the context may require).

“Loan Documents” means, collectively, (i) this Agreement, (ii) the Notes, (iii) the Collateral
Documents, (iv) any Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement, (v) any Refinancing Amendment, Incremental
Amendment or Extension Amendment, (vi) any other document or instrument designated in writing by the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent as a “Loan Document” from time to time and (vii) any amendment
or joinder to this Agreement; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, Secured Hedge Agreements and
Treasury Services Agreements do not constitute Loan Documents hereunder.

“Loan Parties” means, collectively, the Borrower and each Guarantor.
“Margin Stock” has the meaning set forth in Regulation U issued by the FRB.
“Master Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Swap Contract.”

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) on the Closing Date, a Company Material Adverse Effect
(as defined in the Acquisition Agreement as in effect on the Closing Date) and (b) after the Closing Date,
a material adverse effect on (i) the financial condition, results of operations, business or assets of the
Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Loan Parties (taken as a
whole) to perform their payment obligations under the Loan Documents or (iii) the rights and remedies
(taken as a whole) of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under the Loan Documents.

“Material Intellectual Property” means any Intellectual Property that is material to the business
or operations of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

“Material Real Property” means any fee owned real property located in the United States or
Canada that is owned by any Loan Party with a book value in excess of C$2,000,000 (at the Closing Date
or, with respect to real property acquired (or owned by a Person that becomes a Loan Party) after the Closing
Date, at the time of acquisition, in each case, as reasonably estimated by the Borrower in good faith). As
of the Closing Date, there is no Material Real Property.

“Material Subsidiary” means, as of the Closing Date and thereafter at any date of determination,
each of the Borrower’s Subsidiaries that is a Restricted Subsidiary (a) whose total assets at the last day of

49

US-DOCS\127100939.8



the most recent Test Period (when taken together with the total assets of the Restricted Subsidiaries of such
Subsidiary at the last day of the most recent Test Period) were equal to or greater than 2.5% of the
consolidated total assets of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries as of the last day of such Test
Period, in each case determined in accordance with GAAP or (b) whose revenues for such Test Period
(when taken together with the revenues of the Restricted Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary for such Test
Period) were equal to or greater than 2.5% of the consolidated revenues of the Borrower and the Restricted
Subsidiaries for such Test Period, in each case determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that if, at
any time and from time to time after the date which is 30 days after the Closing Date (or such longer period
as the Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion), Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors solely
because they do not meet the thresholds set forth in clause (a) or (b) comprise in the aggregate more than
(when taken together with the total assets of the Restricted Subsidiaries of such Subsidiaries at the last day
of the most recent Test Period) 10.0% of total assets of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries that
are Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recently ended Test Period or more than (when taken together
with the revenues of the Restricted Subsidiaries of such Subsidiaries for such Test Period) 5.0% of the
consolidated revenues of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries that are Subsidiaries for such Test
Period, then the Borrower shall, not later than forty-five (45) days after the date by which financial
statements for such Test Period were required to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement (or such longer
period as the Administrative Agent may agree in its reasonable discretion), (i) designate in writing to the
Administrative Agent one or more of such Subsidiaries as “Material Subsidiaries” to the extent required
such that the foregoing condition ceases to be true and (ii) comply with the provisions of Section 6.11 with
respect to any such Subsidiaries.

“Maturity Date” means (i) with respect to the Initial Term Loans, the date that is six years after
the Closing Date (i.e., November 3, 2027), (ii) with respect to the Revolving Commitments, the date that is
five years after the Closing Date (i.e., November 3, 2026), (iii) with respect to any tranche of Extended
Term Loans or Extended Revolving Commitments, the final maturity date applicable thereto as specified
in the applicable Extension Amendment, (iv) with respect to any Refinancing Term Loans or Refinancing
Revolving Commitments, the final maturity date applicable thereto as specified in the applicable
Refinancing Amendment and (v) with respect to any Incremental Term Loans, the final maturity date
applicable thereto as specified in the applicable Incremental Amendment; provided, in each case, that if
such date is not a Business Day, then the applicable Maturity Date shall be the next succeeding Business
Day.

“Maximum Rate” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11.

“MFN Eligible Debt” means any Pari Passu Lien Debt incurred by a Loan Party.

“Minimum Collateral Amount” means, at any time, (a) with respect to Cash Collateral consisting
of cash or deposit account balances, an amount equal to 103% of the Fronting Exposure of the Issuing
Banks with respect to Letters of Credit issued and outstanding at such time, and (b) otherwise, an amount

determined by the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Banks, as the case may be, in their sole discretion.

“Minimum Equity Contribution” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Equity
Contribution”.

“Minority Investment” means any Person other than a Subsidiary in which the Borrower or any
Restricted Subsidiary owns any Equity Interests.

“Monroe” has the meaning given to such term in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement,
together with its successors and assigns permitted hereunder
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“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.

“Mortgage Policy” means an American Land Title Association Lender’s policy of title insurance
or the equivalent or other form available in each applicable jurisdiction (or marked-up title insurance
commitments having the effect of policies of title insurance) issued with respect to a Mortgage on a
Mortgaged Property, naming the Collateral Agent as the insured for its benefit and that of the other Secured
Parties, issued by a nationally recognized title insurance company reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent in form and substance and in an amount reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Agent (not to exceed 100% of the fair market value of the Mortgaged Property covered thereby), insuring
such Mortgage to be a valid subsisting first-priority Lien on the real property described therein, free and
clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens and other Liens reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Agent, together with such endorsements, coinsurance and reinsurance as the Administrative Agent may
reasonably request and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

“Mortgaged Properties” means the property on which Mortgages are required pursuant to
Section 6.11.

“Mortgages” means collectively, the deeds of trust, trust deeds, deeds to secure debt, hypothecs
and mortgages made by the Loan Parties in favor or for the benefit of the Collateral Agent on behalf of the
Secured Parties creating and evidencing a Lien on the Material Real Properties (which, for the avoidance
of doubt, shall not include any Excluded Real Estate Assets or other Excluded Asset) in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent with such terms and provisions as may be required by the
applicable Laws of the relevant jurisdiction, and any other mortgages executed and delivered pursuant to
Sections 6.11 and 6.12, in each case, as the same may from time to time be amended, amended and restated,
supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Multiemployer Plan” means a “multiemployer plan”, as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA,
that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, to which any Loan Party, any Restricted Subsidiary or any ERISA
Affiliate makes or is obligated to make contributions, or during the preceding six years, has made or been
obligated to make contributions.

“Net Income” means, with respect to any Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined
in accordance with GAAP (determined, for the avoidance of doubt, on an unconsolidated basis) and before
any reduction in respect of preferred stock dividends.

“Net Proceeds” means, with respect to:

@) the Disposition of any asset by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary or any Casualty
Event, the excess (if any) of:

(1 100% of the cash proceeds actually received by the Borrower or any of the
Restricted Subsidiaries received in connection with such Disposition or Casualty Event (including
any cash payments received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or
installment receivable or purchase price adjustment receivable or otherwise, but only as and when
so received and, with respect to any Casualty Event, any casualty insurance settlements and
condemnation awards in respect of such Casualty Event, but in each case only as and when
received), over

(i) the sum of:
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(A) attorneys’ fees, accountants’ fees, investment banking fees, survey costs,
title insurance premiums, and related search and recording charges, transfer taxes, deed or
mortgage recording taxes, other customary expenses and brokerage, consultant and other
customary fees actually incurred in connection therewith and restoration costs following a
Casualty Event,

(B) the principal amount, premium or penalty, if any, interest, breakage costs
and other amounts on any Indebtedness that is secured by a Lien on the asset subject to
such Disposition or Casualty Event and that is required to be repaid (and is timely repaid)
in connection with such Disposition or Casualty Event (other than Indebtedness under the
Loan Documents, Pari Passu Lien Debt or Junior Lien Debt),

© in the case of any Disposition or Casualty Event by a non-Wholly Owned
Restricted Subsidiary, the pro rata portion of the Net Proceeds thereof (calculated without
regard to this clause) attributable to minority interests and not available for distribution to
or for the account of the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiary as a result
thereof,

(D) Taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a result thereof
(including any distributions in accordance with Section 7.06(d)(ii) made or reasonably
estimated to be made in connection therewith), and

(E) any reserve for adjustment in respect of (x) the sale price of such asset or
assets established in accordance with GAAP and (y) any liabilities associated with such
asset or assets and retained by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary after such sale or
other disposition thereof, including pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities
and liabilities related to environmental matters or against any indemnification obligations
associated therewith, it being understood that “Net Proceeds” shall include the amount of
any reversal (without the satisfaction of any applicable liabilities in cash in a corresponding
amount) of any reserve described in this clause (E) on the date of such reduction;

(b) the incurrence, issuance or sale by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary of any
Indebtedness, the excess (if any) of:

(1 100% of the cash proceeds received from such incurrence, issuance or sale, over

(i) Taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a result thereof, fees (including
investment banking fees, attorneys’ fees, accountants’ fees, underwriting fees and discounts),
commissions, costs and other out-of-pocket or customary expenses, in each case incurred by or on
behalf of the Borrower or such Restricted Subsidiary in connection with such incurrence, issuance
or sale; and

(c) any Permitted Equity Issuance by any direct or indirect parent of the Borrower, the amount
of cash and Cash Equivalents from such Permitted Equity Issuance contributed to the capital of the
Borrower.

For purposes of calculating the amount of Net Proceeds, fees, commissions and other costs and
expenses payable to Holdings, the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary shall be disregarded.
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“Non-Canadian Subsidiary” means any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a
Canadian Subsidiary.

“Non-Consenting Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.07(c).

“Non-Debt Fund Affiliate” means each Sponsor and any Affiliate of such Sponsor, other than any
Debt Fund Affiliate, Holdings, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Non-Defaulting Lender” means, at any time, a Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender.

“Non-Loan Party” and “Non-Loan Parties” means any Restricted Subsidiary or Restricted
Subsidiaries of the Borrower that is not a Loan Party or are not Loan Parties.

“Non-Loan Party Investment Cap” means, at any time, an aggregate amount equal to the greater
of (x) 10% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (y) an amount equal to 10% multiplied by TTM
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as of the applicable date of determination; provided (i) that Investments
made in Non-Loan Parties with the proceeds of Permitted Equity Issuances shall be excluded from the
calculation of the Non-Loan Party Investment Cap and (ii) in the event that the amount available under the
Non-Loan Party Investment Cap is reduced as a result of any Investment in any Person that is not or does
not become a Subsidiary Guarantor, or the acquisition of any assets that are not acquired by or transferred
to a Loan Party, and such Person subsequently becomes a Loan Party or such assets are subsequently
transferred to a Loan Party, then the amount available under the Non-Loan Party Investment Cap shall be
proportionately increased as a result thereof; provided further, that in determining the amount of
Investments in Non-Loan Parties as a result of a substantially simultaneous Investment in multiple Persons
(including the acquisition of a group) of which some will become Loan Parties and others will become or
remain Non-Loan Parties in a single transaction, the Borrower shall in good faith determine the amount of
the Investment attributable to the acquired Non-Loan Parties.

“Non-U.S. Disposition” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b)(x).

“Non-U.S. Subsidiary” means any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a U.S.
Subsidiary.

“Not Otherwise Applied” means, with reference to any amount of any capital contributions or Net
Proceeds of any transaction or event, that such amount was not (i) required to be applied to prepay the
Loans pursuant to Section 2.05(b), (ii) utilized pursuant to Section 7.02(e), Section 7.02(q),
Section 7.06(c)(i), Section 7.06(e), Section 7.12(a)(iv) or to make a Designated Equity Contribution in
accordance with Section 8.04, or (iv) previously or concurrently applied (A) to make any Investment,
Restricted Payment or Restricted Debt Payment in reliance on the Available Amount or (B) to make an
Investment in a Non-Loan Party that is excluded from the Non-Loan Party Investment Cap pursuant to
clause (i) in the definition thereof.

“Note” means a Term Note or a Revolving Note, as the context may require.

“Obligations” means all (x) advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties
of, any Loan Party and any Restricted Subsidiary arising under any Loan Document or otherwise with
respect to any Loan or Letter of Credit, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption),
absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest and
fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Loan Party or Restricted Subsidiary of any
proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless
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of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding and (y) obligations and liabilities
of the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary arising under any Secured Hedge Agreement and obligations
and liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary arising under any Treasury Services Agreement (excluding
any Excluded Swap Obligations). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Obligations of the
Loan Parties under the Loan Documents include (a) the obligation (including guarantee obligations) to pay
principal, interest, reimbursement obligations, charges, expenses, fees, Attorney Costs, indemnities and
other amounts payable by any Loan Party under any Loan Document, (b) the obligation of any Loan Party
to reimburse any amount in respect of any of the foregoing that any Lender, in its sole discretion, may elect
to pay or advance on behalf of such Loan Party and (c) the obligation to pay, discharge and satisfy the
Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligations of the Borrower
or any Restricted Subsidiary under any Secured Hedge Agreement and the obligations of the Borrower or
any Subsidiary under any Treasury Services Agreement shall be secured and guaranteed pursuant to the
Collateral Documents and the Guaranty only to the extent that, and for so long as, the other Obligations are
so secured and guaranteed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Obligations of any Guarantor shall in no event
include any Excluded Swap Obligations.

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury.

“Organization Documents” means (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles
of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents with respect to any
non-U.S. jurisdiction or non-Canadian jurisdiction); (b) with respect to any limited liability company, the
certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating or limited liability company agreement;
and (c) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership,
joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation or organization and any agreement, instrument,
filing or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable
Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any certificate
or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

“Other Applicable Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b)(ix).
“Other Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(b).

“QOutstanding Amount” means with respect to the Term Loans and Revolving Loans, the
aggregate outstanding Principal Amount thereof after giving effect to any borrowings and prepayments or
repayments of Term Loans and Revolving Loans, as the case may be, occurring on such date.

“Overnight Rate” means, for any day, with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, the
Federal Funds Rate.

“Parent Company” means (a) Holdings and (b) any other Person of which the Borrower is a direct
or indirect Wholly Owned Subsidiary.

“Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement” means an intercreditor agreement in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, among Holdings, the Borrower, the Subsidiary
Guarantors from time to time party thereto, the Collateral Agent and one or more collateral agents or
representatives for the holders of Indebtedness that is permitted under Section 7.03 to be, and intended to
be, secured on a pari passu basis with the Obligations. Wherever in this Agreement a Debt Representative
is required to become party to the Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement, if the related Indebtedness is the
initial Indebtedness incurred by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor to be secured by a Lien pari
passu with the Liens securing the Obligations, then the Collateral Agent and the Debt Representative for
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such Indebtedness shall execute and deliver the Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement, and the Borrower shall
acknowledge such Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement.

“Pari Passu Lien Debt” means any Indebtedness that is secured by Liens on Collateral that are
pari passu in priority with the Liens on Collateral that secure the Obligations. For the avoidance of doubt,
“Pari Passu Lien Debt” includes the Initial Term Loans, the Revolving Loans (if any) and the Revolving
Commitments, in each case, as of the Closing Date.

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(f).
“Participant Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(f).
“Payment Recipient” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.15(a).
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

“Pension Plan” means any “employee pension benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section
3(2) of ERISA), other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Sections 412 and
430 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA and is sponsored or maintained by any Loan Party, any Restricted
Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate or to which any Loan Party, any Restricted Subsidiary or any ERISA
Affiliate contributes or has an obligation to contribute, or in the case of a multiple employer or other plan
described in Section 4064(a) of ERISA, has made contributions at any time during the immediately
preceding six years.

“Perfection Certificate” means a certificate in the form of Exhibit F hereto or any other form
reasonably approved by the Collateral Agent, as the same shall be supplemented from time to time.

“Permitted Acquisition” means (1) any Acquisition Transaction approved by the Administrative
Agent from time to time and (2) any other Acquisition Transaction; provided that:

@) immediately after giving Pro Forma Effect to any such Acquisition Transaction, at the
applicable time determined in accordance with Section 1.03(b), no Event of Default shall have occurred
and be continuing;

(b) the business of such Person, or such assets, as the case may be, is permitted by Section 7.07;

(c) with respect to each such Acquisition Transaction, all actions required in order to satisfy
the requirements set forth in Sections 6.11 and 6.12 to the extent applicable shall have been taken (or
arrangements for the taking of such actions after the consummation of such Acquisition Transaction shall
have been made), in each case to the extent required by such section and within the time periods specified
therein;

(d) the Borrower is in compliance, on a Pro Forma Basis with the Financial Covenant after
giving effect to such Acquisition Transaction;

(e) the Borrower has delivered (or caused to be delivered) to the Administrative Agent, (i)
except with respect to an Acquisition Transaction of a target that is reasonably expected to contribute less
than the lesser of (x) 15% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (y) 15% of the TTM Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA of the Borrower, at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the applicable closing date of
such Acquisition Transaction (or any later date approved by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion),
an acquisition summary with respect to the Person and/or business, division or assets to be acquired, which
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summary must include a reasonably detailed description thereof (including financial information) and
operating results (including financial statements for the most recent 12-month period for which they are
available and as otherwise available), and Borrower’s calculation of pro forma Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA related thereto, (ii) solely to the extent available (and not a “sign-and-close” acquisition), at least
five (5) Business Days prior to the applicable closing date of such Acquisition Transaction, a copy of the
final acquisition agreement, (iii) for each Acquisition Transaction of a target that is reasonably expected to
contribute more than the lesser of (x) 15% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (y) 15% of the TTM
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the Borrower, a quality of earnings report for such Acquisition
Transaction, and (iv) to the extent obtained by Borrower and reasonably requested by the Administrative
Agent, (x) a term sheet for such Acquisition Transaction and/or (y) environmental assessments of the target,
if any, conducted by a third party; and

(f the proposed Acquisition Transaction is consensual (i.e., not “hostile”), and, if applicable,
has been approved by the target’s Board of Directors;

(9) such Person is domiciled in (i) the United States, any state thereof or the District of
Columbia, (ii) Canada or any province or territory thereof or (iii) any other jurisdiction approved by the
Administrative Agent;

(h) the business, division, assets or Person acquired generated Pro Forma positive EBITDA
(calculated in a manner acceptable to Administrative Agent) for the twelve calendar month period
immediately preceding such Acquisition Transaction, after giving effect to any other adjustments or
identified cost savings acceptable to Administrative Agent; and

(M the aggregate consideration (cash and non-cash) to be paid by the Loan Parties (including
the maximum amount payable in connection with any deferred purchase price obligation (including any
earn-out obligation) and the amount of any Indebtedness assumed or any issued in connection such
Acquisition Transaction, but excluding the amount of all (i) capital contributions made in cash or Cash
Equivalents to the Borrower and (ii) Net Proceeds from Permitted Equity Issuances received by the
Borrower, in each case to the extent Not Otherwise Applied) in connection with such Acquisition
Transaction (or any series of related Acquisition Transactions) is less than or equal to the sum of
C$20,000,000;

provided further, that the aggregate amount of all Investments in Permitted Acquisitions of Persons that are
not or do not become Loan Parties, or in assets that are not acquired by or transferred to a Loan Party or a
Person that becomes a Loan Party, when taken together with Investments by Loan Parties in Non-Loan
Parties in reliance on Sections 7.02(c), 7.02(i) or 7.02(j), shall not exceed the Non-Loan Party Investment
Cap.

“Permitted Equity Issuance” means any (a) public or private sale or issuance of any Qualified
Equity Interests of the Borrower or any direct or indirect parent of the Borrower or (b) sale or issuance of
debt securities representing obligations of Holdings, the Borrower and/or Restricted Subsidiaries (other
than debt securities representing intercompany Indebtedness) that have been converted into or exchanged
for Qualified Equity Interests, in each case, other than Designated Equity Contributions; provided that Net
Proceeds of any such debt securities will be deemed to have been received by the Borrower upon any such
conversion or exchange.

“Permitted Holders” means any of:
@) the Sponsor;
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(b) the Co-Investors;

(c) any group (within the meaning of Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act or any
applicable Canadian securities legislation) of which the Persons described in clauses (a) or (b) above are
members; provided that, without giving effect to the existence of such group or any other group, the Persons
described in clauses (a) and (b) above, collectively, beneficially own (as defined in Rules 13(d) and 14(d)
of the Exchange Act or any applicable Canadian securities legislation) Equity Interests representing at least
a majority of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interest
of Holdings (or any successor thereto) then held by such group); and

(d) any direct or indirect parent of Holdings, for so long as a majority of the aggregate ordinary
voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of such entity is beneficially owned
(as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act or any applicable Canadian securities
legislation), directly or indirectly, by one or more Permitted Holders described in clauses (a), (b),and/or (c)
of the definition thereof.

“Permitted Investment” means (a) any Permitted Acquisition and/or (b) any other Investment or
acquisition permitted under Section 7.02.

“Permitted Investor(s)” means (a) a Sponsor, (b) each of the Affiliates and investment managers
of a Sponsor, (c) any fund or account managed by any of the persons described in clause (a) or (b) of this
definition, (d) any employee benefit plan of the Borrower or any of its subsidiaries and any person or entity
acting in its capacity as trustee, agent or other fiduciary or administrator of any such plan, and (e) investment
vehicles of members of management of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

“Permitted LC Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.03(s).
“Permitted Liens” means the Liens permitted pursuant to Section 7.01.

“Permitted Ratio Debt” means secured or unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower; provided that,
at the time of incurrence thereof (or at the other applicable time determined in accordance with

Section 1.03(b)):

@) such Indebtedness constitutes Junior Lien Debt or unsecured Indebtedness;

(b) immediately after giving effect to the issuance, incurrence, or assumption of such
Indebtedness:

() that is Junior Lien Debt, the Secured Net Leverage Ratio for the applicable
Test Period is equal to or less than the Closing Date Secured Net Leverage Ratio; and

(i) that is unsecured Indebtedness, the Total Net Leverage Ratio for the
applicable Test Period is equal to or less than the Closing Date Total Net Leverage Ratio;

in each case of this clause, after giving Pro Forma Effect to the incurrence of such Indebtedness
and the use of proceeds thereof and measured as of and for the applicable Test Period for which
such measurement is being made; and

() such Indebtedness shall not mature prior to the date that is 91 days following the
Latest Maturity Date of the Initial Term Loans or have scheduled amortization prior to the Latest
Maturity Date of the Initial Term Loans;
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(d) such Indebtedness shall not be incurred or guaranteed by any Person other than the
Borrower and the Guarantors (except any such Person incurring or guaranteeing such Permitted
Ratio Debt that also guarantees the Term Loans);

(e) to the extent secured, (i) such Indebtedness shall not be secured by any Lien on
any assets or property that does not constitute Collateral (except (1) customary cash collateral in
favor of an agent, letter of credit issuer or similar “fronting” lender, and (2) any Liens on property
or assets to the extent that a Lien on such property or asset is also added for the benefit of the
Lenders under the Term Loans or Revolving Loans, as applicable), and (ii) a Debt Representative
acting on behalf of the holders of such Indebtedness has become party to, or is otherwise subject to
the provisions of, an Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement;

(f to the extent (i) subordinated in right of payment to the Initial Term Loans and the
Revolving Facility or (ii) unsecured and having an aggregate initial principal amount in excess of
the Unsecured Additional Debt Basket as of the applicable date of determination, a Debt
Representative acting on behalf of the holders of such Incremental Equivalent Debt has become
party to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, a subordination agreement or other
subordination arrangements the terms of which are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Agent; and

(9) any Permitted Ratio Debt shall be on terms and conditions that are substantially
identical to, or, taken as a whole, not materially more favorable to the lenders or holders providing
such Indebtedness than those applicable to the Initial Term Loans, as determined in good faith by
a Responsible Officer of the Borrower in its reasonable judgment (except (1) for terms and
conditions applicable only to periods after the Latest Maturity Date of the Term Loans at the time
of incurrence and (2) any term or condition to the extent such term or condition is also added for
the benefit of the Lenders under the Term Loans); provided that a certificate of a Responsible
Officer delivered to the Administrative Agent at least four (4) Business Days (or such shorter period
as may be agreed by the Administrative Agent) prior to the incurrence of such Permitted Ratio
Debt, together with a reasonably detailed description of the material covenants and events of default
of such Indebtedness or drafts of the documentation relating thereto, stating that the Borrower has
determined in good faith that such terms and conditions satisfy the requirement of this clause (f)
shall be conclusive evidence that such material covenants and events of default satisfy such
requirement unless the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower within such four (4) Business
Day (or shorter) period that it disagrees with such determination (including a description of the
basis upon which it disagrees)); provided further, that this clause will not apply to (x) terms
addressed in the other clauses of this definition, (y) interest rate, rate floors, fees, funding discounts
and other pricing terms and (z) optional prepayment or redemption terms, including any premiums
related thereto.

Permitted Ratio Debt will be deemed to include any Registered Equivalent Notes issued in exchange
therefor. The proceeds of any Permitted Ratio Debt received shall not (but the application of such proceeds
may) reduce Indebtedness for purposes of determining compliance with the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio,
the Secured Net Leverage Ratio or Total Net Leverage Ratio.

“Permitted Refinancing” means, with respect to any Person, any modification, refinancing,
refunding, renewal, replacement or extension of any Indebtedness of such Person; provided that (a) the
principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) thereof does not exceed the principal amount (or accreted
value, if applicable) of the Indebtedness so modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended
except by an amount equal to unpaid accrued interest and premium thereon plus other reasonable amounts
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paid, and fees and expenses reasonably incurred, in connection with such modification, refinancing,
refunding, renewal, replacement or extension and by an amount equal to any existing commitments
unutilized thereunder (provided that if such existing unutilized commitments were incurred in reliance on
a ratio-based incurrence test, such commitments were assumed to have been fully drawn at the time of
incurrence for purposes of such test), (b) other than with respect to a Permitted Refinancing in respect of
Indebtedness permitted pursuant to Section 7.03(e), such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal,
replacement or extension has a final maturity date equal to or later than the final maturity date of, and has
a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or greater than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of,
the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended, (c) no Person is an
obligor with respect to such Permitted Refinancing that was not an obligor with respect to the Indebtedness
being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended and such Permitted Refinancing is not
secured by any asset that did not secure such Indebtedness and (d) if such Indebtedness being modified,
refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended is Junior Financing, (i) to the extent such Indebtedness
being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended is subordinated in right of payment to
the Obligations, such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal, replacement or extension is
subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations on terms at least as favorable to the Lenders as those
contained in the documentation governing the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed,
replaced or extended, (ii) such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal, replacement or extension is
incurred by the Person who is the obligor of the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded,
renewed, replaced or extended and (iii) if the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed,
replaced or extended was subject to an Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement, the holders of such modified,
refinanced, refunded, renewed, replaced or extended Indebtedness (if such Indebtedness is secured but not
if such Indebtedness is incurred under this Agreement and is pari passu with the Term Loans) or their
representative on their behalf shall become party to such Acceptable Intercreditor Agreement.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture,
association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Platform” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.02.

“Platform Request” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.02.
“Pledged Debt” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.
“Pledged Equity” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as
any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“PPSA” means the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) (and other equivalent personal
property security legislation in any other applicable Canadian province or territory) and the regulations
thereunder, as from time to time in effect, provided, however, if attachment, perfection or priority of any
Secured Party’s security interest in any Collateral is governed by the personal property security laws of any
jurisdiction in Canada other than Ontario, with respect to such Collateral, PPSA shall mean those personal
property security laws in such other jurisdiction of Canada (including the Civil Code of Québec and the
regulation respecting the register of personal and movable real rights thereunder) for the purposes of the
provisions hereof relating to such attachment, perfection or priority and for the definitions related to such
provisions.
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“Pre-Closing Amalgamation” has the meaning set forth in the Preliminary Statements to this
Agreement.

“Prepayment Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).
“Prepayment Premium” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).

“Prime Rate” means, for any day, the “Prime Rate” as published by the Wall Street Journal for
such day or, if the Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate
published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) as the “bank
prime loan” rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as reasonably
determined by the Administrative Agent) or any similar release by the Federal Reserve Board (as reasonable
determined by the Administrative Agent); each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective on the date that
such change is effective. The Prime Rate is not necessarily the lowest rate charged by any financial
institution to its customers.

“Principal Amount” means the stated or principal amount of each Loan.

“Pro Forma Basis”, “Pro Forma Compliance” and “Pro Forma Effect” mean, with respect to
compliance with any financial ratios and other tests hereunder, including the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio,
the Total Net Leverage Ratio, the Secured Net Leverage Ratio and compliance with covenants determined
by reference to Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (including any component definitions thereof), that all
Specified Transactions and the following transactions in connection therewith shall be deemed to have
occurred as of the first day of the applicable period of measurement in such test: (a) income statement items
(whether positive or negative) attributable to the property or Person subject to such Specified Transaction,
(i) in the case of a Disposition of all or substantially all Equity Interests in any Subsidiary of the Borrower
or any division, product line, or facility used for operations of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, shall
be excluded, and (ii) in the case of a Permitted Acquisition or Investment described in the definition of
“Specified Transaction”, shall be included, (b) any retirement of Indebtedness, and (c) any Indebtedness
incurred or assumed by the Borrower or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries in connection therewith and if
such Indebtedness has a floating or formula rate, it shall have an implied rate of interest for the applicable
period for purposes of this definition determined by utilizing the rate which is or would be in effect with
respect to such Indebtedness as at the relevant date of determination; provided that, the foregoing pro forma
adjustments may be applied to any such test solely to the extent that such adjustments are consistent with
the definition of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA and give effect to events (including operating expense
reductions) that are (as determined by the Borrower in good faith) (i) (x) directly attributable to such
transaction, (y) expected to have a continuing impact on the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries and
(2) factually supportable or (ii) otherwise consistent with the definition of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA.
Any adjustments added back in computing Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA on a “Pro Forma Basis” shall
be subject to the caps set forth in the definition of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA to the extent applicable
to such type of amount added back (determined on a Pro Forma Basis), and subject to any exclusions set
forth therein. “Pro Forma” shall have meanings correlative thereto.

“Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to each Lender, at any time a fraction (expressed as a
percentage, carried out to the ninth decimal place), the numerator of which is the amount of the
Commitments and, if applicable and without duplication, Term Loans of such Lender under the applicable
Facility or Facilities at such time and the denominator of which is the amount of the Aggregate
Commitments under the applicable Facility or Facilities and, if applicable and without duplication, Term
Loans under the applicable Facility or Facilities at such time; provided that, in the case of the Revolving
Facility, if such Commitments have been terminated, then the Pro Rata Share of each Lender shall be
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determined based on the Pro Rata Share of such Lender immediately prior to such termination and after
giving effect to any subsequent assignments made pursuant to the terms hereof.

“Projections” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(d).
“Public Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.02.

“Qualified ECP Guarantor” means, in respect of any Swap Obligation, each Guarantor that, at
the time the relevant Guaranty (or grant of the relevant security interest, as applicable) becomes or would
become effective with respect to such Swap Obligation, has total assets exceeding $10,000,000 or otherwise
constitutes an “eligible contract participant” under the Commodity Exchange Act and which may cause
another person to qualify as an “eligible contract participant” with respect to such Swap Obligation at such
time by entering into a keepwell under Section 1a(18)(A)(v)(l1) of the Commaodity Exchange Act.

“Qualified Equity Interests” means any Equity Interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests.

“Qualified IPO” means the issuance by Holdings or any direct or indirect parent of Holdings of
its common Equity Interests in an underwritten primary public offering (other than a public offering
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-8 or any successor form) pursuant to an effective registration
statement filed with the SEC in accordance with the Securities Act (whether alone or in connection with a
secondary public offering) or any applicable Canadian securities legislation.

“R&W Insurance Policy” means the R&W Insurance Policy (as defined in the Acquisition
Agreement as in effect on the date hereof).

“Ratio Amount” means an aggregate principal amount that, after giving Pro Forma Effect to the
incurrence thereof (assuming, in the case of (x) any Incremental Revolving Commitments as of the date of
first receiving commitments in respect thereof, a full drawing of such Revolving Commitments and (y) any
Incremental Facilities with a delayed draw feature, either (as determined by the Borrower) (i) a full drawing
thereof as of the date of first receiving commitments in respect thereof or (ii) based on the date and actual
amount of funding thereof) and use of proceeds thereof, would not result in:

@) with respect to an Incremental Facility to be incurred as Pari Passu Lien Debt, the
First Lien Net Leverage Ratio for the applicable Test Period being greater than the Closing Date
First Lien Net Leverage Ratio;

(b) with respect to any Incremental Facility or Incremental Equivalent Debt to be
incurred as Junior Lien Debt, the Secured Net Leverage Ratio for the applicable Test Period being
greater than the Closing Date Secured Net Leverage Ratio; and

(c) with respect to any Incremental Facility or Incremental Equivalent Debt that is
unsecured, the Total Net Leverage Ratio for the applicable Test Period being greater than the
Closing Date Total Net Leverage Ratio;

in each case measured as of the last day of the applicable Test Period for which such measurement is being
made.

“Ratio-Based Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(c).

“Real Property” means, collectively, all right, title and interest (including any leasehold, mineral
or other estate) in and to any and all parcels of or interests in real property owned or leased by any Person,
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whether by lease, license or other means, together with, in each case, all easements, hereditaments and
appurtenances relating thereto, all improvements and appurtenant fixtures and equipment, all general
intangibles and contract rights and other property and rights incidental to the ownership, lease or operation
thereof.

“Refinanced Debt” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Credit Agreement Refinancing
Indebtedness”.

“Refinancing Amendment” means an amendment to this Agreement executed by each of (a) the
Borrower, (b) the Administrative Agent and (c) each Additional Lender and Lender that agrees to provide
any portion of the Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness being incurred pursuant thereto in
accordance with Section 2.15.

“Refinancing Commitments” means any Refinancing Term Commitments or Refinancing
Revolving Commitments.

“Refinancing Loans” means any Refinancing Term Loans or Refinancing Revolving Loans.

“Refinancing Revolving Commitments” means one or more Classes of Revolving Loan
commitments hereunder that result from a Refinancing Amendment.

“Refinancing Revolving Loans” means one or more Classes of Revolving Loans that result from
a Refinancing Amendment.

“Refinancing Term Commitments” means one or more Classes of Term Loan commitments
hereunder that result from a Refinancing Amendment.

“Refinancing Term Loans” means one or more Classes of Term Loans that result from a
Refinancing Amendment.

“Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(d).

“Registered Equivalent Notes” means, with respect to any notes originally issued in an offering
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act or other private placement transaction under the Securities
Act, substantially identical notes (having the same guarantees) issued in a dollar-for-dollar exchange
therefor pursuant to an exchange offer registered with the SEC.

“Reimbursement Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(i).

“Release” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging,
injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, disposing or migrating in into, onto or through the Environment.

“Reportable Event” means any of the events set forth in Section 4043(c) of ERISA or the
regulations issued thereunder, other than events for which the thirty (30) day notice period has been waived.

“Required Class Lenders” means, with respect to any Class on any date of determination, Lenders
having at least 50.1% of the sum of (i) the outstanding Loans under such Class and (ii) the aggregate unused
Commitments under such Facility; provided that the unused Commitments of, and the portion of the Total
Outstandings held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded for purposes of making a
determination of Required Class Lenders; provided further, that (x) to the same extent set forth in
Section 10.07(m) with respect to determination of Required Lenders, the Loans and Commitments of any
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Affiliated Lender shall in each case be excluded for purposes of making a determination of Required Class
Lenders and (y) solely to the extent at such time of determination there is more than one Lender (treating a
Lender and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for this purpose) of such Class, then
Required Class Lenders shall require at least two Lenders (treating a Lender and all of its Affiliates and
Approved Funds as one Lender for this purpose) of such Class.

“Required Facility Lenders” mean, as of any date of determination, with respect to any Facility,
Lenders having at least 50.1% of the sum of (a) the Total Outstandings under such Facility and (b) the
aggregate unused Commitments under such Facility; provided that the unused Commitments of, and the
portion of the Total Outstandings under such Facility held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall
be excluded for purposes of making a determination of the Required Facility Lenders; provided further,
that, (x) to the same extent set forth in Section 10.07(m) with respect to determination of Required Lenders,
the Loans and Commitments of any Affiliated Lender shall in each case be excluded for purposes of making
a determination of Required Facility Lenders and (y) solely to the extent at such time of determination there
is more than one Lender (treating a Lender and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for
this purpose) of such Facility, then Required Facility Lenders shall require at least two Lenders (treating a
Lender and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for this purpose) of such Facility.

“Required Lenders” means, as of any date of determination, the Lenders having at least 50.1% of
the sum of the (a) Outstanding Amount of all Loans and (b) aggregate unused Commitments; provided that
the unused Commitments of, and the portion of the Outstanding Amount of all Loans held or deemed held
by, any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded for purposes of making a determination of Required Lenders;
provided further, that, (x) to the same extent set forth in Section 10.07(m) with respect to determination of
Required Lenders, the Loans and Commitments of any Affiliated Lender shall in each case be excluded for
purposes of making a determination of Required Lenders and (y) solely to the extent at such time of
determination there is more than one Lender (treating a Lender and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds
as one Lender for this purpose), then Required Lenders shall require at least two Lenders (treating a Lender
and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for this purpose).

“Required Revolving Lenders” means, as of any date of determination, Revolving Lenders having
at least 50.1% of the sum of the (a) Outstanding Amount of all Revolving Loans and (b) aggregate unused
Revolving Commitments; provided that unused Revolving Commitment of, and the portion of the
Outstanding Amount of all Revolving Loans held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall be
excluded for purposes of making a determination of Required Revolving Lenders; provided further, that,
solely to the extent at such time of determination there is more than one Revolving Lender (treating a Lender
and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for this purpose) of such Class, then Required
Revolving Lenders shall require at least two Revolving Lenders (treating a Revolving Lender and all of its
Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Revolving Lender for this purpose).

“Required Term Lenders” means, as of any date of determination, Term Lenders having at least
50.1% of the sum of the (a) Outstanding Amount of all Term Loans and (b) aggregate unused Term
Commitments; provided that unused Term Commitments of, and the portion of the Outstanding Amount of
all Term Loans held or deemed held by, any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded for purposes of making a
determination of Required Term Lenders; provided further, that, (x) to the same extent set forth in
Section 10.07(m) with respect to determination of Required Lenders, the Term Loans and unused Term
Commitments of any Affiliated Lender shall in each case be excluded for purposes of making a
determination of Required Lenders and (y) solely to the extent at such time of determination there is more
than one Term Lender (treating a Lender and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Lender for
this purpose), then Required Term Lenders shall require at least two Term Lenders (treating a Term Lender
and all of its Affiliates and Approved Funds as one Term Lender for this purpose).
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“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any U.K.
Financial Institution, a U.K. Resolution Authority.

“Responsible Officer” means the chief executive officer, president, vice president, chief financial
officer, treasurer or assistant treasurer, secretary or assistant secretary or other similar officer of a Loan
Party. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of a Loan Party shall be
conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company,
partnership and/or other action on the part of such Loan Party and such Responsible Officer shall be
conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Loan Party.

“Restricted Debt Payments” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(a).

“Restricted Payment” means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or
other property) with respect to any Equity Interest of the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary, or any
payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on
account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, defeasance, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any
such Equity Interest, or on account of any return of capital to the Borrower’s or a Restricted Subsidiary’s
stockholders, partners or members (or the equivalent Persons thereof).

“Restricted Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower other than an Unrestricted
Subsidiary.

“Returns” means, with respect to any Investment, any dividends, distributions, interest, fees,
premium, return of capital, repayment of principal, income, profits (from a Disposition or otherwise) and
other amounts received or realized in respect of such Investment.

“Revolving Agent” means Monroe, in its capacity as revolving agent under any of the Loan
Documents, or any successor revolving agent.

“Revolving Agent’s Office” means the Revolving Agent’s address and account as set forth on
Schedule 10.02, or such other address or account as the Revolving Agent may from time to time notify the
Borrower and the Lenders.

“Revolving Commitment” means, as to each Revolving Lender, its obligation to make Revolving
Loans and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit and “Revolving Commitments” means such
commitments of all Lenders in the aggregate. The amount of each Revolving Lender’s Revolving
Commitment is set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 1.01 under the caption “Revolving
Commitments” or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Lender becomes a party
hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with this Agreement
(including Section 2.14). The aggregate Revolving Commitments as of the Closing Date is C$12,500,000;
provided that if the Revolving Loan is not drawn on November 3, 2021 (or such later date as approved by
the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion) other than as a result of a breach by an Agent or Lender of
any material funding obligation under this Agreement, the Revolving Commitment shall automatically be
reduced to $0.

“Revolving Exposure” means, as to each Lender, (a) prior to the termination of the Revolving
Commitments, that Lender’s Revolving Commitment; and (b) after the termination of the Revolving
Commitments, the sum of (i) the outstanding Principal Amount of the Revolving Loans of that Lender,
(ii) in the case of each Issuing Bank, the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage in respect of all Letters of Credit
issued by that Lender (net of any participations by Lenders in such Letters of Credit), and (iii) the aggregate
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amount of all participations by that Lender in any outstanding Letters of Credit or any unreimbursed
drawing under any Letter of Credit.

“Revolving Facility” means, at any time, the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments
and Letters of Credit hereunder.

“Revolving Lender” means, at any time, any Lender that has a Revolving Commitment at such
time or, if the Revolving Commitments have terminated, Revolving Exposure.

“Revolving Loans” means any Revolving Loan made pursuant to Section 2.01(b), Incremental
Revolving Loans, Refinancing Revolving Loans or Extended Revolving Commitments, as the context may
require.

“Revolving Note” means a promissory note of the Borrower payable to any Revolving Lender or
its registered assigns, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 hereto, evidencing the aggregate Indebtedness
of the Borrower to such Revolving Lender resulting from the Revolving Loans made by such Revolving
Lender to the Borrower.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Financial Services LLC, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc.,
and any successor thereto.

“Sale Leaseback Transaction” means a sale leaseback transaction with respect to all or any
portion of any real property owned by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary.

“Same Day Funds” means immediately available funds.

“Sanction(s)” means economic sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. government
(including the U.S. Department of State and OFAC), Her Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom, the
European Union, the Government of Canada, the United Nations Security Council and any other relevant
sanctions authority with jurisdiction over Holdings, the Borrower, any of their respective Subsidiaries, or
any of the parties to this Agreement, as applicable.

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of
designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, the U.S. Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce, or by the United Nations
Security Council, the European Union, any European Union member state, the United Kingdom, Canada
or other relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned
Country or (c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or Persons described in the foregoing
clauses (a) or (b).

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority
succeeding to any of its principal functions.

“Secured Hedge Agreement” means any Swap Contract that is entered into by and between the
Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary and any Approved Counterparty.

“Secured Net Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Test Period, the ratio of
(a) Consolidated Net Debt that is secured by Liens on the Collateral as of the last day of such Test Period

to (b) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the Borrower for such Test Period, all of the foregoing determined
on a Pro Forma Basis.

65

US-DOCS\127100939.8



“Secured Parties” means, collectively, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Revolving Agent, the Lenders, each Issuing Bank, any Approved Counterparty party to a Secured Hedge
Agreement or Treasury Services Agreement, the Supplemental Agents and each co-agent or sub-agent
appointed by the Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent or Revolving Agent from time to time pursuant
to Section 9.02.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Security Agreement” means with respect to (a) any Loan Party that is incorporated under the
laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof, the Ontario law governed security agreement
substantially in the form of Exhibit E, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among Holdings, the Borrower,
certain Canadian Subsidiaries of the Borrower from time to time party thereto and the Collateral Agent and
(b) any Loan Party that is organized under the Laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District
of Columbia, if any, a New York law governed security agreement substantially in such form as agreed by
the Borrower and the Collateral Agent, by and among certain U.S. Subsidiaries of the Borrower from time
to time party thereto and the Collateral Agent.

“Security Agreement Supplement” means “Security Agreement Supplement” or comparable
term forth in the applicable Security Agreement.

“Sellers” has the meaning set forth in the Preliminary Statements to this Agreement.

“Solvent” and “Solvency” mean, with respect to any Person on any date of determination, that on
such date (a) the fair value of the assets of such Person, on a consolidated basis with its Restricted
Subsidiaries, exceeds its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, on a consolidated
basis, (b) the present fair saleable value of the property of such Person, on a consolidated basis with its
Restricted Subsidiaries, is greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable liability of its
debts and other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, on a consolidated basis, as such debts and
other liabilities become absolute and matured, (c) such Person, on a consolidated basis with its Restricted
Subsidiaries, is able to pay its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, on a consolidated
basis, as such liabilities become absolute and matured and (d) such Person, on a consolidated basis with its
Restricted Subsidiaries, is not engaged in, and is not about to engage in, business for which it has
unreasonably small capital. For purposes of this definition, the amount of any contingent liability at any
time shall be computed as the amount that would reasonably be expected to become an actual and matured
liability.

“SPC” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.07(i).

“Specified Amalgamations” means, collectively, Pre-Closing Amalgamation and the
Amalgamation.

“Specified Disqualified Lender” means (a) any of the entities identified in accordance with clause
(b) of the “Disqualified Lender” definition and as “Specified Disqualified Lenders” (which shall not be
more than 7 entities) and (b) any reasonably identifiable (on the basis of its name or as identified in writing
by or on behalf of the Sponsor or the Borrower) affiliate of, or fund managed or advised by, the entities
described in the preceding clause (a), other than bona fide debt funds or investment vehicles that are
engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans, bonds and similar
extensions of credit in the ordinary course of business.

“Specified Event of Default” means an Event of Default under clause (a), (f) or (g) of Section 8.01.
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“Specified Representations” means those representations and warranties made by Holdings and
the Initial Borrower on the Closing Date in Sections 5.01(a), 5.01(b)(ii), 5.02(a), 5.02(b)(i), 5.04, 5.12(a)
(with respect to only the compliance of the Transactions with such Laws), 5.12(b), 5.16, 5.18 (with respect
to the Patriot Act and Anti-Money Laundering Laws), 5.18 (with respect to only the use of proceeds of the
Loans on the Closing Date not violating Sanctions or Anti-Corruption Laws) and 5.19 (with respect to only
the Loan Documents delivered on the Closing Date and the collateral-related deliveries and actions made
or taken on the Closing Date).

“Specified Transaction” means any Permitted Acquisition, Investment, Disposition, incurrence of
Indebtedness, Restricted Payment, Restricted Debt Payment, Subsidiary designation, Incremental Facility
or other transaction in respect of which the terms of this Agreement require any test to be calculated on a
“Pro Forma Basis” or after giving “Pro Forma Effect” (or similar language); provided that an Incremental
Revolving Facility (if any), for the purpose of this “Specified Transaction” definition, shall be deemed fully
drawn on the date Commitments therefor are first obtained (subject to Section 1.03(b)).

“Sponsor” means (a) any funds, limited partnerships or co-investment vehicles managed or advised
by GreyLion Capital LP or any of its Affiliates or direct or indirect Subsidiaries (or jointly managed by any
such Person or over which any such Person exercises governance rights) and/or (b) any investors in the
Persons identified in clause (a) who are investors in such Persons as of the Closing Date, and from time to
time, invest directly or indirectly in Holdings or any direct or indirect parent of Holdings (but excluding
any portfolio companies of any of the foregoing.

“Sponsor Management Agreement” means any management or advisory agreement entered into
after the date hereof, by and among the Sponsor (or certain of the management companies associated with
it or its advisors), on the one hand, and one or more of the Loan Parties and/or Parent Companies, on the
other hand, in connection with management and advisory services provided by the Sponsor (or certain of
the management companies associated with it or its advisors), which such agreement is in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent (including as it relates to the amount of fees
payable to Sponsor (or certain of the management companies associated with it or its advisors)), as the same
may be amended, modified, replaced, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance
with its terms, but only to the extent that any such amendment, modification, replacement, supplement or
other modification does not, directly or indirectly, increase the obligation of Holdings, the Borrower or any
of its Restricted Subsidiaries to make any payments thereunder.

“STA” means the Securities Transfer Act, 2006 (Ontario), including the regulations thereto;
provided, however, if perfection or the effect of perfection or non-perfection or the priority of any Lien on
any Collateral that is investment property is governed by the laws in effect in any province or territory of
Canada other than Ontario in which there is in force legislation substantially the same as the Securities
Transfer Act, 2006 (Ontario), then “STA” shall mean such other legislation as in effect from time to time
in such other province or territory for purposes of the provisions thereof referring to or incorporating by
reference provisions of the STA.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability
company or other entity of which (a) the Equity Interests having ordinary voting power (other than Equity
Interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) to elect a majority of the
Board of Directors of such corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity are at the time
owned by such Person, (b) more than 50.0% of the Equity Interests are at the time owned by such Person
or (c) the management is otherwise controlled, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries,
or both, by such Person and GAAP requires that the assets, liabilities, Net Income and cash flows of such
entity are consolidated in their entirety (subject to any minority interest of other Persons in such entity) in
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the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows, as applicable, of
such Person. Unless otherwise indicated in this Agreement, all references to Subsidiaries will mean
Subsidiaries of the Borrower. For the avoidance of doubt, any entity that does not meet the criteria set forth
above shall not be a “Subsidiary” for any purpose under this Agreement based on the fact that such entity
is consolidated on Holdings’, the Borrower’s or any Restricted Subsidiary’s financial statements.

“Subsidiary Guarantor” means any Guarantor other than Holdings.
“Successor Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(d).

“Supplemental Agent” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.13(a) and “Supplemental Agents”
shall have a corresponding meaning.

“Supporting Obligations” has the meaning assigned thereto in the UCC.

“Swap” means, any agreement, contract, or transaction that constitutes a “swap” within the
meaning of Section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act.

“Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative
transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity
contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or
forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward
foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap
transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar
transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the
foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b)
any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and
conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master
agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master Agreement”),
including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

“Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Person, any obligation to pay or perform under any
Swap.

“Swap Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Swap Contracts, after taking
into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Swap Contracts, (a) for
any date on or after the date such Swap Contracts have been closed out and termination value(s) determined
in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for any date prior to the date referenced in
clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mark-to-market value(s) for such Swap Contracts, as determined
based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available quotations provided by any recognized dealer
in such Swap Contracts (which may include a Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender).

“Target” has the meaning set forth in the Preliminary Statements to this Agreement.
“Target Debt” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Closing Date Refinancing.
“Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(a).

“Term Commitment” means, as to each Term Lender, its obligation to make a Term Loan to the
Borrower hereunder, expressed as an amount representing the maximum principal amount of the Term
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Loan to be made by such Term Lender under this Agreement, as such commitment may be adjusted from
time to time pursuant to this Agreement; provided that if the Term Loan is not drawn on November 3,
2021 (or such later date as approved by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion) other than as a
result of a breach by an Agent or Lender of any material funding obligation under this Agreement, the
Term Commitment shall automatically be reduced to $0.

“Term Lender” means, at any time, any Lender that has an Initial Term Commitment, a Term
Commitment or a Term Loan at such time.

“Term Loans” means any Initial Term Loan, any Incremental Term Loan, Refinancing Term Loan
or Extended Term Loans, as the context may require.

“Term Note” means a promissory note of the Borrower payable to any Term Lender or its
registered assigns, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-1 hereto, evidencing the aggregate Indebtedness
of the Borrower to such Term Lender resulting from the Term Loans of each Class made by such Term
Lender.

“Test Period” in effect at any time means the most recent period of four consecutive fiscal quarters
of the Borrower ended on or prior to such time (taken as one accounting period) in respect of which financial
statements for each quarter or fiscal year in such period have been or are required to be delivered pursuant
to Section 6.01(a) or 6.01(b), as applicable; provided that, prior to the first date that financial statements
have been or are required to be delivered pursuant to any such Sections, the Test Period in effect will be
the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower ended August 31, 2021. A Test Period may
be designated by reference to the last day thereof (i.e., the “August 31, 2021 Test Period” refers to the
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on August 31, 2021) or by reference to the applicable fiscal
period (i.e., references to the “Q4-2021 Test Period” and the “Fiscal Year 2021 Test Period” also both refer
to the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on November 30, 2021), and a Test Period will be
deemed to end on the last day thereof.

“Threshold Amount” means the greater of (a) 20% multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (b)
an amount equal to 20% multiplied by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as of the applicable date of
determination.

“Total Assets” means the total assets of the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, as shown on the most recent balance sheet delivered pursuant
to Section 6.01(a) or 6.01(b); provided that, solely for purposes of clauses (a)(iv) and (c) of Section 6.13,
“Total Assets” shall mean the total assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP, as shown on the most recent balance sheet delivered pursuant to Section 6.01(a)

or 6.01(h).

“Total Net Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Test Period, the ratio of (a) Consolidated
Net Debt as of the last day of such Test Period to (b) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the Borrower for
such Test Period, all of the foregoing determined on a Pro Forma Basis.

“Total Outstandings” means the aggregate Outstanding Amount of all Loans.
“Total Utilization of Revolving Commitments” means, as of any date of determination, the sum
of (i) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Revolving Loans other than Revolving Loans made

for the purpose of reimbursing the Issuing Banks for any amount drawn under any Letter of Credit, but not
yet so applied, and (ii) the Letter of Credit Usage.
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“Transaction Expenses” means any fees, costs or expenses incurred or paid by the Sponsor,
Holdings, the Borrower or any of its (or their) Subsidiaries in connection with the Transactions (including
any original issue discount or upfront fees), this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

“Transactions” means, collectively, (a) the Equity Contribution, (b) the execution and delivery of
Loan Documents entered into on the Closing Date, (c) the funding of the Initial Term Loans and any Initial
Revolving Borrowing on the Closing Date, (d) the consummation of the Acquisition, the Specified
Amalgamations and the other transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement, (e) the Closing
Date Refinancing, (f) and the payment of Transaction Expenses.

“Transferred Guarantor” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.09(a).

“Treasury Services Agreement” means any agreement or other arrangements between the
Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary and any Approved Counterparty relating to treasury, depository,
credit card, credit card processing services, debit card, stored value cards, commercial cards, purchasing or
procurement cards, merchant processing services, cash management and treasury management services and
products, automated clearinghouse transfer of funds or any similar services or products, including
controlled disbursement accounts or services, lockboxes, automated clearinghouse transactions, overdrafts
and interstate depository network services. The indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to
the provider of any Treasury Services Agreement (including all obligations and liabilities owing to such
provider in respect of any returned items deposited with such provider) (the “Cash Management
Liabilities™) shall be “Obligations” hereunder and otherwise treated as Obligations for purposes of each of
the Loan Documents.

“TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” means, as of any date of determination, the
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the Borrower, determined on a Pro Forma Basis, for the Test Period
most recently ended on or prior to such date; provided that, solely for purposes of clauses (a)(iv) and (c) of
Section 6.13, Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as used in this definition shall be deemed to refer to, and
calculated for, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

“Type” means, with respect to a Loan, its character as a Base Rate Loan, a Canadian Prime Rate
Loan, a CDOR Rate Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan.

“U.K. Financial Institution” means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the
PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation
Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time)
promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions
and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

“U.K. Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative
authority having responsibility for the resolution of any U.K. Financial Institution.

“Uniform Commercial Code” or “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as the same may
from time to time be in effect in the State of New York or the Uniform Commercial Code (or similar code
or statute) of another jurisdiction, to the extent it may be required to apply to any item or items of Collateral.

Terms defined by reference to the UCC that are defined in more than one article thereof shall have the
meaning specified in Article 9 thereof.

“United States” and “U.S.” mean the United States of America.
70

US-DOCS\127100939.8



“United States Tax Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit H-1, H-2, H-3 or H-4 hereto, as applicable.

“Unrestricted Subsidiary” means (i) any Subsidiary of the Borrower designated by the Board of
Directors of the Borrower as an Unrestricted Subsidiary pursuant to Section 6.13 subsequent to the Closing
Date and (ii) any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary. As of the Closing Date, the Borrower has no
Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

“Unsecured Additional Debt Basket” means an amount equal to (a) the greater of (i) 30%
multiplied by Closing Date EBITDA and (ii) 30% multiplied by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA,
minus (b) the initial aggregate principal amount of any unsecured Incremental Facilities, unsecured
Incremental Equivalent Debt, unsecured Permitted Ratio Debt and unsecured Incurred Acquisition Ratio
Debt that is then outstanding and not contractually subordinated in right of payment to the Initial Term
Loans and the Revolving Facility.

“U.S. Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized under the Laws of the United States,
any state thereof or the District of Columbia.

“USA PATRIOT Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Title Il of Public Law 107-56 ((signed
into law October 26, 2001)), as amended or modified from time to time.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the
number of years obtained by dividing: (a) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (i) the amount
of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payments of principal,
including payment at final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the number of years (calculated to the nearest
one-twelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such payment; by (b) the then outstanding
principal amount of such Indebtedness; provided that for purposes of determining the Weighted Average
Life to Maturity of (x) any Refinanced Debt, (y) any Indebtedness that is being modified, refinanced,
refunded, renewed, replaced or extended, or (z) any Term Loans for purposes of incurring any other
Indebtedness (in any such case, the “Applicable Indebtedness”), the effects of any amortization payments
or other prepayments made on such Applicable Indebtedness (including the effect of any prepayment on
remaining scheduled amortization) prior to the date of the applicable modification, refinancing, refunding,
renewal, replacement, extension or incurrence shall be disregarded.

“Wholly Owned” means, with respect to a Subsidiary of a Person, a Subsidiary of such Person all
of the outstanding Equity Interests of which (other than (x) director’s qualifying shares and (y) shares issued
to foreign nationals to the extent required by applicable Law) are owned by such Person and/or by one or
more wholly owned Subsidiaries of such Person.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority,
the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-
In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are
described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers
of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change
the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability
arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other
person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised
under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In
Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.
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Section 1.02  Other Interpretive Provisions. With reference to this Agreement and each other
Loan Document, unless otherwise specified herein or in such other Loan Document:

(@) The meanings of defined terms are equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of
the defined terms.
(b) The words “herein,” “hereto,” “hereof” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when
used in any Loan Document shall refer to such Loan Document as a whole and not to any particular
provision thereof.

(c) References to an Article, Section, Exhibit, Schedule, clause or sub-clause refer (i) to the
appropriate Exhibit or Schedule to, or Article, Section, clause or sub-clause in this Agreement or (ii) to the
extent such references are not present in this Agreement, to the Loan Document in which such reference
appears.

(d) Any reference herein to (i) any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s
successors and permitted assigns, (ii) any agreement, instrument or other document (including any
Organization Document) shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document
as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such
amendments, supplements or modifications set forth in this Agreement) and (iii) any law or regulation will
include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, replacing or interpreting or supplementing
such law or regulation and, unless otherwise specified, refer to such law or regulation as amended, modified
or supplemented from time to time.

(e) The terms “include,” “includes,” and “including” are by way of example and not limitation.

(f The term “documents” includes any and all instruments, documents, agreements,
certificates, notices, reports, financial statements and other writings, however evidenced, whether in
physical or electronic form.

(9) The words “assets” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect.

(h) The word “or” is not exclusive.

(1) In the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date, the
word “from” means “from and including”; the words “to” and “until” each mean *“to but excluding”; and

the word “through” means “to and including.”

() Section headings herein and in the other Loan Documents are included for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(K) The word “incur” (and its correlatives) shall be construed to mean incur, create or issue.

Section 1.03  Accounting Terms and Ratio Calculations.

@) All accounting terms not specifically or completely defined herein shall be construed in
conformity with, and all financial data (including financial ratios and other financial calculations) required
to be submitted pursuant to this Agreement shall be prepared in conformity with, GAAP, applied in a
manner consistent with that used in preparing the Financial Statements or the audited financial statements
required to be delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 6.01(a), as applicable, except as otherwise
specifically prescribed herein. For purposes of calculating any consolidated amounts necessary to
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determine compliance by any Person and, if applicable, its Restricted Subsidiaries with any ratio or other
financial covenant in this Agreement, Unrestricted Subsidiaries shall be excluded. Unless the context
indicates otherwise, any reference to a “fiscal year” shall refer to a fiscal year of the Borrower ending
November 30, and any reference to a “fiscal quarter” shall refer to a fiscal quarter of the Borrower ending
on the last day of February, May, August or November. All determinations of fair market value under a
Loan Document shall be made by the Borrower in good faith and, if such determination is consistent with
a valuation or opinion of an Independent Financial Advisor, such determination shall be conclusive for all
purposes under the Loan Documents or related to the Obligations.

(b) For purposes of (i) determining compliance with any provision of this Agreement which
requires the calculation of any financial ratio or test (including the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio, the
Secured Net Leverage Ratio and the Total Net Leverage Ratio), (ii) determining compliance with any
provision of this Agreement which requires that no Default, Event of Default, Specified Event of Default
or any other type of “default” or “event of default” (other than a Specified Event of Default), as applicable,
has occurred, is continuing or would result therefrom, (iii) determining compliance with representations or
warranties, (iv) testing availability under baskets set forth in this Agreement (including baskets measured
as a percentage of TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA) or (v) determining compliance with any other
condition precedent under this Agreement, in each case, in connection with a Limited Condition
Acquisition, at the option of the Borrower (the Borrower’s election to exercise such option in connection
with any Limited Condition Acquisition, an “LCA Election”)), the date of determination of whether such
Limited Condition Acquisition (and the incurrence of any Indebtedness and Liens, the making of any
Disposition, Investment or designation of a Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary or an Unrestricted
Subsidiary or the making of any Restricted Payment or Restricted Debt Payment, in each case, in connection
therewith) is permitted under this Agreement shall be deemed to be the date the definitive agreements for
such Limited Condition Acquisition are entered into (the “LCA Test Date”). If, after giving Pro Forma
Effect to the Limited Condition Acquisition and the other transactions to be entered into in connection
therewith as if they had occurred at the beginning of the most recent Test Period or other applicable date or
period of determination ending prior to the LCA Test Date, the Borrower could have taken such action on
the relevant LCA Test Date in compliance with such requirements, such requirements shall be deemed to
have been complied with. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Borrower has made an LCA Election and any
of the ratios or baskets for which compliance was determined or tested as of the LCA Test Date are exceeded
as a result of fluctuations in any such ratio or basket (including due to fluctuations in Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA or Total Assets of the Borrower or the Person subject to such Limited Condition Acquisition) at
or prior to the consummation of the relevant transaction or action, such baskets or ratios will be deemed not
to have been exceeded as a result of such fluctuations. If the Borrower has made an LCA Election for any
Limited Condition Acquisition, then in connection with any subsequent calculation of such ratios or baskets
on or following the relevant LCA Test Date and prior to the earlier of (i) the date on which such Limited
Condition Acquisition is consummated or (ii) the date that the definitive agreement for such Limited
Condition Acquisition is terminated or expires without consummation of such Limited Condition
Acquisition, any such ratio or basket shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis assuming such Limited
Condition Acquisition and other transactions in connection therewith (including any incurrence of
Indebtedness and the use of proceeds thereof) have been consummated; provided that, in the case of any
Restricted Payment, any such ratio or basket shall be calculated both as if such Limited Condition
Acquisition and other transactions in connection therewith have been consummated and have not been
consummated. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amount of any Incremental Loans under the Ratio
Amount determined at the time of signing of definitive documentation with respect to, or giving of notice
with respect to, a Limited Condition Acquisition may be recalculated, at the option of the Borrower, at the
time of funding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an LCA Election will cease to be effective with respect to
the applicable Limited Condition Acquisition on the 121% day after the applicable LCA Test Date.
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(c) With respect to any amounts of Indebtedness incurred in reliance on a provision of any
Loan Document that does not require compliance with a financial ratio or test (including the First Lien Net
Leverage Ratio, the Secured Net Leverage Ratio and the Total Net Leverage Ratio) (any such amounts, the
“Fixed Amounts” (and which Fixed Amounts shall include any related “grower” component based on a
percentage of TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA)) substantially concurrently with any amounts
incurred or transactions entered into (or consummated) in reliance on a provision of such Loan Document
that requires compliance with a financial ratio or test (including the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio, the
Secured Net Leverage Ratio and the Total Net Leverage Ratio) (any such amounts, the “Ratio-Based
Amounts”), it is understood and agreed that the Fixed Amounts shall be disregarded in the calculation of
the financial ratio or test applicable to such Ratio-Based Amounts.

Section 1.04  Rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained by the Borrower
pursuant to this Agreement (or required to be satisfied in order for a specific action to be permitted under
this Agreement) shall be calculated by dividing the appropriate component by the other component,
carrying the result to one decimal place more than the number of decimal places by which such ratio is
expressed herein and rounding the result up or down to the nearest decimal place so expressed (with a
rounding up if there is no nearest number).

Section 1.05  References to Agreements, Laws, Etc. Unless otherwise expressly provided
herein, (a) references to Organization Documents, agreements (including the Loan Documents) and other
contractual instruments shall be deemed to include all subsequent amendments, restatements, extensions,
supplements and other modifications thereto, but only to the extent that such amendments, restatements,
extensions, supplements and other modifications are permitted by the Loan Documents; and (b) references
to any Law shall include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing,
supplementing or interpreting such Law.

Section 1.06  Times of Day. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to times of day
shall be references to Eastern time (daylight or standard, as applicable).

Section 1.07  Timing of Payment or Performance. When the payment of any obligation or the
performance of any covenant, duty or obligation is stated to be due or performance required on a day which
is not a Business Day, the date of such payment (other than as described in the definition of Interest Period)
or performance shall extend to the immediately succeeding Business Day.

Section 1.08  Currency Equivalents Generally.

@) For purposes of determining compliance with Sections 7.01, 7.02 and 7.03 with respect to
any amount of Lien, Indebtedness or Investment in a currency other than Canadian Dollars, no Default or
Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred solely as a result of changes in rates of currency exchange
occurring after the time such Lien, Indebtedness or Investment is incurred (so long as such Indebtedness or
Investment, at the time incurred, made or acquired, was permitted hereunder).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, where the permissibility
of a transaction or determinations of required actions or circumstances depend upon compliance with, or
are determined by reference to, amounts stated in Canadian Dollars or Dollars, any requisite currency
translation (i) with respect to Loans or Commitments, shall be based on the Exchange Rate and (ii) with
respect to any other amounts, shall be based on the rate of exchange between the applicable currency and
Canadian Dollars or Dollars, as applicable, as reasonably determined by the Borrower, in each case in effect
on the Business Day immediately preceding the date of such transaction or determination (subject to
clauses (c) and (d) below) and shall not be affected by subsequent fluctuations in exchange rates.
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(c) For purposes of determining compliance with any Canadian Dollar-denominated or Dollar-
denominated restriction on the incurrence of Indebtedness, the Canadian Dollar-equivalent or Dollar-
equivalent principal amount of Indebtedness denominated in a foreign currency shall be calculated based
on the Exchange Rate in effect on the date such Indebtedness was incurred, in the case of term debt, or first
committed, in the case of revolving credit debt (or, in the case of an LCA Election, on the date of the
applicable LCA Test Date); provided that, if such Indebtedness is incurred to refinance other Indebtedness
denominated in a foreign currency, and such refinancing would cause the applicable Canadian Dollar-
denominated or Dollar-denominated restriction to be exceeded if calculated at the Exchange Rate in effect
on the date of such refinancing, such Canadian Dollar-denominated or Dollar-denominated restriction shall
be deemed not to have been exceeded so long as the principal amount of such Indebtedness so refinanced
does not exceed the principal amount of such Indebtedness being refinanced. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the principal amount of any Indebtedness incurred to refinance other Indebtedness, if incurred
in a different currency from the Indebtedness being refinanced, shall be calculated based on the Exchange
Rate that is in effect on the date of such refinancing.

(d) For purposes of determining the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio, the Secured Net Leverage
Ratio or the Total Net Leverage Ratio, including Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA when calculating such
ratios, all amounts denominated in a currency other than Canadian Dollars will be converted to Canadian
Dollars for any purpose (including testing the any financial maintenance covenant) at the effective rate of
exchange in respect thereof reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for the
applicable Test Period for which such measurement is being made, and will reflect the currency translation
effects, determined in accordance with GAAP, of Swap Contracts permitted hereunder for currency
exchange risks with respect to the applicable currency in effect on the date of determination of the Dollar
equivalent of such Indebtedness.

Section 1.09  Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any
division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s
laws): (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or
liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to
the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed
to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.

ARTICLE II.
The Commitments and Credit Extensions

Section 2.01  The Loans.

@) The Term Borrowings. On the terms herein and subject to the conditions set forth in
Section 4.02 hereof, each Lender with an Initial Term Commitment severally agrees to make to the Initial
Borrower on the Closing Date term loans denominated in Dollars in an amount equal to the amount of such
Lender’s Initial Term Commitment (the “Initial Term Loans”); provided that on and from the
consummation of the Amalgamation, all obligations in respect of the Initial Term Loans will constitute
obligations of the Company and the Company shall become the Borrower hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents. Amounts borrowed under this Section 2.01(a) and repaid or prepaid may not be
reborrowed. The Borrower has directed the Agent and the Lenders to enter into an agreement with a third-
party financial institution on the Closing Date to effect a conversion of the proceeds of the Initial Term
Loans into Canadian Dollars and to fund Sellers with such proceeds. For the avoidance of doubt,
notwithstanding the foregoing direction to convert the Initial Term Loans into Canadian Dollars, the Initial
Term Loans shall remain denominated in Dollars for all purposes hereunder, including, without limitation,
for purposes of computation of interest, prepayments and payments, which shall be based on Initial Term
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Loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to $32,345,449.40 as such amount is reduced by payments
and prepayments hereunder.

(b) The Revolving Borrowings. On the terms herein and subject to the conditions set forth in
Sections 4.02 or 4.03 hereof as applicable, each Revolving Lender severally agrees to make revolving credit
loans denominated in Canadian Dollars to the Borrower from its applicable Lending Office (each such loan,
a “Revolving Loan”) from time to time, but no more than once per week unless otherwise agreed by the
Revolving Agent, as elected by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.02, on any Business Day during the
period from the Closing Date until the Maturity Date with respect to such Revolving Lender’s Revolving
Commitment, in an aggregate Principal Amount not to exceed at any time outstanding the amount of such
Lender’s Revolving Commitment at such time; provided that after giving effect to any Borrowing of
Revolving Loans, the aggregate Outstanding Amount of the Revolving Loans shall not exceed the aggregate
Revolving Commitments. Within the limits of each Lender’s Revolving Commitments, and subject to the
other terms and conditions hereof, the Borrower may borrow under this Section 2.01(b), prepay under
Section 2.05, and reborrow under this Section 2.01(b). Revolving Loans may be Canadian Prime Rate
Loans or CDOR Rate Loans, as further provided herein.

Section 2.02 Borrowings, Conversions and Continuations of Loans.

@) (x) The Borrowing of Initial Term Loans shall be made upon the Borrower’s notice to the
Administrative Agent and (y) the Initial Revolving Borrowing shall be made upon the Borrower’s notice
to the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent, which notice may be given timely by electronic mail
(but followed by a Committed Loan Notice); provided that such notice may be conditioned on the
occurrence of the Closing Date. Each other Borrowing, each conversion of Loans from one Type to the
other, and each continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans shall be made upon the
Borrower’s irrevocable notice to the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent (as applicable), which
may be given timely by electronic mail (but followed by a Committed Loan Notice); provided further, that
such notice may be conditioned on the occurrence of the Closing Date or any transaction or other event
anticipated to occur in connection therewith or other permitted use of proceeds thereof. Each such notice
must be received by the Administrative Agent with respect to the Term Loans or the Administrative Agent
and the Revolving Agent with respect to the Revolving Loans (as applicable) not later than (i) with respect
to any Borrowing of Revolving Loans, (x) 4:00 p.m. New York City time on the requested date of any
Borrowing of Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime Rate Loans, and (y) 4:00 p.m. New York City time on
the date that is three (3) Business Days prior to the requested date of any Borrowing or continuation of
Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans or any conversion of Base Rate Loans to Eurocurrency
Rate Loans or of Canadian Prime Rate Loans to CDOR Rate Loans (or, in each case, such later date and
time as the Revolving Agent may agree) and (ii) with respect to any Borrowing of Term Loans, (X) 11:00
a.m. New York City time on the date that is two (2) Business Days prior to the requested date of any
Borrowing of Base Rate Loans, and (y) 11:00 a.m. New York City time on the date that is three (3) Business
Days prior to the requested date of any Borrowing or continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR
Rate Loans or any conversion of Base Rate Loans to Eurocurrency Rate Loans or of Canadian Prime Rate
Loans to CDOR Rate Loans (or, in each case, such later date and time as the Administrative Agent may
agree); provided that (A) the Initial Term Loans and the Initial Revolving Borrowing shall only require
notice by 4:00 p.m. New York City time on the date that is three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing
Date (or such later time and date as the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) may
agree), and (B) any request for a Borrowing may be contingent on consummation of the Acquisition,
Permitted Investment or other permitted use of the proceeds thereof, as applicable. Each notice by the
Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.02(a) must be given (or confirmed promptly thereafter, as applicable)
by delivery to the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) of a written Committed
Loan Notice, appropriately completed and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower. Except as
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provided in Section 2.14(a), each Borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans
or CDOR Rate Loans shall be in a minimum principal amount of $500,000, or a whole multiple of $100,000
in excess thereof (or such lesser amount(s) approved by the Administrative Agent and, solely with respect
to Revolving Loans, the Revolving Agent). Except as provided in Section 2.14(a) or the last sentence of
this paragraph, each Borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime Rate Loans shall
be in a minimum principal amount of $500,000, or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof (or such
lesser amount(s) approved by the Administrative Agent and, solely with respect to Revolving Loans, the
Revolving Agent). Each Committed Loan Notice shall specify (i) whether the Borrower is requesting a
Borrowing of Term Loans or Revolving Loans of a particular Class, a conversion of Loans of any Class
from one Type to the other, or a continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans, (ii) the
requested date of the Borrowing, conversion or continuation, as the case may be (which shall be a Business
Day), (iii) the principal amount of Loans to be borrowed, converted or continued, (iv) the Type of Loans to
be borrowed or to which existing Term Loans of a Class or Revolving Loans are to be converted and (v) if
applicable, the duration of the Interest Period with respect thereto. If the Borrower fails to specify a Type
of Loan in a Committed Loan Notice or fails to give a timely notice requesting a conversion or continuation,
then the applicable Loans shall be made or continued as or converted to Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime
Rate Loans. Any such automatic continuation or conversion shall be effective as of the last day of the
Interest Period then in effect with respect to the applicable Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans.
If the Borrower requests a Borrowing of, conversion to, or continuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or
CDOR Rate Loans in any such Committed Loan Notice, but fails to specify an Interest Period, it will be
deemed to have specified an Interest Period of one (1) month.

(b) Following receipt of a Committed Loan Notice, the Administrative Agent or the Revolving
Agent (as applicable) shall promptly notify each Lender of the amount of its Pro Rata Share or other
applicable share provided for under this Agreement of the applicable Class of Loans, and if no timely notice
of a conversion or continuation is provided by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Revolving
Agent (as applicable) shall notify each Lender of the details of any automatic conversion or continuation
described in Section 2.02(a). In the case of each Borrowing, each Appropriate Lender shall make the
amount of its Loan available to the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) in Same
Day Funds at the Administrative Agent’s Office or the Revolving Agent’s Office not later than 1:00 p.m.
(New York City time) on the Business Day specified in the applicable Committed Loan Notice. The
Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) shall make all funds so received available to
the Borrower in like funds as received by the Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable)
by wire transfer of such funds in accordance with instructions provided (and reasonably acceptable) to the
Administrative Agent or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) by the Borrower.

(c) Except as otherwise provided herein, a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan may
be continued or converted only on the last day of an Interest Period for such Eurocurrency Rate Loan or
CDOR Rate Loan unless the Borrower pays the amount due under Section 3.05 in connection therewith.
During the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent, the Revolving
Agent and the Required Lenders may require by notice to the Borrower that no Loan may be made as,
converted to or continued as Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans.

(d) The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Revolving Agent, the Borrower and
the Lenders of the interest rate applicable to any Interest Period for Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR
Rate Loans upon determination of such interest rate. The determination of the Eurocurrency Rate or CDOR
Rate by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. At any time that
Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime Rate Loans are outstanding, the Administrative Agent shall notify the
Revolving Agent, the Borrower and the Lenders of any change in the Prime Rate used in determining the
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Base Rate, or the PRIMCAN Index used in determining the Canadian Prime Rate, promptly following the
announcement of such change.

(e) After giving effect to all Borrowings, all conversions of Loans from one Type to the other,
and all continuations of Loans as the same Type, there shall not be more than seven (7) Interest Periods in
effect.

(f The failure of any Lender to make the Loan to be made by it as part of any Borrowing shall
not relieve any other Lender of its obligation, if any, hereunder to make its Loan on the date of such
Borrowing, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make the Loan to be
made by such other Lender on the date of any Borrowing.

Section 2.03  [Reserved].

Section 2.04  Issuance of Letters of Credit and Purchase of Participations Therein.

@) Letter of Credit Commitment.

() Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, (A) each Issuing Bank agrees,
in reliance upon the agreements of the Revolving Lenders set forth in this Section 2.04, (1) from
time to time on any Business Day on or prior to the Letter of Credit Expiration Date, to issue Letters
of Credit for the account of the Borrower or a Restricted Subsidiary (provided that any Letter of
Credit issued for the benefit of any Restricted Subsidiary shall be issued for the account of the
Borrower but such Letter of Credit shall indicate that it is being issued for the benefit of such
Restricted Subsidiary) and to amend, renew or extend Letters of Credit previously issued by it, in
accordance with Section 2.04(b) and (2) to honor drawings under the Letters of Credit; and (B) the
Revolving Lenders severally agree to participate in such Letters of Credit and any drawings
thereunder; provided that the Issuing Banks shall not be obligated to make any Letter of Credit
Extension if, as of the date of such Letter of Credit Extension, (1) the Total Utilization of Revolving
Commitments would exceed the Revolving Commitments, (2) the Total Utilization of Revolving
Commitments of any Revolving Lender, would exceed such Lender’s Revolving Commitment, (3)
the Letter of Credit Usage would exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit or (4) the Letter of Credit
Usage with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank would exceed the amount of
such Issuing Bank’s Letter of Credit Percentage of the Letter of Credit Sublimit. Within the
foregoing limits, and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Borrower’s ability to obtain
Letters of Credit shall be fully revolving, and accordingly the Borrower may, during the foregoing
period, obtain Letters of Credit to replace Letters of Credit that have expired or that have been
drawn upon and reimbursed.

(i) An Issuing Bank shall not be under any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit if:

(A) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator
shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Bank from issuing such Letter
of Credit, or any Law applicable to such Issuing Bank or any request or directive (whether
or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over
such Issuing Bank shall prohibit, or request that such Issuing Bank refrain from, the
issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose
upon such Issuing Bank with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or
capital requirement (for which such Issuing Bank is not otherwise compensated hereunder)
not in effect on the Closing Date, or shall impose upon such Issuing Bank any
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unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not applicable on the Closing Date and
which such Issuing Bank in good faith deems material to it (for which such Issuing Bank
is not otherwise compensated hereunder);

(B) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of
such Issuing Bank applicable to letters of credit generally or any applicable Law;

© except as otherwise agreed by the Revolving Agent and such Issuing Bank,
such Letter of Credit is in an initial stated amount less than C$10,000 or $10,000 (as
applicable) or is not denominated in Canadian Dollars or Dollars;

(D) such Letter of Credit contains any provisions for automatic reinstatement
of the stated amount after any drawing thereunder; and

(E) any Revolving Lender is at such time a Defaulting Lender, unless such
Issuing Bank has entered into arrangements, including reallocation of such Lender’s Pro
Rata Share of the outstanding Letter of Credit Obligations pursuant to Section 2.17(a) or
the delivery of Cash Collateral, satisfactory to such Issuing Bank (in its sole discretion)
with the Borrower or such Lender to eliminate such Issuing Bank’s actual or potential
Fronting Exposure (after giving effect to Section 2.17(a)) with respect to such Lender
arising from either the Letter of Credit then proposed to be issued or such Letter of Credit
and all other Letter of Credit Obligations as to which such Issuing Bank has actual or
potential Fronting Exposure, as it may elect in its sole discretion.

(iii) No Issuing Bank shall be under any obligation to amend or extend any Letter of
Credit if (A) such Issuing Bank would have no obligation at such time to issue the Letter of Credit
in its amended form under the terms hereof or (B) the beneficiary of such Letter of Credit does not
accept the proposed amendment thereto.

(iv) Unless Cash Collateralized or backstopped pursuant to arrangements reasonably
acceptable to the applicable Issuing Bank, each standby Letter of Credit shall expire at or prior to
the close of business on the earlier of (A) the date twelve months after the date of issuance of such
Letter of Credit (or, in the case of any Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit, twelve months after the then
current expiration date of such Letter of Credit) and (B) the Letter of Credit Expiration Date (unless
arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the Issuing Banks have been entered into).

(b) Procedures for Issuance and Amendment of Letters of Credit; Auto Renewal Letters of

(i) Each Letter of Credit shall be issued or amended, as the case may be, upon the
request of the Borrower delivered to the applicable Issuing Bank (with a copy to the Administrative
Agent and the Revolving Agent) in the form of a Letter of Credit Application, appropriately
completed and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower. Such Letter of Credit Application
must be received by the applicable Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent and the Revolving
Agent not later than 2:00 p.m. at least five Business Days (or such shorter period as the applicable
Issuing Bank and the Revolving Agent may agree in a particular instance in their sole discretion)
prior to the proposed issuance date or date of amendment, as the case may be. In the case of a
request for an initial issuance of a Letter of Credit, such Letter of Credit Application shall specify
in form and detail reasonably satisfactory to the applicable Issuing Bank (A) the proposed issuance
date of the requested Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (B) the amount thereof; (C)
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the expiry date thereof; (D) the name and address of the beneficiary thereof; (E) the documents to
be presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (F) the full text of any
certificate to be presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (G) the currency
in which the requested Letter of Credit will be denominated and (H) such other matters as the
applicable Issuing Bank may reasonably request. In the case of a request for an amendment of any
outstanding Letter of Credit, the Letter of Credit Application shall specify in form and detail
reasonably satisfactory to the applicable Issuing Bank (1) the Letter of Credit to be amended; (2) the
proposed date of amendment thereof (which shall be a Business Day); and (3) the nature of the
proposed amendment. Additionally, the Borrower shall furnish to the applicable Issuing Bank and
the Revolving Agent such other documents and information pertaining to such requested Letter of
Credit issuance or amendment, including any Letter of Credit Documents, as the applicable Issuing
Bank or the Revolving Agent may reasonably require.

(i) Promptly after receipt of any Letter of Credit Application, the applicable Issuing
Bank will confirm with the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent that the Revolving
Agent has received a copy of such Letter of Credit Application from the Borrower and, if not, the
applicable Issuing Bank will provide the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent with a
copy thereof. Upon receipt by the applicable Issuing Bank of confirmation from the Administrative
Agent that the requested issuance or amendment is permitted in accordance with the terms hereof,
then, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, such Issuing Bank shall, on the requested
date, issue a Letter of Credit or enter into the applicable amendment, as the case may be.
Immediately upon the issuance of each Letter of Credit, each Revolving Lender shall be deemed
to, and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees to, purchase from the applicable Issuing
Bank a participation in such Letter of Credit in an amount equal to such Lender’s Pro Rata Share
of the amount of such Letter of Credit.

(iii) If the Borrower so requests in any applicable Letter of Credit Application for a
standby Letter of Credit, the applicable Issuing Bank may, in its reasonable discretion, agree to
issue a standby Letter of Credit that has automatic renewal provisions (each, an “Auto-Renewal
Letter of Credit”); provided that any such Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit shall permit such Issuing
Bank to prevent any such renewal at least once in each twelve-month period (commencing with the
date of issuance of such Letter of Credit) by giving prior notice to the beneficiary thereof not later
than a day (the “Nonrenewal Notice Date”) in each such twelve-month period to be agreed upon
at the time such Letter of Credit is issued. Unless otherwise directed by the applicable Issuing
Bank, the Borrower shall not be required to make a specific request to such Issuing Bank for any
such renewal. Once an Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit has been issued, the Revolving Lenders
shall be deemed to have authorized (but may not require) the applicable Issuing Bank to permit the
renewal of such Letter of Credit at any time to an expiry date not later than the Letter of Credit
Expiration Date; provided, however, that no Issuing Bank shall (A) permit any such renewal if (1)
such Issuing Bank has determined that it would not be permitted at such time to issue such Letter
of Credit in its renewed form under the terms hereof (by reason of the provisions of subclause (ii)
or (iii) of Section 2.04(a) or otherwise) or (2) it has received written notice on or before the day
that is seven Business Days before the Nonrenewal Notice Date from the Revolving Agent that the
Required Revolving Lenders have elected not to permit such renewal or (B) be obligated to permit
such renewal if it has received written notice on or before the day that is seven Business Days
before the Nonrenewal Notice Date from the Administrative Agent, the Revolving Agent, any
Revolving Lender or the Borrower that one or more of the applicable conditions set forth in
Section 4.03 is not then satisfied, and in each such case directing the applicable Issuing Bank not
to permit such renewal.
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(iv) Promptly after its delivery of any Letter of Credit or any amendment to a Letter of
Credit to an advising bank with respect thereto or to the beneficiary thereof, the applicable Issuing
Bank will also deliver to the Borrower and the Revolving Agent a true and complete copy of such
Letter of Credit or amendment, as applicable.

(c) Drawings and Reimbursement; Funding of Participations.

(i) Upon receipt from the beneficiary of any Letter of Credit of any notice of a drawing
under such Letter of Credit, the applicable Issuing Bank shall notify the Borrower, the
Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent thereof, and such Issuing Bank shall, within a
reasonable time following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to represent a
demand for payment under such Letter of Credit. If an Issuing Bank notifies the Borrower of any
payment by such Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit, then the Borrower shall reimburse such
Issuing Bank in an amount equal to the amount of such drawing not later than 3:00 p.m. on the next
succeeding Business Day. If the Borrower fails to so reimburse such Issuing Bank by such time,
such Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent of such
failure and the Revolving Agent shall promptly thereafter notify each Revolving Lender of such
payment date, the amount of the unreimbursed drawing (the “Reimbursement Obligations”) and
the amount of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share thereof. In such event, the Borrower shall be deemed
to have requested a Borrowing of Revolving Loans that are Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime
Rate Loans to be disbursed on such date in an amount equal to such Reimbursement Obligation,
without regard to the minimum and multiples specified in Section 2.02(b) for the principal amount
of Base Rate Loans or Canadian Prime Rate Loans to be disbursed on such date in an amount equal
to the Canadian Dollar amount of such Reimbursement Obligation. Any notice given by an Issuing
Bank or the Revolving Agent pursuant to this clause (i) shall be given in writing.

(i) Each Revolving Lender (including each Revolving Lender acting as an Issuing
Bank) shall upon any notice pursuant to Section 2.04(c)(i) make funds available (and the Revolving
Agent may apply Cash Collateral provided for this purpose) for the account of the applicable
Issuing Bank, in Canadian Dollars, at the Revolving Agent’s Office in an amount equal to its Pro
Rata Share of the relevant Reimbursement Obligation not later than 3:00 p.m. on the Business Day
specified in such notice by the Revolving Agent, whereupon, subject to the provisions of
Section 2.04(c)(iii), each Revolving Lender that so makes funds available shall be deemed to have
made a Revolving Loan that is in the case of a Letters of Credit denominated in Canadian Dollars,
a Base Rate Loan or Canadian Prime Rate Loan to the Borrower in such amount. The Revolving
Agent shall remit the funds so received to the applicable Issuing Bank in accordance with the
instructions provided to the Revolving Agent by such Issuing Bank (which instructions may include
standing payment instructions, which may be updated from time to time by such Issuing Bank,
provided that, unless the Revolving Agent shall otherwise agree, any such update shall not take
effect until the Business Day immediately following the date on which such update is provided to
the Revolving Agent).

(iii) With respect to any Reimbursement Obligation that is not fully refinanced by a
Borrowing of Revolving Loans because the conditions set forth in Section 4.03 cannot be satisfied
or for any other reason, the Borrower shall be deemed to have incurred from the applicable Issuing
Bank a Letter of Credit Borrowing in the amount of the Reimbursement Obligation that is not so
refinanced. In such event, each Revolving Lender’s payment to the Revolving Agent for the
account of such Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.04(c)(i) shall be deemed payment in respect of
its participation in such Letter of Credit Borrowing and shall constitute a Letter of Credit Advance
from such Lender in satisfaction of its participation obligation under this Section.
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(iv) Until each Revolving Lender funds its Revolving Loan or Letter of Credit Advance
to reimburse the applicable Issuing Bank for any amount drawn under any Letter of Credit, interest
in respect of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such amount shall be solely for the account of such
Issuing Bank.

(V) Each Revolving Lender’s obligations to make Revolving Loans or Letter of Credit
Advances to reimburse an Issuing Bank for amounts drawn under Letters of Credit, as contemplated
by this Section 2.04(c), shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any
circumstance, including (A) any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which
such Lender may have against such Issuing Bank, the Borrower or any other Person for any reason
whatsoever; (B) the occurrence or continuance of a Default; or (C) any other occurrence, event or
condition, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing; provided that each Revolving Lender’s
obligation to make Revolving Loans pursuant to this paragraph (c) is subject to the conditions set
forth in Section 4.03. No such funding of a participation in any Letter of Credit shall relieve or
otherwise impair the obligation of the Borrower to reimburse an Issuing Bank for the amount of
any payment made by such Issuing Bank under such Letter of Credit, together with interest as
provided herein.

(vi) If any Revolving Lender fails to make available to the Revolving Agent for the
account of the applicable Issuing Bank any amount required to be paid by such Lender pursuant to
the foregoing provisions of this paragraph (c) by the time specified in Section 2.04(c)(ii), then,
without limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, such Issuing Bank shall be entitled to
recover from such Lender (acting through the Revolving Agent), on demand, such amount with
interest thereon for the period from the date such payment is required to the date on which such
payment is immediately available to such Issuing Bank at a rate per annum equal to the greater of
the Federal Funds Rate from time to time in effect and a rate determined by such Issuing Bank in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation, plus any reasonable
administrative, processing or similar fees customarily charged by such Issuing Bank in connection
with the foregoing. If such Lender pays such amount (with interest and fees as aforesaid), the
amount so paid shall constitute such Lender’s Revolving Loan included in the relevant Borrowing
or Letter of Credit Advance in respect of the relevant Letter of Credit Borrowing, as the case may
be. A certificate of the applicable Issuing Bank submitted to any Revolving Lender (through the
Revolving Agent) with respect to any amounts owing under this clause (vi) shall be conclusive
absent manifest error.

(d) Repayment of Participations.

(i) If, at any time after the applicable Issuing Bank has made payment in respect of
any drawing under any Letter of Credit issued by it and has received from any Revolving Lender
its Letter of Credit Advance in respect of such payment in accordance with Section 2.04(c), if the
Revolving Agent receives for the account of such Issuing Bank any payment in respect of the
related Reimbursement Obligation, the Revolving Agent will distribute to such Lender its Pro Rata
Share thereof (appropriately adjusted, in the case of interest payments, to reflect the period of time
during which such Lender’s Letter of Credit Advance was outstanding) in like funds as received
by the Revolving Agent.

(i) If any payment received by the Revolving Agent for the account of the applicable
Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.04(c)(i) is required to be returned under any of the

circumstances described in Section 11.06 (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by such
Issuing Bank in its discretion), each Revolving Lender shall pay to the Revolving Agent for the
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account of such Issuing Bank its Pro Rata Share thereof on demand of the Revolving Agent, plus
interest thereon from the date of such demand to the date such amount is returned by such Lender
at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate from time to time in effect. The obligations of
the Revolving Lenders under this clause (ii) shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations
and the termination of this Agreement.

(e) Obligations Absolute. The obligation of the Borrower to reimburse the Issuing Banks for
each drawing under each Letter of Credit and to repay each Letter of Credit Borrowing shall be absolute,
unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement
under all circumstances, including the following:

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of such Letter of Credit or any term or
provision thereof, any Loan Document, or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto;

(i) the existence of any claim, counterclaim, setoff, defense or other right that the
Borrower may have at any time against any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of Credit
(or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the Issuing
Banks or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the transactions
contemplated hereby or by such Letter of Credit or any agreement or instrument relating thereto,
or any unrelated transaction;

(iii) any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under such Letter of
Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement
therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; or any loss or delay in the transmission or
otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing under such Letter of Credit;

(iv) any payment by an Issuing Bank under such Letter of Credit against presentation
of documents that do not comply strictly with the terms of such Letter of Credit; or any payment
made by an Issuing Bank under such Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in
bankruptcy, debtor in possession, assignee for the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other
representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of Credit, including
arising in connection with any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law;

(V) any exchange, release or non-perfection of any collateral, or any release or
amendment or waiver of or consent to departure from any guarantee, for all or any of the
Obligations of the Borrower in respect of such Letter of Credit; or

(vi) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of
the foregoing, including any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a defense available
to, or a discharge of, the Borrower.

The Borrower shall promptly examine a copy of each Letter of Credit and each amendment thereto that is
delivered to it and, in the event of any claim of noncompliance with the Borrower’s instructions or other
irregularity, the Borrower will promptly notify the applicable Issuing Bank. The Borrower shall be
conclusively deemed to have waived any such claim against any Issuing Bank and its correspondents unless
such notice is given as aforesaid.

(f Role of Issuing Banks. Each Revolving Lender and the Borrower agrees that, in paying
any drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Banks shall not have any responsibility to obtain any
document (other than any sight draft, certificates and documents expressly required by such Letter of
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Credit) or to ascertain or inquire as to the validity or accuracy of any document or the authority of the
Person executing or delivering any document. None of any Issuing Bank, any Agent Affiliate nor any of
the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of any Issuing Bank shall be liable to any Revolving
Lender for (i) any action taken or omitted in connection herewith at the request or with the approval of the
requisite Revolving Lenders; (ii) any action taken or omitted in the absence of gross negligence or willful
misconduct; or (iii) the due execution, effectiveness, validity or enforceability of any document or
instrument related to any Letter of Credit or Letter of Credit Application. The Borrower hereby assumes
all risks of the acts of omissions of any beneficiary or transferee with respect to its use of any Letter of
Credit; provided that this assumption is not intended to, and shall not, preclude the Borrower from pursuing
such rights and remedies as it may have against the beneficiary or transferee at law or under any other
agreement. None of the Issuing Banks, any Agent Affiliate nor any of the respective correspondents,
participants or assignees of the Issuing Banks shall be liable or responsible for any of the matters described
in Section 2.04(e); provided that, notwithstanding anything in such clauses to the contrary, the Borrower
may have a claim against an Issuing Bank, and an Issuing Bank may be liable to the Borrower, to the extent,
but only to the extent, of any direct (as opposed to indirect, special, punitive, consequential or exemplary)
damages suffered by the Borrower which a court of competent jurisdiction determines in a final non-
appealable judgment were caused by such Issuing Bank’s gross negligence or willful misconduct or such
Issuing Bank’s willful or grossly negligent failure to pay under any Letter of Credit after the presentation
to it by the beneficiary of a document(s) strictly complying with the terms and conditions of a Letter of
Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the applicable Issuing Bank may accept
documents that appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless
of any notice or information to the contrary, and the Issuing Banks shall not be responsible for the validity
or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer or assign a Letter of
Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be
invalid or ineffective for any reason. The Issuing Banks may send a Letter of Credit or conduct any
communication to or from the beneficiary via the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial
Telecommunication (SWIFT) message or overnight courier, or any other commercially reasonable means
of communication with a beneficiary.

(9) Applicability of ISP. Unless otherwise expressly agreed by the applicable Issuing Bank
and the Borrower when a standby Letter of Credit is issued, the rules of the “International Standby Practices
1998” published by the Institute of International Banking Law & Practice (or such later version thereof as
may be in effect at the time of issuance) shall apply to such standby Letter of Credit.

(h) Conflict with Letter of Credit Application. In the event of any conflict between the terms
of this Agreement and the terms of any Letter of Credit Application, the terms hereof shall control.

Q) Reporting. No later than the third Business Day following the last day of each month, (or
at such other intervals as the Revolving Agent and the applicable Issuing Bank shall agree), the applicable
Issuing Bank shall provide to the Revolving Agent a schedule of the Letters of Credit issued by it, in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Revolving Agent, showing the date of issuance of each Letter
of Credit, the account party, the original face amount (if any), the expiration date, and the reference number
of any Letter of Credit outstanding at any time during such month, and showing the aggregate amount (if
any) payable by the Borrower to such Issuing Bank during such month.

() Resignation and Removal of an Issuing Bank. Any Issuing Bank may resign as an Issuing
Bank upon sixty days’ prior written notice to the Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent, the
Lenders and the Borrower. Any Issuing Bank may be replaced at any time by written agreement among
the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Revolving Agent, the Issuing Bank being replaced (provided
that no consent will be required if the Issuing Bank being replaced has no Letters of Credit or
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Reimbursement Obligations with respect thereto outstanding) and the successor Issuing Bank. The
Revolving Agent shall notify the Lenders of any such replacement of an Issuing Bank. At the time any
such replacement or resignation shall become effective, the Borrower shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for
the account of the replaced Issuing Bank. From and after the effective date of any such replacement or
resignation, (i) any successor Issuing Bank shall have all the rights and obligations of an Issuing Bank under
this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit to be issued thereafter and (ii) references herein to the term
“Issuing Bank” shall be deemed to refer to such successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such
successor and all previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the replacement or resignation
of an Issuing Bank hereunder, the replaced or resigning Issuing Bank shall remain a party hereto to the
extent that Letters of Credit issued by it remain outstanding and shall continue to have all the rights and
obligations of an Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issued by it prior to
such replacement or resignation, but shall not be required to issue additional Letters of Credit.

(k) Cash Collateral Account. At any time and from time to time (i) after the occurrence and
during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent, at the direction or with the consent
of the Required Lenders, may require the Borrower, to deliver to the Revolving Agent such amount of cash
as is equal to 103% of the aggregate stated amount of all Letters of Credit at any time outstanding (whether
or not any beneficiary under any Letter of Credit shall have drawn or be entitled at such time to draw
thereunder) and (ii) in the event of a prepayment under Section 2.05(b)(iv) or to the extent any amount of
a required prepayment under any of Sections 2.05(b)(i) through 2.05(b)(iii) remains after prepayment of all
outstanding Loans and Letter of Credit Obligations and termination of the Commitments, as contemplated
by Section 2.06, the Revolving Agent will retain such amount as may then be required to be retained, such
amounts in each case under clauses (i) and (ii) above to be held by the Revolving Agent in a Cash Collateral
Account. The Borrower hereby grants (or, if registration thereof is required in any applicable jurisdiction,
shall grant) to the Revolving Agent for the benefit of the Issuing Banks and the Revolving Lenders, a Lien
upon and security interest in the Cash Collateral Account and all amounts held therein from time to time as
security for Letter of Credit Usage, and for application to the Borrower’s Letter of Credit Obligations as
and when the same shall arise. The Revolving Agent shall have exclusive dominion and control, including
the exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account. Other than any interest on the investment of such
amounts in Cash Equivalents, which investments shall be made at the direction of the Borrower (unless an
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, in which case the determination as to investments
shall be made at the option and in the discretion of the Revolving Agent), amounts in the Cash Collateral
Account shall not bear interest. Interest and profits, if any, on such investments shall accumulate in such
account. In the event of a drawing, and subsequent payment by the applicable Issuing Bank, under any
Letter of Credit at any time during which any amounts are held in the Cash Collateral Account, the
Revolving Agent will deliver to such Issuing Bank an amount equal to the Reimbursement Obligation
created as a result of such payment (or, if the amounts so held are less than such Reimbursement Obligation,
all of such amounts) to reimburse such Issuing Bank therefor. Any amounts remaining in the Cash
Collateral Account after the expiration of all Letters of Credit and reimbursement in full of each Issuing
Bank for all of its obligations thereunder shall be held by the Revolving Agent, for the benefit of the
Borrower, to be applied against the Obligations in such order and manner as the Revolving Agent may
direct. If the Borrower is required to provide Cash Collateral pursuant to this Section 2.04(k), such amount
(to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to the Borrower on demand, provided that after
giving effect to such return (A) the sum of (1) the aggregate principal Canadian Dollar amount of all
Revolving Loans outstanding at such time and (2) the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage at such time would
not exceed the aggregate Revolving Commitments at such time and (B) no Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing at such time. If the Borrower is required to provide Cash Collateral pursuant
to Sections 2.17(a)(ii) through 2.17(a)(iii), such amount shall be returned to the Borrower on demand,;
provided that, after giving effect to such return, all outstanding Letters of Credit shall have expired and
each Issuing Bank shall have been reimbursed in full for all of its obligations thereunder. If the Borrower
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is required to provide Cash Collateral as a result of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not
applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to the Borrower within three Business Days after all Events of Default
have been cured or waived.

() Addition of an Issuing Bank. One or more Revolving Lenders (other than a Defaulting
Lender) selected by the Borrower that agrees to act in such capacity and reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and the Revolving Agent may become an additional Issuing Bank hereunder pursuant
to a written agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the
Revolving Agent among the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Revolving Agent and such Revolving
Lender. The Revolving Agent shall notify the Revolving Lenders of any such additional Issuing Bank.

Section 2.05  Prepayments.
@) Optional.

(1 The Borrower may, upon, subject to clause (ii) below, written notice to the
Administrative Agent and, with respect to any Revolving Loans, the Revolving Agent by the
Borrower, at any time or from time to time voluntarily prepay Term Loans of any Class and any
Revolving Loans in whole or in part without premium or penalty (subject to Section 2.05(c));
provided that (1) such notice must be received by the Administrative Agent not later than 1:00 p.m.
New York City time (A) three (3) Business Days prior to any date of prepayment of Eurocurrency
Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans and (B) on the date of any prepayment of Base Rate Loans or
Canadian Prime Rate Loans; (2) any prepayment of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans
shall be in a minimum Principal Amount of $500,000, or a whole multiple of $500,000 in excess
thereof (or such lesser amount(s) approved by the Administrative Agent and, solely with respect to
Revolving Loans, the Revolving Agent); (3) any prepayment of Base Rate Loans or Canadian
Prime Rate Loans shall be in a minimum Principal Amount of $500,000 or a whole multiple of
$100,000 in excess thereof (or such lesser amount(s) approved by the Administrative Agent and,
solely with respect to Revolving Loans, the Revolving Agent) or, in each case, if less, the entire
Principal Amount thereof then outstanding. Each such notice shall specify the date and amount of
such prepayment and the Class(es) and Type(s) of Loans to be prepaid. The Administrative Agent
will promptly notify each Appropriate Lender of its receipt of each such notice, and of the amount
of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share or other applicable share provided for under this Agreement of
such prepayment. If such notice is given by the Borrower, the Borrower shall make (or cause to be
made) such prepayment and the payment amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable
on the date specified therein. Any prepayment of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan
shall be accompanied by all accrued interest thereon to such date, together with any additional
amounts required pursuant to Section 2.05(c) or Section 3.05. In the case of each prepayment of
the Loans pursuant to this Section 2.05, the Borrower may in its sole discretion select the
Borrowing or Borrowings (and the order of maturity of principal payments) to be repaid, and such
payment shall be paid to the Appropriate Lenders in accordance with their respective Pro Rata
Shares or other applicable share as provided for under this Agreement.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, subject to
the payment of any amounts owing pursuant to Section 3.05, the Borrower may rescind any notice
of prepayment under this Section 2.05(a) if such prepayment would have resulted from a
refinancing of all or a portion of the applicable Facility or other transaction, which refinancing or
other transaction shall not be consummated or shall otherwise be delayed. Each prepayment of any
Class of Term Loans pursuant to this Section 2.05 shall be applied as directed in writing by the
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Borrower and, absent such direction, shall be applied in direct order of maturity to repayments
thereof required pursuant to Section 2.07(a).

(b) Mandatory.

(i) Excess Cash Flow. Subject to clauses (b)(ix) and (b)(x) below, within five (5)
Business Days after financial statements have been delivered or are required to be delivered
pursuant to Section 6.01(a) (commencing with the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
November 30, 2022) and the related Compliance Certificate has been delivered or is required to be
delivered pursuant to Section 6.02(a), the Borrower shall cause to be offered to be prepaid an
aggregate principal amount of Term Loans in an amount equal to, if positive:

(A) the Applicable ECF Percentage of Excess Cash Flow, if any, for the fiscal
year covered by such financial statements, minus

(B) at the option of the Borrower, the sum of:

(1) all voluntary prepayments of Term Loans (including (x) those
made through debt buybacks and in the case of below-par repurchases in an amount
equal to the discounted amount actually paid in cash in respect of such below-par
repurchase and (y) payments pursuant to Section 3.07 or other applicable “yank-
a-bank” provisions (solely to the extent any such Term Loans are retired));

(i) all voluntary payments and prepayments of Revolving Loans and
any other revolving loans that are Pari Passu Lien Debt, in each case to the extent
accompanied by a corresponding permanent reduction in commitments;

(iii))  the amount of Capital Expenditures or acquisitions of Intellectual
Property made in cash; and

(iv) Permitted Investments made in cash pursuant to Section 7.02 (e),
(i) (only to the extent relying on clause (a) of the definition of Available Amount),

(@), (k). (1), (p) and (y);

in each case, (1) during such fiscal year or following the end of such fiscal year and prior to the date
such payment is due, (1) to the extent such prepayments are not funded with the proceeds of Funded
Debt, equity contributions or equity issuances and without duplication of any deduction from
Excess Cash Flow in any prior period and (111) including, for the avoidance of doubt, assignments
of such Indebtedness to the Borrower or a Restricted Subsidiary (and prepayments of such
Indebtedness below par) to the extent of the amount paid in connection with such assignment (or
prepayment); provided that no such payment will be required if such amount is equal to or less than
the greater of (a) $1,000,000 and (b) 2.5% multiplied by TTM Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as
of the applicable date of determination.

(i) Asset Sales / Casualty Events. If any Loan Party (a) Disposes of any property or
assets pursuant to the Sections 7.05(e), (f) or (g) or (b) any Casualty Event occurs with respect to
property or assets constituting Collateral of a Loan Party, in each case which results in receipt by
the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary of Net Proceeds in excess of $1,000,000 in any fiscal
year, then the Borrower shall cause to be offered to be prepaid, on or prior to the date which is ten
(10) Business Days after the date of the realization or receipt by the Borrower or any other Loan
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Party of such Net Proceeds, subject to clauses (b)(ix), (b)(x) and (b)(xi) below, an aggregate
principal amount of Term Loans in an amount equal to the Asset Sale Prepayment Percentage of
all such Net Proceeds (it being understood and agreed that any Net Proceeds not in excess of such
amounts may be retained).

(iii) Non-Permitted Indebtedness. If the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary incurs
or issues any Funded Debt after the Closing Date (A) that is not permitted to be incurred or issued
under Section 7.03 or (B) that constitutes Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness, the
Borrower shall cause to be offered to be prepaid an aggregate principal amount of Term Loans in
an amount equal to 100% of all Net Proceeds received therefrom, together with the applicable
Prepayment Premium (if any), promptly, and in any event on or prior to the date which is two (2)
Business Days after the receipt by the Borrower or such Restricted Subsidiary of such Net Proceeds
(in the case of subclause (A)) and substantially concurrently with the issuance of such Credit
Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness (in the case of subclause (B)).

(iv) Revolving Facility. If for any reason the aggregate Revolving Exposures at any
time exceeds the aggregate Revolving Commitments then in effect (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, as a result of the termination of any Class of Revolving Commitments on the Maturity Date
with respect thereto), the Borrower shall promptly prepay or cause to be promptly prepaid
Revolving Loans in an aggregate amount equal to such excess; provided that, to the extent such
excess amount is greater than the aggregate principal Canadian Dollar amount of Revolving Loans
outstanding immediately prior to the application of such prepayment, the amount so prepaid shall
be retained by the Revolving Agent and held in the Cash Collateral Account as cover for Letter of
Credit Usage, as more particularly described in Section 2.04(k), and thereupon such cash shall be
deemed to reduce the aggregate Letter of Credit Usage by an equivalent amount.

(V) Application of Proceeds. Mandatory prepayments pursuant to this Section 2.05(b)
shall be applied at the written direction of the Borrower or, absent such direction, in direct order of
maturity of the remaining installments thereof; provided that (A) each prepayment of Term Loans
pursuant to this Section 2.05(b) shall be applied to each Class of Term Loans then outstanding other
than (i) in the case of Section 2.05(b)(iii), the Net Proceeds of Credit Agreement Refinancing
Indebtedness shall be applied solely to each applicable Class of Refinanced Debt, and (ii) any Class
of Incremental Term Loans to the extent such Class expressly specifies that one or more other
Classes of Term Loans may be prepaid prior to such Class of Incremental Term Loans) and (B)
each such prepayment shall be paid to the Lenders in accordance with their respective Pro Rata
Shares of such prepayment, subject to Section 2.05(b)(viii).

(vi) Prepayment Notice. The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent in
writing of any mandatory prepayment of Term Loans required to be made pursuant to clauses (i)
through (ii) of this Section 2.05(b) at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date of such
prepayment (or such shorter period as the Administrative Agent may agree). Each such notice shall
specify the date of such prepayment and provide a reasonably detailed calculation of the amount of
such prepayment. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify each Appropriate Lender of the
contents of the Borrower’s prepayment notice and of such Appropriate Lender’s Pro Rata Share of
the prepayment.

(vii) Funding Losses, Etc. All prepayments under this Section 2.05 shall be made
together with, in the case of any such prepayment of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate

Loan on a date other than the last day of an Interest Period therefor, any amounts owing in respect
of such Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR Rate Loan pursuant to Section 3.05. Notwithstanding
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any of the other provisions of this Section 2.05(b), so long as no Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, if any prepayment of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans
is required to be made under this Section 2.05(b), prior to the last day of the Interest Period therefor,
the Borrower may, in its sole discretion, deposit the amount of any such prepayment otherwise
required to be made thereunder into a Cash Collateral Account which shall be uninvested until the
last day of such Interest Period, at which time the Administrative Agent shall be authorized (without
any further action by or notice to or from the Borrower or any other Loan Party) to apply such
amount to the prepayment of such Loans in accordance with this Section 2.05(b). Upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Administrative Agent shall also
be authorized (without any further action by or notice to or from the Borrower or any other Loan
Party) to apply such amount to the prepayment of the outstanding Loans in accordance with this
Section 2.05(b).

(viii) Term Opt-out of Prepayment. With respect to each prepayment of Term Loans
required pursuant to this Section 2.05(b) (other than any prepayment of Term Loans pursuant to
clause (iii) hereof), (A) each Lender of Term Loans will have the right to refuse its Pro Rata Share
of such offer of prepayment by giving written notice of such refusal to the Administrative Agent
within one (1) Business Day after such Lender’s receipt of notice from the Administrative Agent
of such offer of prepayment (and the Borrower shall not prepay any Term Loans of such Lender),
(B) the Borrower will make all such prepayments not so refused upon the fourth Business Day after
delivery of notice by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(vi) and (C) subject to any
requirements set forth in any Other Applicable Indebtedness, any prepayment refused by Lenders
of Term Loans (such refused amounts, the “Declined Amounts™) may be retained by the Borrower
and shall be added to the Available Amount.

(ix) Other Applicable Indebtedness. If at the time that any prepayment pursuant to
Section 2.05(b)(i) or 2.05(b)(ii) would be required, the Borrower is required to repay, repurchase
or offer to repay or repurchase any Pari Passu Lien Debt pursuant to the terms of the documentation
governing such Indebtedness with all or a portion of “excess cash flow” or the “net proceeds” of
any such Disposition or Casualty Event (any such Indebtedness, “Other Applicable
Indebtedness”), then the Borrower may apply Excess Cash Flow or Net Proceeds (as applicable),
in each case, on a pro rata basis (or less than pro rata basis if permitted by the documentation
governing such Other Applicable Indebtedness) to the prepayment of the Term Loans and the
repayment, prepayment or repurchase of any Other Applicable Indebtedness (determined on the
basis of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Term Loans and Other Applicable
Indebtedness at such time), and the amount of prepayment of the Term Loans that would otherwise
have been required pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(i) or 2.05(b)(ii), as applicable, will be reduced
accordingly; provided that (A) the portion of such Excess Cash Flow or Net Proceeds, as applicable,
allocated to the Other Applicable Indebtedness shall not exceed the amount of Excess Cash Flow
or such Net Proceeds, as applicable, required to be allocated to the Other Applicable Indebtedness
pursuant to the terms thereof, and the remaining amount, if any, of Excess Cash Flow or such Net
Proceeds, as applicable, shall be allocated to the Term Loans in accordance with the terms hereof,
and (B) to the extent the holders of Other Applicable Indebtedness decline to have such
indebtedness repurchased or prepaid, the declined amount shall promptly (and in any event within
ten (10) Business Days after the date of such rejection) be applied to prepay the Term Loans in
accordance with the terms hereof.

x) Non-U.S. and Non-Canadian Considerations.  Notwithstanding any other
provisions of this Section 2.05, (A) to the extent that any of or all the Net Proceeds of any
Disposition by a Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary (“Non-
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U.S. Disposition”) or Excess Cash Flow attributable to Subsidiaries that are a Non-U.S. Subsidiary
and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary are prohibited or delayed by applicable local law from being
repatriated to the United States or Canada, as applicable, the portion of such Net Proceeds or Excess
Cash Flow so affected will not be required to be applied to repay Term Loans at the times provided
in this Section 2.05 but may be retained by the applicable Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary
and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary so long, but only so long, as the applicable local law will not permit
repatriation to the United States or Canada (the Borrower hereby agreeing to cause the applicable
Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary to use its commercially
reasonable efforts to take all actions reasonably required by the applicable local law to permit such
repatriation), and once such repatriation of any of such affected Net Proceeds or Excess Cash Flow
that, in each case, would otherwise be required to be used to make an offer of prepayment pursuant
to Sections 2.05(b)(i) or 2.05(b)(ii), is permitted under the applicable local law, such repatriation
will be immediately effected and such repatriated Net Proceeds or Excess Cash Flow will be
promptly (and in any event not later than two Business Days after such repatriation) applied (net
of additional taxes payable or reserved against as a result thereof) to the repayment of the Term
Loans pursuant to this Section 2.05 and (B) to the extent that the Borrower has determined in good
faith that repatriation of any of or all the Net Proceeds of any Non-U.S. Disposition or Excess Cash
Flow of any Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary would
reasonably be expected to have material adverse tax consequences with respect to such Net
Proceeds or Excess Cash Flow, such Net Proceeds or Excess Cash Flow may be retained by the
applicable Subsidiary that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary; provided that
to the extent that the repatriation of any Net Proceeds or Excess Cash Flow from such Subsidiary
that is a Non-U.S. Subsidiary and a Non-Canadian Subsidiary would no longer reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse tax consequence, an amount equal to the Net Proceeds or
Excess Cash Flow, as applicable, not previously applied pursuant to this subclause (B), shall be
promptly applied to the repayment of the Term Loans pursuant to this Section 2.05(b), as otherwise
required above (without regard to this subclause (B)).

(xi) Reinvestment Rights. With respect to any Net Proceeds realized or received with
respect to any Disposition or any Casualty Event that, in either case, is subject to the application of
the foregoing provisions of Section 2.05(b)(ii), at the option of the Borrower, the Borrower may
(in lieu of making a prepayment pursuant to the foregoing provisions) elect to reinvest (directly, or
through one or more of its Restricted Subsidiaries) an amount equal to all or any portion of such
Net Proceeds in assets used or useful for the business of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries
(1) within 12 months following receipt of such Net Proceeds or (2) if the Borrower or any of its
Restricted Subsidiaries enters into a legally binding commitment to reinvest such Net Proceeds
within 12 months following receipt of such Net Proceeds, no later than one hundred and eighty
(180) days after the end of such 12 month period; provided that if any portion of such amount is
not reinvested at such time, subject to clauses (b)(ix) and (b)(x) above, the Asset Sale Prepayment
Percentage of any such Net Proceeds shall be applied within five Business Days thereof as provided
above.

(c) Call Protection. If (i) the Borrower makes any voluntary prepayment of the Initial Term
Loans pursuant to Section 2.05(a) or (ii) the Borrower makes any mandatory prepayment of the Initial Term
Loans pursuant to Section 2.05(b)(iii) including, for the avoidance of doubt, in connection with an
amendment constituting Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness or Replacement Loans (the events in
subclauses (i) and (ii), each, a “Prepayment Event”), then the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative
Agent, for the ratable account of each Lender with Initial Term Loans that are so prepaid or refinanced, a
premium (the “Prepayment Premium”) equal to (X) if such Prepayment Event is consummated on a date
that is on or after the Closing Date and prior to the first anniversary of the Closing Date, 2.00% of the
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aggregate principal amount of the Initial Term Loans being prepaid or refinanced, and (y) if such
prepayment is consummated on any date that is on or after the first anniversary of the Closing Date and
prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date, 1.00% of the aggregate principal amount of the Initial
Term Loans being prepaid or refinanced; provided that, solely in the event of a Prepayment Event that
occurs in connection with a transaction with an unaffiliated third party that constitutes a Change of Control,
then the percentages specified in subclauses (x) and (y) of this sentence shall in be reduced to 0.50%.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Prepayment Event is consummated on a date that is on or after the
second anniversary of the Closing Date, then the Prepayment Premium shall be deemed to be zero and no
such Prepayment Premium shall be payable. Any such Prepayment Premium shall be earned, due and
payable upon the date of, and subject to the occurrence of, the applicable Prepayment Event.

Section 2.06  Termination or Reduction of Commitments.

@) Optional.

(1) The Borrower may, upon written notice to the Administrative Agent and, solely
with respect to Revolving Commitments, the Revolving Agent, terminate the unused Commitments
of any Class, or from time to time permanently reduce the unused Commitments of any Class, in
each case without premium or penalty; provided that (A) any such notice shall be received by the
Administrative Agent not later than 12:00 p.m. New York City time on the date such of termination
or reduction and (B) any such partial reduction shall be in a minimum aggregate amount of
$500,000 (or C$500,000), or any whole multiple of $500,000 (or C$500,000), in excess thereof or,
if less, the entire amount thereof (or such lesser amount(s) approved by the Administrative Agent
and, solely with respect to Revolving Loans, the Revolving Agent). Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Borrower may rescind or postpone any notice of termination of the Commitments if such
termination would have resulted from a refinancing of all of the applicable Facility or any other
transaction, which refinancing or other transaction shall not be consummated or otherwise shall be
delayed.

(i) The Borrower shall not terminate or reduce (A) the Revolving Commitments if,
after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of the Revolving Loans in accordance with
Section 2.05, the Total Utilization of Revolving Commitments would exceed the total Revolving
Commitments or (B) the Letter of Credit Sublimit if, after giving effect thereto, (1) the Letter of
Credit Usage not fully Cash Collateralized hereunder at 103% of the maximum face amount of any
such Letters of Credit would exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit or (2) the Letter of Credit Usage
with respect to Letters of Credit issued by an applicable Issuing Bank not fully Cash Collateralized
hereunder at 103% of the maximum face amount of any such Letters of Credit would exceed the
amount of such Issuing Bank’s Letter of Credit Percentage of the Letter of Credit Sublimit.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may rescind or postpone any notice of termination of
the Commitments if such termination would have resulted from a refinancing of all or a portion of
the applicable Facility, which refinancing shall not be consummated or otherwise shall be delayed.

(b) Mandatory.

(i) The Initial Term Commitment of each Lender shall be automatically and
permanently reduced to $0 upon the funding of Initial Term Loans to be made by it on the Closing
Date.

(i) The Revolving Commitment of each Class shall automatically and permanently
terminate on the Maturity Date with respect to such Class of Revolving Commitments.
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(iii) [reserved].

(iv) If after giving effect to any reduction or termination of Revolving Commitments
under this Section 2.06, the Letter of Credit Sublimit exceeds the amount of the Revolving
Commitments at such time, the Letter of Credit Sublimit shall be automatically reduced by the
amount of such excess.

(c) Application of Commitment Reductions; Payment of Fees. The Administrative Agent will
promptly notify the Appropriate Lenders of any termination or reduction of unused portions of the unused
Commitments of any Class under this Section 2.06. Upon any reduction of unused Commitments of any
Class, the Commitment of each Lender of such Class shall be reduced by such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of
the amount by which such Commitments are reduced (other than the termination of the Commitment of any
Lender as provided in Section 3.07). All commitment fees accrued until the effective date of any
termination of the Aggregate Commitments shall be paid on the effective date of such termination.

Section 2.07  Repayment of Loans.

@) Term Loans. The Borrower shall repay to the Administrative Agent for the ratable account
of the Term Lenders:

(1 (x) on the last Business Day of each February, May, August and November,
commencing with the first full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date, an aggregate principal amount
equal to 0.25% of the aggregate principal amount of all Initial Term Loans outstanding on the
Closing Date (which payments shall be reduced as a result of the application of prepayments in
accordance with the order of priority set forth in Section 2.05), and (y) on the Maturity Date for the
Initial Term Loans, the aggregate principal amount of all Initial Term Loans outstanding on such
date;

(i) [reserved]; and

(iii) in the event any Incremental Term Loans, Refinancing Term Loans or Extended
Term Loans are made, in the amounts and on the dates set forth in the Incremental Amendment,
Refinancing Amendment or Extension Amendment with respect thereto and on the applicable
Maturity Date thereof.

(b) Revolving Loans. The Borrower shall repay to the Revolving Agent for the ratable account
of the Appropriate Lenders on the applicable Maturity Date for the Revolving Facilities of a given Class
the aggregate principal amount of all of its Revolving Loans of such Class outstanding on such date.

Section 2.08  Interest.

@) Subject to the provisions of Section 2.08(b), (i) each Eurocurrency Rate Loan or CDOR
Rate Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof for each Interest Period at a rate
per annum equal to the Eurocurrency Rate or CDOR Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period plus the
Applicable Rate; and (ii) each Base Rate Loan or Canadian Prime Rate Loan shall bear interest on the
outstanding principal amount thereof from the applicable borrowing date at a rate per annum equal to the
Base Rate or the Canadian Prime Rate, as applicable, plus the Applicable Rate.

(b) During the continuance of a Default under Section 8.01(a) (solely with respect to payments
of principal, interest, fees or other amount due under this Agreement), Section 8.01(f) or Section (q) (solely
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following which any principal, interest, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement), the
Borrower shall pay interest on past due amounts owing by it hereunder at a fluctuating interest rate per
annum at all times equal to the Default Rate to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Laws; provided
that no interest at the Default Rate shall accrue or be payable to a Defaulting Lender so long as such Lender
shall be a Defaulting Lender. Accrued and unpaid interest on such amounts (including interest on past due
interest) shall be due and payable upon demand.

(c) Interest on each Loan shall be due and payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date
applicable thereto and at such other times as may be specified herein. Interest hereunder shall be due and
payable in accordance with the terms hereof before and after judgment, and before and after the
commencement of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law (to the greatest extent permitted by Law).

(d) For the purposes of the Interest Act (Canada), (i) whenever a rate of interest or fee rate
hereunder is calculated on the basis of a year (the “deemed year”) that contains fewer days than the actual
number of days in the calendar year of calculation, such rate of interest or fee rate shall be expressed as a
yearly rate by multiplying such rate of interest or fee rate by the actual number of days in the calendar year
of calculation and dividing it by the number of days in the deemed year, (ii) the principle of deemed
reinvestment of interest shall not apply to any interest calculation hereunder and (iii) the rates of interest
stipulated herein are intended to be nominal rates and not effective rates or yields.

Section 2.09  Fees.

(@) Revolving Facility Commitment Fee. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Revolving Agent
for the account of each Revolving Lender under the Revolving Facility in accordance with its Pro Rata
Share provided for under this Agreement, a commitment fee in Canadian Dollars equal to (i) a per annum
rate of 0.50% multiplied by (ii) the average daily amount by which the aggregate Revolving Commitment
exceeds the sum of the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Revolving Loans plus the Letter of
Credit Usage; provided that no commitment fee shall accrue on any of the Commitments of a Defaulting
Lender so long as such Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender and any commitment fee accrued with respect
to any of the Commitments of a Defaulting Lender during the period prior to the time such Lender became
a Defaulting Lender and unpaid at such time shall not be payable by the Borrower so long as such Lender
shall be a Defaulting Lender. The commitment fee on the Revolving Facility shall accrue at all times from
the Closing Date until the Maturity Date for the Revolving Commitments, including at any time during
which one or more of the conditions in Article IV is not met, and shall be due and payable quarterly in
arrears on the last Business Day of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the last Business Day of the first
full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date, and on the Maturity Date for the Revolving Commitments.

(b) Other Fees. The Borrower shall pay to the Arranger, the Administrative Agent or the
Revolving Agent, for distribution to the applicable Lenders, as applicable, such other fees as shall have
been separately agreed upon in the Fee Letter by the parties thereto. Such fees shall be fully earned when
paid and shall not be refundable for any reason whatsoever (except as expressly set forth in such Fee Letter).

(c) [Reserved].

(d) L/C Fee. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Revolving Agent for the account of each
Revolving Lender under the Revolving Facility in accordance with its Pro Rata Share provided for under
this Agreement, letter of credit fees with respect to all Letters of Credit (the “L/C Fee”) equal to (A) the
Applicable Rate for Revolving Loans that are Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR Rate Loans, times (B)
the average aggregate daily maximum amount available to be drawn under all Letters of Credit (regardless
of whether any conditions for drawing could then be met and determined as of the close of business on any
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date of determination and whether or not such maximum amount is then in effect under such Letter of Credit
if such maximum amount increases periodically pursuant to the terms of such Letter of Credit).

(e) Issuing Banks. The Borrower agrees to pay directly to the applicable Issuing Bank, for its
own account, the following fees:

(i) a fronting fee to be agreed by the Borrower and the applicable Issuing Bank times
the daily maximum amount then available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit (whether or not
such maximum amount is then in effect under such Letter of Credit if such maximum amount
increases periodically pursuant to the terms of such Letter of Credit) determined as of the close of
business on any date of determination; and

(i) such documentary and processing charges for any issuance, amendment, transfer
or payment of a Letter of Credit as are in accordance with such Issuing Bank’s standard schedule
for such charges and as in effect at the time of such issuance, amendment, transfer or payment, as
the case may be, which fees, costs and charges shall be payable to such Issuing Bank within three
Business Days after its demand therefor and are nonrefundable.

Section 2.10  Computation of Interest and Fees. All computations of interest for Base Rate
Loans when the Base Rate is determined by the Prime Rate and for Canadian Prime Rate Loans when the
Canadian Prime Rate is determined by the PRIMCAN Index and shall be made on the basis of a year of
three hundred and sixty-five (365) days, or three hundred and sixty-six (366) days, as applicable, and actual
days elapsed. All other computations of fees and interest shall be made on the basis of a three hundred and
sixty (360) day year and actual days elapsed. Interest shall accrue on each Loan for the day on which the
Loan is made, and shall not accrue on a Loan, or any portion thereof, for the day on which the Loan or such
portion is paid; provided that any Loan that is repaid on the same day on which it is made shall, subject to
Section 2.12(a), bear interest for one (1) day. Each determination by the Administrative Agent of an interest
rate or fee hereunder shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error.

Section 2.11  Evidence of Indebtedness.

@) The Borrowings extended by each Lender shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or
records maintained by such Lender and evidenced by one or more entries in the Register maintained by the
Administrative Agent, acting solely for purposes of Treasury regulation Section 5f.103-1(c), as agent for
the Borrower, in each case in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records maintained by the
Administrative Agent and each Lender shall be prima facie evidence absent manifest error of the amount
of the Borrowings extended by the Lenders to the Borrower and the interest and payments thereon. Any
failure to so record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of
the Borrower hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Obligations. In the event of any
conflict between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of the
Administrative Agent in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent shall
control in the absence of manifest error. Upon the request of any Lender made through the Administrative
Agent, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender (through the Administrative Agent) a Note
payable to such Lender, which shall evidence such Lender’s Loans in addition to such accounts or records.
Each Lender may attach schedules to its Note and endorse thereon the date, Type (if applicable), amount,
currency and maturity of its Loans and payments with respect thereto.

(b) Entries made in good faith by the Administrative Agent in the Register pursuant to

Section 2.11(a), and by each Lender in its account or accounts pursuant to Section 2.11(a), shall be prima
facie evidence of the amount of principal and interest due and payable or to become due and payable from
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the Borrower to, in the case of the Register, each Lender and, in the case of such account or accounts, such
Lender, under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, absent manifest error; provided that the
failure of the Administrative Agent or such Lender to make an entry, or any finding that an entry is incorrect,
in the Register or such account or accounts shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Borrower
under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

Section 2.12  Payments Generally.

@) All payments to be made by the Borrower shall be made without condition or deduction
for any counterclaim, defense, recoupment or setoff. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all
payments by the Borrower hereunder shall be made (i) to the Administrative Agent with respect to any
Term Loans and (ii) to the Revolving Agent with respect to any Revolving Loans, in each case for the
account of the respective Lenders to which such payment is owed, at the applicable Administrative Agent’s
Office or Revolving Agent’s Office for Dollar-denominated or Canadian Dollar-denominated, as
applicable, payments and in Same Day Funds not later than 2:00 p.m. New York City time on the date
specified herein. The Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent will promptly distribute to each
Appropriate Lender its Pro Rata Share (or other applicable share as provided herein) of such payment in
like funds as received by wire transfer to such Lender’s applicable Lending Office. All payments received
by the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent after the time specified above shall in each case
be deemed received on the next succeeding Business Day and any applicable interest or fee shall continue
to accrue.

(b) Except as otherwise provided herein, if any payment to be made by the Borrower shall
come due on a day other than a Business Day, payment shall be made on the next following Business Day,
and such extension of time shall be reflected in computing interest or fees, as the case may be; provided
that if such extension would cause payment of interest on or principal of Eurocurrency Rate Loans or CDOR
Rate Loans to be made in the next succeeding calendar month, such payment shall be made on the
immediately preceding Business Day.

(c) Unless the Borrower or any Lender has notified the Administrative Agent and/or the
Revolving Agent (as applicable), prior to the date any payment is required to be made by it to the
Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) hereunder, that the Borrower or such
Lender, as the case may be, will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving
Agent (as applicable) may assume that the Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, has timely made
such payment and may (but shall not be so required to), in reliance thereon, make available a corresponding
amount to the Person entitled thereto. If and to the extent that such payment was not in fact made to the
Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) in Same Day Funds, then:

(i) if the Borrower failed to make such payment, each Lender shall forthwith on
demand repay to the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) the portion
of such assumed payment that was made available to such Lender in Same Day Funds, together
with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such amount was made
available by the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) to such Lender
to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) in Same Day Funds at the applicable Overnight Rate, plus any reasonable
administrative, processing or similar fees customarily charged by the Administrative Agent and/or
the Revolving Agent (as applicable) in connection with the foregoing; and

(i) if any Lender failed to make such payment, such Lender shall forthwith on demand
pay to the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) the amount thereof in
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Same Day Funds, together with interest thereon for the period from the date such amount was made
available by the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) to the Borrower
to the date such amount is recovered by the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) (the “Compensation Period”) at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight
Rate, plus any reasonable administrative, processing or similar fees customarily charged by the
Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) in connection with the foregoing.
When such Lender makes payment to the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) (together with all accrued interest thereon), then such payment amount (excluding the
amount of any interest which may have accrued and been paid in respect of such late payment)
shall constitute such Lender’s Loan included in the applicable Borrowing. If such Lender does not
pay such amount forthwith upon the Administrative Agent’s and/or the Revolving Agent’s (as
applicable) demand therefor, the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable)
may make a demand therefor upon the Borrower, and the Borrower shall pay such amount to the
Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable), together with interest thereon
for the Compensation Period at a rate per annum equal to the rate of interest applicable to the
applicable Borrowing. Nothing herein shall be deemed to relieve any Lender from its obligation
to fulfill its Commitment or to prejudice any rights which the Administrative Agent and/or the
Revolving Agent (as applicable) or the Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any
default by such Lender hereunder.

A notice of the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as applicable) to any Lender or the
Borrower with respect to any amount owing under this Section 2.12(c) shall be conclusive, absent manifest
error.

(d) If any Lender makes available to the Administrative Agent and/or the Revolving Agent (as
applicable) funds for any Loan to be made by such Lender as provided in the foregoing provisions of this
Article Il, and such funds are not made available to the Borrower by the Administrative Agent and/or the
Revolving Agent (as applicable) because the conditions to the applicable Borrowing set forth in Article IV
or in the applicable Incremental Amendment, Extension Amendment or Refinancin